ISSN 2149-7893 • EISSN 2536-507X



Official Journal of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association

CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

VOLUME 6 • ISSUE 2 • JUNE 2021



#stayhealthy



Renal Cell Carcinoma: A 10-Year Retrospective Study Shokouh Taghipour Zahir, Zahra Heidarymeybodi, Masood Herman

Bone Marrow Aspiration: The Indications and the Diagnostic Value Amin A. Alamin

Bloodstream Yeast Species and In Vitro Antifungal Susceptibility Profiles Laila F. Nimri, Nasser M. Kaplan, Rahmat I. Ishaq

The Suitability of Silk Fibroin Based Biofilms for Cartilage Tissue Engineering Chidi Wilson Nwekwo, Rasime Kalkan, Terin Adali

Disease and Treatment Experiences of COVID-19 Patients: A Qualitative Study

Ceyda Uzun Sahin, Merve Aydin, Abdullah Usta, Mustafa Sakin

Sternoclavicular Joint Distances and Degenerative Changes in Computed Tomography *Vefa Çakmak, Mert Özen*

Evaluation of Methods for Determining Working Length in Root Canal Treatment for Primary Molars: An In-Vivo Study Seçil Çalışkan, Ebru Delikan, Kenan Cantekin

Correlation of the Epworth Sleepiness Scale with Polysomnography Parameters in Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome Patients Seyda Akbal, Süleyman Emre Karakurt, Zekiye Orhan,

Mustafa Çolak, Mehmet Fatih Karakuş, Fakih Cihat Eravcı

Antimicrobial Effects of Gutta-Percha Points Containing Root Canal Medications against Some Anaerobic Bacterial Species and Enterococcus faecalis Fatma Kermeoğlu, Meltem Dartar Öztan, Mehmet Kıyan

Web of Science

Evaluation of the Apoptotic Effects of the Humic Acid Treatment on Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Cell Line K562 Pinar Mega Tiber, Tuğçe Balcı-Okcanoğlu, Melike Karadeniz, Asli Aykac

Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity in Pediatric General Duty and Intensive Care Unit Nurses Deniz Şanlı, Meryem Ünal Çimen, Nurseren İşler, Nuriye Turgut

Systemic Inflammatory Markers as a Prognostic Factor in Parotid Gland Tumors Orhan Tunç, Burhanettin Gönüldaş, Muzaffer Kanlıkama

Case Reports

An Uncommon Cause of Hypernatremia in Very Low Birth Weight Premature Infants: Idiopathic Central Diabetes Insipidus Selma Aktas, Ebru Kazancı, Serap Semiz, Ayse Korkmaz

A Rare Complication of Central Venous Catheter: Innominant Vein Perforation and Endovascular Treatment

Mehmet Korkmaz, Furkan Ertürk Urfali, Ali İhsan Parlar, Sermin Tok Umay, Sinan Erkul, Gülen Sezer Alptekin Erkul

Letter to the Editor

Overweight and Obesity among School Children Vitorino Modesto dos Santos, Laura Campos Modesto



cyprusjmedsci.com



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Editor

Sonuç Büyük Department of Pathology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0003-4498-5019

Associate Editors

Düriye Deren Oygar Department of Nephrology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Erol Dülger Department of Ophthalmology, Near East University Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hasan Mete İnançlı Private Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-7965-7835

Ozan Emiroğlu Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ömer Taşargöl Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0003-1408-5503 Serap Soytaç İnançlı Private Clinic of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases and Internal Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-1271-4591

Ahmet Özant Private Clinic of Orthodontics, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ali Özant Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Aysa Ayalı Department of Oral and Maxillary Surgery, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-8817-4202

Cenk Conkbayır Department of Cardiology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000 0002 6594 1915

Eşref Çelik

Department of Medical and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Gökçe Savtekin Department of Oral and Maxillary Surgery, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus

Gülten Sucu Dağ

Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University Faculty of Health Science, Famagusta, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0003-4887-2214

İzgen Karakaya

Department of Restorative Dentistry, Near East University, Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-4448-556X

Cemal Gürkan Director of the Turkish Cypriot DNA Laboratory, Famagusta, Cyprus



Publisher Ibrahim KARA Publication Director Ali ŞAHİN

Editorial Development Gizem KAYAN TEKAÜT

Finance and Administration Zeynep YAKIŞIRER ÜREN Deputy Publication Director Gökhan ÇİMEN Publication Coordinators Irem SOYSAL

Arzu YILDIRIM Deniz KAYA Bahar ALBAYRAK Gamze BİLGEN Irmak BERBEROĞLU Ebru BOZ

Project Coordinators Sinem KOZ Doğan ORUÇ Emre KARA Graphics Department Ünal ÖZER Deniz Elif DURAN

Contact

Address: Büyükdere Cad. 105/9 34394 Mecidiyeköy, Şişli, Istanbul, TURKEY Phone: +90 212 217 17 00 Fax: +90 212 217 22 92 E-mail: info@avesyayincilik.com Publication Type Local periodical Printed Date June 2021

Printed at Share Ajans, Şehit Fevait Ali Sok, Dük. No: 4 C, Sönmezler Apt, Göçmenköy, Nicosia, Cyprus



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Kalbim Arslan

Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Nail Bulakbaşı

Department of Radiology, University of Kyrenia School of Medicine, Dr.Suat Gunsel Hospital, Kyrenia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0001-7528-8107

Necdet Özçay

Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Özay Önöral

Department of Protetic Medical Therapy, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-5264-9376

Pınar Tunçbilek Özmanevra Department of Otorhinolaryngology - Head

and Neck Surgery, University of Kyrenia School of Medicine, Dr.Suat Gunsel Hospital, Kyrenia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0001-6968-3442

Ramadan Özmanevra

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, University of Kyrenia School of Medicine, Dr.Suat Gunsel Hospital, Kyrenia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0003-0515-4001

Remzi Gardiyanoğlu

Department of Childrens and Health Disease, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Umut Mousa

Department of Endocrinology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ORCID ID: 0000-0002-8078-9376 Zeynep Taşargöl Department of Gynocology and Obstetrics, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Nerin Bahçeciler

Pediatry-Children Health and Diseases, Department of Allergy and Immunology, Pediatry-Children Health and Diseases, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Özen Aşut Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Şanda Çalı Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

İlker Etikan

Department of Biostatistics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Burak Ka∨uklu General Surgery, LBNDH

Nedim Sezgin İlgi Department of Anatomy, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Emil Mammadov Pediatric Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Uğurcan Balyemez Department of Radiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Doğan Ceyhan Department of Ophthalmology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Kaan Erler Department of Orthopaedics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Sinem Şığıt İkiz Department of Radiology, LBNDH

Barış Peker Department of Orthopaedics, LBNDH

Hülya Efetürk Department of Nuclear Medicine, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ali Cenk Özay Gynaecology and Obstetrics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ahmet Özyiğit Clinical Embryologist, University of Nicosia, Cyprus

Özüm Tunçyürek Department of Radiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hüseyin Kaya Süer Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Mahmut Çerkez Ergören Department of Medical Genetics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Mustafa Tașeli Department of Ophthalmology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

National Advisory Board

Amber Eker Department of Neurology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ayşe Gökyiğit Department of Pharmaceutical Services of the Ministry of Health, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ayşe Ülgen Department of Biostatistics and Genetics, Eastern Mediterranean University School of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus

Beste Kamiloğlu Department of Orthodontics, Near East University School of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus

Bülent Haydar Private Clinic of Maxillofascial Surgery, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ender Volkan Cyprus International University School of Pharmacy, Nicosia, Cyprus

Erdem Beyoğlu Barış Mental and Neurological Disorders State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Fatma Deniz Department of Dermatology, Girne Akçiçek State Hospital, Girne, Cyprus

Filiz Besim Private Clinic of Maxillofascial Surgery, Nicosia, Cyprus

Gamze Mocan Kuzey Department of Pathology and Cytology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus Gülsen Bozkurt Private Clinic of Hematology, Nicosia, Cyprus

Gülten Sucu Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University School of Health Sciences, Famagusta, Cyprus

Hanife Erçal Ezgi Department of Dermatology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hasan Besim Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

İdris Deniz Department of Forensic Medicine, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

İsmet Başar Department of Urology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Kenan Arifoğlu Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Kerem Teralı Department of Medical Biochemistry, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Mehmet İnan Department of General Surgery, Private Magusa Medicine Center, Famagusta, Cyprus Meltem Nalça Department of Radiation Oncology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Mümtaz Güran Department of Medical Microbiology, Eastern Mediterranean University School Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus

Murat Uncu Department of Biochemistry, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Mustafa Kalfaoğlu Department of General Surgery, Magusa State Hospital, Famagusta, Cyprus

Nahide Gökçora Department of Nucleer Medicine, East Mediterranian University School of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus

Nerin N. Bahçeciler Department of Pediatrics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Sevda Lafcı Department of Anatomy, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Sezgin Handan Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University School of Health Sciences, Famagusta, Cyprus

Sibel Tozaki Department of Dermatology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Songül Acar Vaizoğlu Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Süha Akpınar Department of Radiology, Near East University School

East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus .

Tarık İzbul Department of General Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

International Advisory Board

Abdülkadir Tepeler Department of Urology, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

A.C. Joao Lima Department of Radiology, Johns Hopkins Medicine, Baltimore, USA

Aliye Özenoğlu Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ondokuz Mayıs University Samsun Health School, Samsun, Turkey

Alp Usubütün Department of Pathology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Alper Sertçelik Department of Cardiology, Sanko University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey

Altan Atakan Özcan Department of Ophthalmology, Çukorova University School of Medicine Balcalı Hospital, Adana, Turkey Te∨fik Eker

Department of General Surgery, Private Magusa Medicine Center, Famagusta, Cyprus

Tijen Ataçağ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus Turgay Akalın Private Clinic of Neurology, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ülvan Özad Department of Biomedical Engineering and Nanotechnology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ayla Ünsal Department of Nursing, Ahi Evran University School of Health, Kırşehir, Turkey

Ayşe Nihal Demircan Department of Ophthalmology, Çukurova University School of Medicine, Adana, Turkey

Aytekin Besim Private Clinic of Radiology, Ankara, Turkey

Barış Doğu Yıldız Department of General Surgery, Ankara Numune Research and Training Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Bengi Semerci Department of Psychiatry, Institute of Bengi Semerci, İstanbul, Turkey

Berksan Reșorlu Department of Urology, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University School of Medicine, Çanakkale, Turkey

Bilge Üzmezoğlu Department of Occupational Diseases, Atatürk Chest Diseases and Chest Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey Çağrı Buke

Department of Enfectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Yeditepe University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Celal Karlıkaya Department of Chest Diseases, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey

Cem Terzi Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Coşkun Yorulmaz Department of Forensic Medicine, İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Dilek Yavuz Department of Internal Medicine and Endocrinology Section, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Ebru Yılmaz Yalçınkaya Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Gaziosmanpaşa Taksim Research and Training Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Elif Arı Bakır Department of Nephrology, Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar Training Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Egemen İdiman Department of Neurology, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Emrah Alper Clinic of Gastroenterology, İzmir Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey

Emre Canda Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Erol Baysal Dubai Genetic and Thalassemia Center, Dubai Health Authority, Dubai, UAE

Erol Gökel Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Fatih Aslan Clinic of Gastroenterology, İzmir Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey

Fatih Köse Department of Oncology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Turkey

Fazıl Tuncay Aki Department of Urology, Head of Transplantation Unite, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Fevzi Balkan Department of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases, Medicana International İstanbul Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey Funda Tuğcu Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Ankara University School of Dentistry, Ankara, Turkey

Gölge Acaroğlu Private Clinic of Ophthalmology, Ankara, Turkey

Gökhan Nergizoğlu Department of Internal Medicine-Nephrology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Hür Hassoy Department of Public Health, Ege University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Hakan Altay Department of Cardiology, Başkent University İstanbul Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Hüseyin Bakkaloğlu Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Hüseyin Mertsoylu Department of Oncology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Turkey

İlhami Kuru Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Kemal Bakır Department of Pathology, Gaziantep University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey

Kürşad Türksen Samuel Lunenfeld Research Institute, Mount Sinai Hospital University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada Lale Tokgözoğlu Department of Cardiology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Levent Sennaroğlu Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Mazhar Tokgözoğlu Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Mehmet Kaynar Department of Urology, Selçuk University School of Medicine, Konya, Turkey

Melih Atahan Güven Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Mohammed Al-Barbarawi Department of Neurosurgery, Sydney University School of Medicine Royal North Shore Hospital, Sydney, Australia

Mustafa Camgöz Department of Life Sciences, Imperial Collage School of Natural Sciences, London, United Kingdom

Mustafa Sertaç Yazıcı Department of Urology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Müfit Akyüz

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Karabük University School of Medicine, Karabük, Turkey



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Müslime Akbaba Department of Ophthalmology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Necati Gökmen Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dokuz Eylül

University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Neval Duman Department of Internal Medicine-Nephrology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Nihat Yavuz Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Nilgün Kapucuoğlu Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Noriyuki Tomiyama Department of Radiology, Osaka University Graduate School Of Medicine, Osaka, Japan

Nuri Özgirgin Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Bayındır Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Orçun Şahin Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Osman Hatipoğlu Department of Chest Diseases, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey

Osman Nuri Dilek Department of General Surgery, İzmir Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey Oytun Erbaş Department of Experimental Medicine, The Scientific and Technological Research Council (TUBITAK-Martek) of Turkey, IL, USA

Özgür Deren Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Maternal Fetal Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Özgür Demir Department of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Özgür Özyılkan Department of Oncology, Başkent University Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Turkey

Peyman Yalçın Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Ralph Tufano Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Johns Hopkins Medicine, Baltimore, USA

Rahmi Kılıç Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Kırıkkale University School of Medicine, Kırıkkale, Turkey

Salih Marangoz Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Selçuk İnanlı Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Marmara University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey Semih Küçükgüçlü

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Serap Öztürkcan Department of Dermatology, Celal Bayar University School of Medicine, Manisa, Turkey

Serkan Durdu Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Cebeci Kardiac Center, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Serkan Sertel Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Heidelberg Neuenheimer Feld, Heidelberg, Germany

Serpil Altındoğan Department of Oral Maxillofascial Surgery, Ankara University School of Dentistry, Ankara, Turkey

Server Serdaroğlu Department of Dermatology, İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Teslime Atlı Department of Geriatrics, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Tolga Karcı Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir Şifa University İzmir, Turkey

Vedat Göral Department of Gastroenterology, İstanbul Medipol University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Vural Fidan Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Yunus Emre State Hospital, Eskişehir, Turkey



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Aims and Scope

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences (Cyprus J Med Sci) is the scientific, peer reviewed, open access international publication organ of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. The journal is published three times a year, in April, August, and December. As of 2020, the journal has become a quarterly publication, publishing in March, June, September, and December. The journal's publication language is English.

The aim of the journal is to publish original research papers of the highest scientific and clinical value in all medical fields. Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences also publishes reviews, rare case report and letters to the editors.

The target audience of the journal includes healthcare professionals physicians, and researchers who are interested or working in in all fields of medicine.

The editorial and publication processes of the journal are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), Council of Science Editors (CSE), Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO). The journal is in conformity with the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing (doaj.org/bestpractice).

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index, TUBITAK ULAK-BIM TR Index, EBSCO, and Gale.

Processing and publication are free of charge with the journal. No fees are requested from the authors at any point throughout the evaluation and publication process. All manuscripts must be submitted via the online submission system, which is available at www.cyprusjmedsci.com. The journal guidelines, technical information, and the required forms are available on the journal's web page.

All expenses of the journal are covered by the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. Potential advertisers should contact the Editorial Office. Advertisement images are published only upon the Editor-in-Chief's approval.

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in the journal reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association, editors, editorial board, and/or publisher; the editors, editorial board, and publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials.

All published content is available online, free of charge at www.cyprusjmedsci.com. Printed copies of the journal are distributed to the members of the Cyprus Turkish Medical Association, free of charge.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences is an open access publication, and the journal's publication model is based on Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) declaration. Authors retain the copyright of their published work in the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences. The journal's content is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.

 ∞ OPEN OPENS

Publisher: AVES Address: Büyükdere Cad. 105/9 34394 Mecidiyeköy, Şişli, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 212 217 17 00 Fax: +90 212 217 22 92 Web page: avesyayincilik.com E-mail: info@avesyayincilik.com

Material Disclaimer

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in The Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the editors, the editorial board and the publisher; the editors, the editorial board and the publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials.



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Instruction to Authors

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences (Cyprus J Med Sci) is the scientific, peer-reviewed, open access international publication organ of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. The journal is published quarterly in March, June, September, and December. The journal's publication language is English.

The aim of the journal is to publish original research papers of the highest scientific and clinical value in all medical fields. Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences also publishes reviews, rare case report and letters to the editors.

The target audience of the journal includes healthcare professionals physicians, and researchers who are interested or working in in all fields of medicine.

Editorial And Publication Process

The editorial and publication processes of the journal are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), the Council of Science Editors (CSE), the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), the European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO). The journal conforms to the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing (doaj.org/bestpractice).

Originality, high scientific quality, and citation potential are the most important criteria for a manuscript to be accepted for publication. Manuscripts submitted for evaluation should not have been previously presented or already published in an electronic or printed medium. The journal should be informed of manuscripts that have been submitted to another journal for evaluation and rejected for publication. The submission of previous reviewer reports will expedite the evaluation process. Manuscripts that have been presented in a meeting should be submitted with detailed information on the organization, including the name, date, and location of the organization.

Peer Review Process

Manuscripts submitted to Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences will go through a double-blind peer-review process. Each submission will be reviewed by at least two external, independent peer reviewers who are experts in their fields in order to ensure an unbiased evaluation process. The editorial board will invite an external and independent editor to manage the evaluation processes of manuscripts submitted by editors or by the editorial board members of the journal. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all submissions.

Ethical Procedures

An approval of research protocols by the Ethics Committee in accordance with international agreements (World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki "Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects," amended in October 2013, www.wma.net) is required for experimental, clinical, and drug studies and for some case reports. If required, ethics committee reports or an equivalent official

document will be requested from the authors. For manuscripts concerning experimental research on humans, a statement should be included that shows that written informed consent of patients and volunteers was obtained following a detailed explanation of the procedures that they may undergo. For studies carried out on animals, the measures taken to prevent pain and suffering of the animals should be stated clearly. Information on patient consent, the name of the ethics committee, and the ethics committee approval number should also be stated in the Materials and Methods section of the manuscript. It is the authors' responsibility to protect the patients' anonymity carefully.

For photographs that may reveal the identity of the patients, signed releases of the patient or their legal representative should be enclosed, and the publication approval must be provided in the Materials and Methods section.

Plagiarism

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences is extremely sensitive about plagiarism. All submissions are screened by a similarity detection software (iThenticate by CrossCheck) at any point during the peer-review and/or production process. Even if you are the author of the phrases or sentences, the text should not have unacceptable similarity with the previously published data.

When you are discussing others' (or your own) previous work, please make sure that you cite the material correctly in every instance.



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

In the event of alleged or suspected research misconduct, e.g., plagiarism, citation manipulation, and data falsification/fabrication, the Editorial Board will follow and act following COPE guidelines.

Preprint

Authors must provide the journal with the pre-print server deposition of their article accompanying its DOI during initial submission.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences does not consider preprint publications as prior publication. In other words, authors are allowed to present and discuss their findings on a non-commercial preprint server before submission to the journal.

If the article is published in Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences, it is the responsibility of the authors to update the archived preprint and link it to the published version of the article.

Authorship

Each person listed as an author should fulfill the authorship criteria recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE - www.icmje.org). The ICMJE recommends that authorship is based on the following four criteria:

- I. Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND
- 2. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND
- 3. Final approval of the version to be published; AND
- 4. Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in en-

suring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

In addition to being accountable for the parts of the work he/she has done, an author should be able to identify which co-authors are responsible for specific other parts of the work. Also, authors should have confidence in the integrity of the contributions of their co-authors.

All those designated as authors should meet all four criteria for authorship, and all who meet the four criteria should be identified as authors. Those who do not meet all four criteria should be acknowledged in the title page of the manuscript.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences requires corresponding authors to submit a signed and scanned version of the Copyright Agreement and Acknowledgement of Authorship form (available for download www.cyprusimedsci.com) during the initial submission process to act appropriately on authorship rights and to prevent ghost or honorary authorship. If the editorial board suspects a case of "gift authorship," the submission will be rejected without further review. As part of the submission of the manuscript, the corresponding author should also send a short statement declaring that he/she accepts to undertake all the responsibility for authorship during the submission and review stages of the manuscript.

Declaration Of Interest

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences requires and encourages

the authors and the individuals involved in the evaluation process of submitted manuscripts to disclose any existing or potential conflicts of interests, including financial, consultant, and institutional, that might lead to potential bias or a conflict of interest. Any financial grants or other support received for a submitted study from individuals or institutions should be disclosed to the Editorial Board. To disclose a potential conflict of interest, the ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form should be filled in and submitted by all contributing authors. The journal's Editorial Board resolves cases of a potential conflict of interest of the editors, authors, or reviewers within the scope of COPE and ICMJE quidelines.

The Editorial Board of the journal handles all appeal and complaint cases within the scope of COPE guidelines. In such cases, authors should get in direct contact with the editorial office regarding their appeals and complaints. When needed, an ombudsperson may be assigned to resolve claims that cannot be resolved internally. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all appeals and complaints.

Copyright And License

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences requires each submission to be accompanied by a Copyright Agreement and Acknowledgement of Authorship form (available for download www.cyprusjmedsci. com). When using previously published content, including figures, tables, or any other material in both print and electronic formats, authors must obtain permission from the copyright holder. Legal, financial



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

and criminal liabilities in this regard belong to the author(s). By signing this form, authors retain the copyright of their work and agree that the article, if accepted for publication by the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences will be licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

Disclaimer

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the editors, the editorial board, or the publisher; the editors, the editorial board, and the publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials. The final responsibility regarding the published content rests with the authors.

Manuscript Preparation

The manuscripts should be prepared in accordance with IC-MJE-Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (updated in December 2019 - http://www.icmje.org/icmje-recommendations. pdf). Authors are required to prepare manuscripts in accordance with the CONSORT guidelines for randomized research studies. STROBE quidelines for observational original research studies, STARD guidelines for studies on diagnostic accuracy, PRISMA quidelines for systematic reviews and meta-analysis, ARRIVE guidelines for experimental animal studies, and TREND guidelines for non-randomized public behavior.

Manuscripts can only be submitted through the journal's online manuscript submission and evaluation system, available at www. cyprusjmedsci.com. Manuscripts submitted via any other medium and submissions by anyone other than one of the authors will not be evaluated.

Manuscripts submitted to the journal will first go through a technical evaluation process where the editorial office staff will ensure that the manuscript has been prepared and submitted in accordance with the journal's guidelines. Submissions that do not conform to the journal's guidelines will be returned to the submitting author with technical correction requests.

Authors are required to submit the following:

- Copyright Agreement and Acknowledgement of Authorship Form, and
- ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form (should be filled in by all contributing authors) during the initial submission. These forms are available for download at www. cyprusjmedsci.com.

Preparation of the Manuscript

Title page: A separate title page should be submitted with all submissions and this page should include:

- The full title of the manuscript as well as a short title (running head) of no more than 50 characters,
- Name(s), affiliations, highest academic degree(s), and OR-CID IDs of the author(s),
- Grant information and detailed information on the other sources of support,
- Name, address, telephone (including the mobile phone number), and email address of the corresponding author,

 Acknowledgment of the individuals who contributed to the preparation of the manuscript but who do not fulfill the authorship criteria.

Abstract: An abstract should be submitted with all submissions except for Letters to the Editor. The abstract of Original Articles should be structured with subheadings (Background/Aims, Material and Methods, Results and Conclusion). Please check Table I below for word count specifications.

Keywords: Each submission must be accompanied by a minimum of three to a maximum of five keywords for subject indexing at the end of the abstract. The keywords should be listed in full without abbreviations. The keywords should be selected from the National Library of Medicine, Medical Subject Headings database (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/ MBrowser.html).

Main Points: All submissions except letters to the editor should be accompanied by 3 to 5 "main points" which should emphasize the most noteworthy results of the study and underline the principle message that is addressed to the reader. This section should be structured as itemized to give a general overview of the article. Since "Main Points" targeting the experts and specialists of the field, each item should be written as plain and straightforward as possible.

Manuscript Types

Original Articles: This is the most important type of article since it provides new information based on original research. Acceptance of original papers will be



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

based upon the originality and importance of the investigation. The main text of original articles should be structured with Introduction, Material and Methods, Results, and Discussion subheadings. An original article can be signed by maximum 6 authors unless it is a multi-center study or that it required extensive labour. Please check Table I for the limitations for Original Articles.

Clinical Trials

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences adopts the ICMJE's clinical trial registration policy, which requires that clinical trials must be registered in a publicly accessible registry that is a primary register of the WHO International Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) or in ClinicalTrials.gov.

Instructions for the clinical trials are listed below.

- Clinical trial registry is only required for the prospective research projects that study the relationship between a health-related intervention and an outcome by assigning people.
- To have their manuscript evaluated in the journal, author should register their research to a public registry at or before the time of first patient enrollment.
- Based on most up to date IC-MJE recommendations, Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences accepts public registries that in-

clude minimum acceptable 24item trial registration dataset.

- Authors are required to state a data sharing plan for the clinical trial registration. Please see details under "Data Sharing" section.
- For further details, please check ICMJE Clinical Trial Policy at http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/publishing-and-editorial-issues/clinical-trial-registration.html

Data Sharing

As of I January 2019, a data sharing statement is required for the registration of clinical trials. Authors are required to provide a data sharing statement for the articles that reports the results of a clinical trial. The data sharing statement should indicate the items below according to the IC-MJE data sharing policy:

- Whether individual deidentified participant data will be shared
- What data in particular will be shared
- Whether additional, related documents will be available
- When the data will be available and for how long
- By what access criteria will be shared

Authors are recommended to check the ICMJE data sharing examples at http://www.icmje. org/recommendations/browse/ publishing-and-editorial-issues/ clinical-trial-registration.html

While submitting a clinical trial to Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences;

- Authors are required to make registration to a publicly accessible registry according to ICMJE recommendations and the instructions above.
- The name of the registry and the registration number should be provided in the Title Page during the initial submission.
- Data sharing statement should also be stated in the Title Page even the authors do not plan to share it.

Clinical trial and data sharing policy of the journal will be valid for the articles submitted from I February 2020.

Statistical analysis to support conclusions is usually necessary. Statistical analyses must be conducted in accordance with international statistical reporting standards (Altman DG, Gore SM, Gardner MJ, Pocock SJ. Statistical quidelines for contributors to medical journals. Br Med J 1983: 7; 1489-93). Information on statistical analyses should be provided with a separate subheading under the Materials and Methods section and the statistical software that was used during the process must be specified.

Type of manuscript	Word limit	Abstract word limit	Reference limit	Table limit	Figure limit
Original Article	4000	250	25		5 or total of 10
Original Article	4000	(Structured)	35	6	images
Deview Article	5000	250	E0 E0		10 or total of 15
Review Article	Review Article 5000 250 50		6	images	
Case Depart	1200	200	IE		4 or total of 8 im-
Case Report	1200	200	15	No tables	ages
Letter to the Editor	400	No abstract	5	No tables	No media



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Units should be prepared in accordance with the International System of Units (SI).

Editorial Comments: Invited brief editorial comments on selected articles are published in The Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences. Editorials should not be longer than 1000 words excluding references. Editorial comments aim to provide a brief critical commentary by reviewers with expertise or with high reputation in the topic of the research article published in the journal. Authors are selected and invited by the journal to provide such comments. Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media are not included.

Review Articles: Reviews prepared by authors who have extensive knowledge on a particular field and whose scientific background has been translated into a high volume of publications with a high citation potential are welcomed. These authors may even be invited by the journal. Reviews should describe, discuss, and evaluate the current level of knowledge of a topic in clinical practice and should quide future studies. The subheadings of the review articles should be planned by the authors. However, each review article should include an "Introduction" and a "Conclusion" section. Please check Table I for the limitations for Review Articles.

Case Reports: There is limited space for case reports in the journal and reports on rare cases or conditions that constitute challenges in diagnosis and treatment, those offering new therapies or revealing knowledge not included in the literature, and interesting and educative case reports are accepted for publication. The text should include Introduction, Case Presentation, and Discussion with an unstructured abstract. Please check Table I for the limitations for Case Reports.

Letters to the Editor: This type of manuscript discusses important parts, overlooked aspects, or lacking parts of a previously published article. Articles on subjects within the scope of the journal that might attract the readers' attention, particularly educative cases, may also be submitted in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Readers can also present their comments on the published manuscripts in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media should not be included. The text should be unstructured. The manuscript that is being commented on must be properly cited within this manuscript.

Tables

Tables should be included in the main document, presented after the reference list, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text. A descriptive title must be placed above the tables. Abbreviations used in the tables should be defined below the tables by footnotes (even if they are defined within the main text). Tables should be created using the "insert table" command of the word processing software and they should be arranged clearly to provide easy reading. Data presented in the tables should not be a repetition of the data presented within the main text but should be supporting the main text.

Figures and Figure Legends

Figures, graphics, and photographs should be submitted as

separate files (in TIFF or JPEG format) through the submission system. The files should not be embedded in a Word document or the main document. When there are figure subunits, the subunits should not be merged to form a single image. Each subunit should be submitted separately through the submission system. Images should not be labeled (a, b, c, etc.) to indicate figure subunits. Thick and thin arrows, arrowheads, stars, asterisks, and similar marks can be used on the images to support figure legends. Like the rest of the submission, the figures too should be blind. Any information within the images that may indicate an individual or institution should be blinded. The minimum resolution of each submitted figure should be 300 DPI. To prevent delays in the evaluation process, all submitted figures should be clear in resolution and large in size (minimum dimensions: 100 × 100 mm). Figure legends should be listed at the end of the main document.

All acronyms and abbreviations used in the manuscript should be defined at first use, both in the abstract and in the main text. The abbreviation should be provided in parentheses following the definition.

When a drug, product, hardware, or software program is mentioned within the main text, product information, including the name of the product, the producer of the product, and city and the country of the company (including the state if in USA), should be provided in parentheses in the following format: "Discovery St PET/CT scanner (General Electric, Milwaukee, WI, USA)"



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

All references, tables, and figures should be referred to within the main text, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text.

Limitations, drawbacks, and the shortcomings of original articles should be mentioned in the Discussion section before the conclusion paragraph.

References

Both in-text citations and the references must be prepared according to the Vancouver style.

While citing publications, preference should be given to the latest, most up-to-date publications. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of references If an ahead-of-print publication is cited, the DOI number should be provided. Journal titles should be abbreviated in accordance with the journal abbreviations in Index Medicus/MEDLINE/PubMed. When there are six or fewer authors, all authors should be listed. If there are seven or more authors, the first six authors should be listed followed by "et al." In the main text of the manuscript, references should be cited using Arabic numbers in parentheses. The reference styles for different types of publications are presented in the following examples.

Journal Article: Yazıcı A. The efficacy of endoscopic ventilation tube insertion in pediatric populations. Cyprus J Med Sci 2019; 4(2): 73-6.

Book Section: Suh KN, Keystone JS. Malaria and babesiosis. Gorbach SL, Barlett JG, Blacklow NR, editors. Infectious Diseases. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams; 2004.p.2290-308. **Books with a Single Author**: Sweetman SC. Martindale the complete drug reference. 34th ed. London: Pharmaceutical Press; 2005.

Editor(s) as Author: Huizing EH, de Groot JAM, editors. Functional reconstructive nasal surgery. Stuttgart-New York: Thieme; 2003.

Conference Proceedings: Bengisson S. Sothemin BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Piemme TE, Rienhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92.

Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Medical Informatics; 1992 Sept 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland. Amsterdam: North-Holland; 1992. pp.1561-5.

Scientific or Technical Report: Cusick M, Chew EY, Hoogwerf B, Agrón E, Wu L, Lindley A, et al. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Risk factors for renal replacement therapy in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ET-DRS), Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Kidney Int: 2004. Report No: 26.

Thesis: Yılmaz B. Ankara Üniversitesindeki öğrencilerin beslenme durumları, fiziksel aktiviteleri ve beden kitle indeksleri kan lipidleri arasındaki ilişkiler. H.Ü. Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Doktora Tezi. 2007.

Manuscripts Accepted for Publication, Not Published Yet: Slots J. The microflora of black stain on human primary teeth. Scand J Dent Res. 1974.

Epub Ahead of Print Articles: Cai L, Yeh BM, Westphalen AC, Roberts JP, Wang ZJ. Adult living donor liver imaging. Diagn Interv Radiol. 2016 Feb 24. doi: 10.5152/dir.2016.15323. [Epub ahead of print].

Manuscripts Published in Electronic Format: Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis (serial online) 1995 Jan-Mar (cited 1996 June 5): I(I): (24 screens). Available from: URL: http://www.cdc. gov/ncidodIEID/cid.htm.

Revisions

When submitting a revised version of a paper, the author must submit a detailed "Response to the reviewers" that states point by point how each issue raised by the reviewers has been covered and where it can be found (each reviewer's comment, followed by the author's reply and line numbers where the changes have been made) as well as an annotated copy of the main document. Revised manuscripts must be submitted within 30 days from the date of the decision letter. If the revised version of the manuscript is not submitted within the allocated time, the revision option may be canceled. If the submitting author(s) believe that additional time is required, they should request this extension before the initial 30-day period is over.

Accepted manuscripts are copy-edited for grammar, punctuation, and format. Once the publication process of a manuscript is completed, it is published online on the journal's webpage as an ahead-of-print publication before it is included in its scheduled issue. A PDF proof of the accepted manuscript is sent to the corresponding author and their publication approval is requested within 2 days of their receipt of the proof.



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Contents

Original Articles

- 107 Renal Cell Carcinoma: A 10-Year Retrospective Study Shokouh Taghipour Zahir, Zahra Heidarymeybodi, Masood Herman
- **12** Bone Marrow Aspiration: The Indications and the Diagnostic Value Amin A. Alamin
- 17 Bloodstream Yeast Species and In Vitro Antifungal Susceptibility Profiles Laila F. Nimri, Nasser M. Kaplan, Rahmat I. Ishaq
- 124 The Suitability of Silk Fibroin Based Biofilms for Cartilage Tissue Engineering Chidi Wilson Nwekwo, Rasime Kalkan, Terin Adali
- 129 Disease and Treatment Experiences of COVID-19 Patients: A Qualitative Study Ceyda Uzun Sahin, Merve Aydin, Abdullah Usta, Mustafa Sakin
- 136 Sternoclavicular Joint Distances and Degenerative Changes in Computed Tomography Vefa Çakmak, Mert Özen
- [4] Evaluation of Methods for Determining Working Length in Root Canal Treatment for Primary Molars: An In-Vivo Study Secil Calıskan, Ebru Delikan, Kenan Cantekin
- Correlation of the Epworth Sleepiness Scale with Polysomnography Parameters in Obstructive
Sleep Apnea Syndrome Patients
Şeyda Akbal, Süleyman Emre Karakurt, Zekiye Orhan, Mustafa Çolak, Mehmet Fatih Karakuş, Fakih Cihat
Eravci
- [5] Antimicrobial Effects of Gutta-Percha Points Containing Root Canal Medications against Some Anaerobic Bacterial Species and Enterococcus faecalis Fatma Kermeoğlu, Meltem Dartar Öztan, Mehmet Kıyan
- 157 Evaluation of the Apoptotic Effects of the Humic Acid Treatment on Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Cell Line K562

Pinar Mega Tiber, Tuğçe Balcı-Okcanoğlu, Melike Karadeniz, Asli Aykac

- 162 Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity in Pediatric General Duty and Intensive Care Unit Nurses Deniz Şanlı, Meryem Ünal Çimen, Nurseren İşler, Nuriye Turgut
- [7] Systemic Inflammatory Markers as a Prognostic Factor in Parotid Gland Tumors Orhan Tunç, Burhanettin Gönüldaş, Muzaffer Kanlıkama



CYPRUS JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Case Reports

- 177 An Uncommon Cause of Hypernatremia in Very Low Birth Weight Premature Infants: Idiopathic Central Diabetes Insipidus Selma Aktas, Ebru Kazancı, Serap Semiz, Ayşe Korkmaz
- 180 A Rare Complication of Central Venous Catheter: Innominant Vein Perforation and Endovascular Treatment Mehmet Korkmaz, Furkan Ertürk Urfali, Ali İhsan Parlar, Sermin Tok Umay, Sinan Erkul, Gülen Sezer Alptekin Erkul

Letter to Editor

183 Overweight and Obesity among School Children Vitorino Modesto dos Santos, Laura Campos Modesto **Original** Article

Renal Cell Carcinoma: A 10-Year Retrospective Study

Shokouh Taghipour Zahir^I (), Zahra Heidarymeybodi² (), Masood Herman² ()

¹Clinical and Surgical Pathology, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Shahid Sadoughi General Hospital, Yazd, Iran ²Student Research Committee, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Shahid Sadoughi General Hospital, Yazd, Iran

ORCID iDs of the authors: ORCID iDs of the authors: S.T.Z. 0000-0003-0170-7043; Z.H. 0000-0002-9639-4715; M.H. 0000-0001-9826-0174.

Cite this article as: Zahir ST, Heidarymeybodi Z, Herman M. Renal Cell Carcinoma: A 10-Year Retrospective Study. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 107-111.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

This study was conducted to investigate survival and its associated factors in patients with clear cell renal cell carcinoma (CCRCC).

MATERIAL and METHODS

This retrospective study recruited patients diagnosed with CCRCC in Shahid Rahnemoon Hospital, Yazd, Iran, followed them up from their presentation until their death or end of the study and examined their demographic information and clinical and tumor characteristics. Continuous variables were expressed as mean±SD, and univariate analyses of survival were conducted using the Kaplan-Meier method and log-rank test and multivariate analyses using the Cox regression model.

RESULTS

The study recruited 206 patients, including I32 males, with CCRCC and a mean age of 57.9 ± 13.6 years. During the follow up, 53.9% (n = III) of the patients survived and data regarding the survival status of 24.3% (n = 50) patients were missing. The mean survival duration was obtained as 59.9 \pm 2.7 months. The independent survival indicators were grade 4 (HR: 2.4, 95% CI: 0.4-5.7, P = .02), older age (HR: 4.14, 95% CI: 1.7-8.4, P = .02), and treatment method includes post-operative chemotherapy (HR: 4.9, 95% CI: 1.7-10.8, P = .004) and postoperative radiochemotherapy (HR: 8.4, 95% CI: 1.9-16.2, P = .03).

CONCLUSION

This study found survival to be negatively correlated with grade 4, older age, and treatment method, i.e. post-operative chemotherapy and post-operative radiochemotherapy.

Keywords: Renal cell carcinoma, clear cell renal cell carcinoma, prognostic factor, cancer, survival

INTRODUCTION

As the I3th most fatal cancer worldwide,¹ renal cell carcinoma (RCC) accounts for 90% of all kidney cancers.² In recent years, advanced abdominal imaging has shown increases in the incidence of RCC, especially in developed countries.³

The survival rate has been differently reported depending on the tumor characteristics. The prognosis of tumors that are limited to the renal parenchyma is excellent, resulting in a 5-year survival rate of up to 90%; nevertheless, the survival rate is below 10% in metastases despite using multimodal treatments.^{4,5} The survival rate is affected by the histological subtypes of RCC, including clear cell renal cell carcinoma (CCRCC) as the most common with the lowest survival rate,⁶ papillary RCC, and chromophobe RCC.⁵

Although the prognostic roles of demographic and tumor characteristics have been addressed in literature, effective factors in the survival of patients with CCRCC are to be determined.⁷⁻¹⁴ Given the reported significantly-high mortality of this cancer,¹ the present research aimed at investigating the overall survival and its contributing factors in the patients.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Study Population

This observational retrospective study focused on RCC patients in Shahid Rahnemoon Hospital, Yazd, Iran. An experienced pathologist reexamined all the RCC samples referred to the pathology department from 2008 to 2018. This study

Corresponding Author: Zahra Heidarymeybodi E-mail: Mzheidary@gmail.com





included all the samples positive for CCRCC based on the 2016 WHO classification and diagnostic criteria.¹⁵ Patients with metastatic CCRCC were excluded from the study. All the patients were followed up from the date of diagnosing their cancer until their death or the end of the study. This study was performed after receiving the approval of the Ethics Committee of Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran (SSU. 1398.3738).

Data Collection

The study variables included patient age, clinical presentation of cancer, tumor stage, tumor grade, tumor site (right or left kidney), tumor size (below 4 cm, and above 4 cm), perinephric fat invasion (PFI), treatment method, survival status, and time of death (if applicable). All of the data were collected from the hospital records. Tumor stage was evaluated based on American Joint Committee on cancer 8th edition,¹⁶ and tumor grade was categorized according to Furman Grading System. Tumor size was evaluated based on pathologic findings.

Statistical Analysis

The continuous variables were expressed as their mean values. The Kaplan–Meier method was used to calculate the survival duration and the log-rank test to compare survival curves for the individual categorical variables. The significant variables determined using the log-rank test were inserted into the Cox proportional hazard model to determine their correlations with survival. The statistical analyses were performed in Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 22 (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA), and P < .05 was set as the level of statistical significance.

RESULTS

General Characteristics

This study included 206 consecutive patients (64% male and 36% female) with CCRCC and a mean age of 57.9 \pm 13.6 years. The most frequent symptoms included abdominal pain and hematuria. The tumor lay on the right side of the kidney in 49.55% of the patients, its size exceeded 4 cm in 68%, PFI was observed in 21.85% at the time of diagnosis, and grade I tumor and stage I cancer were, respectively, reported in 32% and 29%. Table I summarizes the clinical and tumor characteristics of the patients.

Survival

During the follow-up, III out of the 206 patients survived and the survival status of 50 was missed. The mean survival

Main Points

- The classical triad of presentation for Renal Cell Carcinoma includes gross hematuria, flank mass, and flank pain found in almost 20% of Iranian patients which is 2 times higher than developed countries.
- The mean survival of the patients with nonmetastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma in Iranian population is 59.9 months.
- Patents' age and tumor's grade are independent indicators for survival in patients with Renal Cell Carcinoma.
- Tumor's size and perinephric fat invasion may not independently affect survival of patients with Renal Cell Carcinoma.

TABLE I. Clinical Information and Tumor Characteristics						
Factor	Number	Percent				
Clinical manifestation						
Hematuria	53	26				
Flank pain	46	22				
Flank mass	18	9				
Hematuria and flank pain and mass	46	22				
Without symptom	43	21				
Stage						
	60	29				
2	68	33				
3	55	27				
Missing	23	II				
Grade						
1	66	32				
2	60	29				
3	23	II				
4	16	8				
Missing	41	20				
Type of treatment						
Surgery	140	68				
Surgery and chemotherapy	59	29				
Surgery and chemotherapy and radiotherapy	7	3				



Figure I. Curves of overall survival duration (month)

duration was obtained as 59.9 ± 2.7 months (95% Cl, 51.5-62.2, Figure I). According to the univariate analysis, the relationships of survival with the patients' age (95% Cl, 52.6-63.2, P = .02, Figure 2), treatment method (95% Cl, 52.4-63.1, P < .001, Figure 3), and cancer grade (95% Cl, 53.5-64.7, P < .001, Figure 4) were statistically significant. The multivariate analysis showed the significant and negative correlations of survival with grade 4, age, and treatment method, i.e. postoperative chemotherapy and post-operative radiochemotherapy (Table 2).

In contrast to the multivariate analysis (Table 2), the univariate analysis showed statistically significant differences in the survival duration between genders (95% Cl, 50.3-61.4, P = .03), tumor sizes (95% Cl, 51.4-62.7, P = .04), cancer stages (95% Cl, 51.0-62.1, P < .001), and PFI (95% Cl, 53.4-64.2, P = .01).



Figure 2. Survival duration (month) versus cancer grade



DISCUSSION

RCC is the 6th and 10th most prevalent cancer in men and women, respectively.² Despite the improvements in screening methods and increased survival from localized cancers, a high mortality risk has been reported for this malignancy.^{3,17} The histological subtypes and genetic characteristics of RCC are different. CCRCC is the most common subtype with the lowest survival rate compared to that of the other subtypes.^{6,18} The present study was conducted to determine survival indicators in patients diagnosed with CCRCC.

The prognostic indicators of RCC were found to include the cancer stage, the tumor grade, and histological type of tumor.¹⁹ The univariate model suggested the grade and stage significantly affect survival, and the multivariate model showed grade-4 tumors to constitute the determinant of survival. Investigating the TIN0M0 RCC prognostic factor in an Asian population, Zhang et al.²⁰ found the Fuhrman grade and tumor size to affect patient survival. Only nonmetastatic RCC included in this



Figure 4. Survival duration (month) versus treatment method

TABLE 2. Survival Multivariate Analysis				
Factors	HR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value		
Age cat				
<65	Reference			
>65	4.14 (1.7-8.3)	.02		
Sex				
Male	Reference			
Female	0.6 (0.2-1.5)	.29		
PFI				
No	Reference			
Yes	1.4 (0.5-3.6)	.47		
Stage				
L. L.	Reference			
2	I.I (0.3-5.2)	.94		
3	2.4 (0.4-6.8)	.68		
Grade				
1	Reference			
2	1.5 (0.5-4.5)	.45		
3	0.7 (0.1-3.6)	.12		
4	2.4 (0.4-5.7)	.02		
Tumor size				
\leq 4 cm	Reference			
>4 cm	1.7 (0.4-2.9)	.24		
Treatment				
Surgery	Reference			
Surgery and chemotherapy	4.9 (1.7-10.8)	.004		
Surgery and chemotherapy and radiotherapy	8.4 (1.9-16.2)	.03		

study, and this may be the probable cause for nonprognostic value of tumor stage in this study.

Research suggests significant correlations between tumor size and survival.²¹⁻²³ Cheville et al.²¹ reported the mortality of tumors exceeding 5 cm in size to be 4.7 times higher. Bhindi et al.²³ reported positive correlations between tumor size and the risk of aggressive histology. The statistically significant correlations between tumor size and survival reported using the univariate model were also found to be insignificant based on

Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 107-111

the multivariate model. Given the indirect effect of tumor size on survival through tumor grade, it was not an independent indicator of survival after adjusting tumor grade. Similarly, Thompson et al.²² reported an increase of 25% in the risk of high-grade tumors with a l-cm increase in tumor size.

The role of PFI in the survival of patients with RCC is still controversial. Despite the prognostic role of PFI reported in some studies,^{24,25} its correlation with survival was found not to be independent after adjusting the tumor size.²⁶⁻²⁸ Classical survival indicators do not include factors such as renal vein invasion and sinus fat invasion, which are often associated with PFI.²⁵ Kume et al.²⁵ found PFI to be correlated with aggressive tumor features and age. Cancer-induced mortality was higher in patients with PFI and even with small tumors. Hedgire et al.⁴ found PFI to be an independent risk factor for cancer-specific survival even after tumor size adjustment. In contrast to the multivariate model, the univariate model of the present study showed PFI to constitute a risk factor for survival. Similarly, Ornellas et al.²⁹ found PFI to constitute a significant index for disease-free survival as per the univariate rather than multivariate model.

The potentially significant effect of age on survival has been addressed in literature in recent years.³⁰ The present study found age to constitute an independent indicator of survival in the patients. Scoll et al.³⁰ reported a negative relationship between the survival and tumor size (below 4 cm versus larger than 7 cm) in all age groups and found age to be a prognostic factor in medium-sized tumors (4-7 cm).

The classical triad of presentation for RCC includes gross hematuria, flank mass, and flank pain.³¹ Advances in imaging and screening methods help with the earlier diagnosis of RCC even with asymptomatic tumors.^{3,32} A 5-year survival was reported in 93% of patients with asymptomatic tumors and 59% with symptomatic tumors.³³ Research in western communities suggests the incidental diagnosis of almost 60% of patients with asymptomatic RCC, and that only 10% of the patients present with the classical triad.⁵ Diagnosing the majority of the present study, patients with symptomatic tumors exceeding 4 cm in size can explain the lower mean survival of the patients with nonmetastatic RCC (59.9 months) compared to that in western populations (175.7 months).³⁴ It is therefore recommended that screening and clinical accuracy be improved in routine clinical practice to increase the survival rate in Iranian patients with RCC, and cancer studies be conducted at a national scale to acquire a broader perspective of RCC in Iran.

Treatment of patients is considered according to the stage of the disease and patients' age, so that patients in stages I-3 are given priority with surgery. Surgery can be performed partially or radically so that patients in stage I and tumor size less than 7 cm are candidates for partial surgery. In tumors larger than 7 cm in size, radical nephrectomy is the treatment of choice.³⁵ In this study, our patients underwent partial and radical nephrectomy in stages I-3. In patients with stage 3, based on patients' age and other factors influencing treatment choice, including cardiopulmonary status and comorbidities, radical nephrectomy with systemic therapy as well as radiation therapy was considered. Patients in advanced stage received radiation therapy, immunotherapy, and chemotherapy along with surgery if indicated. In this study, patients who received chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and surgery or patients received chemotherapy and surgery compare to patients who underwent surgery had a shorter lifespan. The probable explanation for this shorter lifespan could be other comorbidities rather than treatment itself. In the study of Goebell et al.,³⁶ they evaluate I,085 patients with CCRCC. It is determined that high risk patients who usually excluded from clinical trials (ineligible-trial patients) because had significantly lower survival compare to trial-eligible patients and the type of treatment could not increase life expectancy.

The present study limitations included its unicenter and retrospective design, small sample and missing data, as well as failure to evaluate RCC subtypes other than CCRCC.

RCC was diagnosed mainly at its symptomatic stage, and its most prevalent clinical symptoms included abdominal pain and hematuria. The tumors identified mostly exceeded 4 cm in size. The present research found grade 4, age, and treatment method (post-operative chemotherapy and post-operative radiochemotherapy) to be independently and negatively correlated with survival.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical committee approval was received from the Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran (SSU. 1398.3738).

Informed Consent: N/A

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - S.T.Z., M.H.; Design - S.T.Z., M.H.; Supervision - S.T.Z., ; Resources - S.T.Z.; Materials - M.H., Z.H.; Data Collection and/or Processing - Z.H., M.H.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - Z.H.; Literature Search - Z.H., S.T.Z.; Writing Manuscript - Z.H., S.T.Z.; Critical Reviews - S.T.Z., Z.H.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- I. Capitanio U, Bensalah K, Bex A, et al. Epidemiology of renal cell carcinoma. *Eur Urol.* 2019;75(1):74-84. [CrossRef]
- 2. Ljungberg B, Campbell SC, Cho HY, et al. The epidemiology of renal cell carcinoma. *Eur Urol.* 2011;60(4):615-621. [CrossRef]
- DeCastro GJ, McKiernan JM. Epidemiology, clinical staging, and presentation of renal cell carcinoma. Urol Clin N Am. 2008;35(4):581-592. [CrossRef]
- Hedgire SS, Elmi A, Nadkarni ND, Cao K, McDermott S, Harisinghani MG. Preoperative evaluation of perinephric fat invasion in patients with renal cell carcinoma: Correlation with pathological findings. *Clin Imaging*. 2013;37(1):91-96. [CrossRef]
- Petejova N, Martinek A. Renal cell carcinoma: Review of etiology, pathophysiology and risk factors. *Biomed Papers Med Fac Palacky Univ Olomouc.* 2016;160(2):183-194. [CrossRef]
- Grignon DJ, Che M. Clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Lab Med.* 2005;25(2):305-316. [CrossRef]
- Vaishampayan U, Do H, Hussain M, Schwartz K. Racial disparity in incidence patterns and outcome of kidney cancer. *Urology*. 2003;62(6):1012-1017. [CrossRef]

- Dall'Oglio MF, Ribeiro-Filho LA, Antunes AA, et al. Microvascular tumor invasion, tumor size and Fuhrman grade: A pathological triad for prognostic evaluation of renal cell carcinoma. *J Urol.* 2007;178(2):425-428. [CrossRef]
- Karakiewicz PI, Jeldres C, Suardi N, et al. Age at diagnosis is a determinant factor of renal cell carcinoma-specific survival in patients treated with nephrectomy. *Can Urol Assoc J.* 2008;2(6):610. [CrossRef]
- Thompson RH, Ordonez MA, lasonos A, et al. Renal cell carcinoma in young and old patients—Is there a difference? *J Urol.* 2008;180(4):1262-1266. [CrossRef]
- II. Sun M, Thuret R, Abdollah F, et al. Age-adjusted incidence, mortality, and survival rates of stage-specific renal cell carcinoma in North America: A trend analysis. *Eur Urol.* 2011;59(1):135-141. [Cross-Ref]
- Harris WB. Biomarkers for evaluating racial disparities in clinical outcome in patients with renal cell carcinoma. *Mol Aspects Med.* 2015;45:47-54. [CrossRef]
- Lucca I, Klatte T, Fajkovic H, De Martino M, Shariat SF. Gender differences in incidence and outcomes of urothelial and kidney cancer. *Nat Rev Urol.* 2015;12(10):585. [CrossRef]
- Feng X, Zhang L, Tu W, Cang S. Frequency, incidence and survival outcomes of clear cell renal cell carcinoma in the United States from 1973 to 2014: A SEER-based analysis. *Medicine*. 2019;98(31):e16684. [CrossRef]
- Moch H, Humphrey PA, Ulbright TM, Reuter VE. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Urinary System and Male Genital Organs. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), 2016.
- Amin MB, Edge SB. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. Berlin: Springer, 2017.
- Chow W-H, Devesa SS, Warren JL, Fraumeni JF Jr. Rising incidence of renal cell cancer in the United States. JAMA. 1999;281(17):1628-1631. [CrossRef]
- Shuch B, Amin A, Armstrong AJ, et al. Understanding pathologic variants of renal cell carcinoma: Distilling therapeutic opportunities from biologic complexity. *Eur Urol.* 2015;67(1):85-97. [CrossRef]
- Borer J, Retik A. Hypospadias. In Wein AJ, Kavoussi LR, Novick AC, et al. (eds.): Campbell-Walsh Urology. Philadelphia: Saunders, 2007.
- Zhang Z-L, Chen W, Li Y-H, et al. Stage TIN0M0 renal cell carcinoma: The prognosis in Asian patients. *Chin J Cancer.* 2011;30(11):772. [CrossRef]
- Cheville JC, Blute ML, Zincke H, Lohse CM, Weaver AL. Stage pTI conventional (clear cell) renal cell carcinoma: Pathological features associated with cancer specific survival. *J Urol.* 2001;166(2):453-456. [CrossRef]
- Thompson RH, Kurta JM, Kaag M, et al. Tumor size is associated with malignant potential in renal cell carcinoma cases. J Urol. 2009;181(5):2033-2036. [CrossRef]
- Bhindi B, Thompson RH, Lohse CM, et al. The probability of aggressive versus indolent histology based on renal tumor size: Implications for surveillance and treatment. *Eur Urol.* 2018;74(4):489-497. [CrossRef]

- 24. Brookman-May SD, May M, Wolff I, et al. Evaluation of the prognostic significance of perirenal fat invasion and tumor size in patients with pTI-pT3a localized renal cell carcinoma in a comprehensive multicenter study of the CORONA project. Can we improve prognostic discrimination for patients with stage pT3a tumors? *Eur Urol.* 2015;67(5):943-951. [CrossRef]
- Kume H, Homma Y, Shinohara N, et al. Perinephric invasion as a prognostic factor in non-metastatic renal cell carcinoma: Analysis of a nation-wide registry program. *Jpn J Clin Oncol.* 2019;49(9):772-779. [CrossRef]
- Murphy AM, Gilbert SM, Katz AE, et al. Re-evaluation of the tumour-node-metastasis staging of locally advanced renal cortical tumours: Absolute size (T2) is more significant than renal capsular invasion (T3a). *BJU Int*: 2005;95(1):27-30. [CrossRef]
- Gilbert SM, Murphy AM, Katz AE, et al. Reevaluation of TNM staging of renal cortical tumors: Recurrence and survival for TIN0M0 and T3aN0M0 tumors are equivalent. *Urology*. 2006;68(2):287-291. [CrossRef]
- Gofrit ON, Shapiro A, Pizov G, et al. Does stage T3a renal cell carcinoma embrace a homogeneous group of patients? *J Urol.* 2007;177(5):1682-1686. [CrossRef]
- 29. Ornellas AA, Andrade DM, Ornellas P, Wisnescky A, Schwindt AB. Prognostic factors in renal cell carcinoma: Analysis of 227 patients treated at the Brazilian National Cancer Institute. *Int Braz J Urol.* 2012;38(2):185-194. [CrossRef]
- Scoll BJ, Wong Y-N, Egleston BL, Kunkle DA, Saad IR, Uzzo RG. Age, tumor size and relative survival of patients with localized renal cell carcinoma: A surveillance, epidemiology and end results analysis. *J Urol.* 2009;181(2):506-511. [CrossRef]
- Lee CT, Katz J, Fearn PA, Russo P (eds.). Mode of presentation of renal cell carcinoma provides prognostic information. In *Urologic Oncology: Seminars and Original Investigations*. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 2002.
- Tsui K-H, Shvarts O, Smith RB, Figlin RA, deKernion JB, Belldegrun A. Prognostic indicators for renal cell carcinoma: A multivariate analysis of 643 patients using the revised I997 TNM staging criteria. J Urol. 2000;163(4):1090-1095. [CrossRef]
- Patard JJ, Rodriguez A, Rioux-Leclercq N, Guille F, Lobel B. Prognostic significance of the mode of detection in renal tumours. *BJU Int.* 2002;90(4):358-363. [CrossRef]
- Kim SH, Park B, Hwang EC, et al. Retrospective multicenter longterm follow-up analysis of prognostic risk factors for recurrencefree, metastasis-free, cancer-specific, and overall survival after curative nephrectomy in non-metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Front Oncol.* 2019;9:859. [CrossRef]
- Lázaro M, Valderrama BP, Suárez C, et al. SEOM clinical guideline for treatment of kidney cancer (2019). *Clin Transl Oncol.* 2020;22(2):256-269. [CrossRef]
- Goebell PJ, Staehler M, Müller L, et al. Changes in treatment reality and survival of patients with advanced clear cell renal cell carcinoma-analyses from the German clinical RCC-registry. *Clin Genitourinary Cancer.* 2018;16(6):el101-1115. [CrossRef]

Original Article

Bone Marrow Aspiration: The Indications and the Diagnostic Value

Amin A. Alamin 🝺

Department of Pathology, University of Taif College of Medicine, Taif, Saudi Arabia

ORCID iDs of the author: A.A.A. 0000-0002-4405-5826.

Cite this article as: Alamin AA. Bone Marrow Aspiration: The Indications and the Diagnostic Value. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): II2-II6.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

Bone marrow aspiration (BMA) is a common and useful investigation tool in clinical practice that helps gather information about both hematological and nonhematological disorders. Against this backdrop, the aim of this work was to identify the main indications for BMA tertiary hospital and to determine the common diagnoses encountered.

MATERIAL and METHODS

This was a prospective laboratory-based study conducted in a tertiary hospital, from December 2015 to August 2017. BMA was carried out in 204 cases of suspected hematologic disorders. The information extracted was inclusive of the main indications for performing the procedure, the age groups involved, as well as the most common diagnoses established. In addition, a specially designed form was used for this purpose, after which the data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences computer program.

RESULTS

Two hundred and four cases of BMA were performed and analyzed. The most patients (30.4%) were aged 15-30 years, of which 62.7% were males and 37.3% were females. This resulted in a male-to-female ratio of 1.7:1.0. The most frequent indications were found to be pancytopenia (48.1%), suspected leukemia (26.5%), and unexplained splenomegaly (8.3%). Hypersplenism was the most common diagnosis (20.1%) followed by visceral leishmaniasis (15.2%) of the cases. I6 (7.8%) of the aspirates revealed a normally functioning marrow.

CONCLUSION

BMA assumes importance in the context of establishing the diagnosis in several medical conditions. The most common indication for this procedure was pancytopenia, while the most common finding was hypersplenism.

Keywords: Bone marrow aspiration, diagnostic role, hematological disorders

INTRODUCTION

Bone marrow aspiration (BMA) is a cytologic preparation of bone marrow cells obtained by aspirating of marrow mostly from the posterior iliac crest. Notably, it is indicated in patients with suspected hematological diseases whose diagnosis remains unclear after examination of the peripheral blood with complete blood count (CBC) and peripheral smear examination. This procedure may be necessary for the diagnosis and management of hematological as well as, to some extent, nonhematological disorders, for staging, prognostication, and evaluation of therapeutic response.¹

BMA is one of the most commonly-used, cost-effective, and safe invasive procedures; it is associated with minimal complications after precautions are taken into consideration.² Megaloblastic anemia and acute myeloid leukemia were the most common hematological disorders reported in the study conducted by Atla et al.³ Correspondingly, the study carried out by Sreedevi et al.,⁴ the most common hematological disorder was erythroid hyperplasia, followed by idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. Meanwhile Pudasaini et al.⁵ stated in their study that the most common hematological disorder was erythroid hyperplasia, followed by megaloblastic anemia and acute leukemia.

The aim of the current study was to identify the spectrum of diseases diagnosed by BMA at Referral Teaching Hospital, Asmara, Eritrea.

MATERIAL and METHODS

This prospective laboratory-based study was carried out in a tertiary hospital, over a period of 21 months from December 2015 to August 2017.

All the patients came for BMA with results of CBC performed as a routine test. A brief medical history was taken from all of them. Along with revised CBC and indication, the general condition of the patients (including examination of liver, spleen, and lymph node groups) were checked, patient consent was taken, and his/her comfort was ensured; patients were instructed to lie down on their left side flexing the right knee joint and extend the left leg, whereas BMA was performed from the posterior superior iliac spine under aseptic condition using Klima BMA needle. In order to avoid dilution of the yield by peripheral blood, only approximately 0.5 mL bone marrow was aspirated from each patient and deliberately kept in ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid anticoagulated.

For the purpose of assessing the adequacy of the sample, smears were made for staining and examination, it was concluded. Four cases out of 208 cases were accounted for by "dry tap," which represents about 1.9% of the total; these samples were excluded from this study.

Data Collection and Analysis

The information obtained included the demographic data, the primary indications for performing bone marrow examination as well as the most common diagnoses established. A special form was designed for this purpose in which data were displayed.

Thereafter, data generated were coded, validated, and analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 22 (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA). A Pearson chisquared test was used to assess the significance between proportions; to that end, *P*-value below .05 was considered to be statistically significant. The main variables evaluated included

Main Points

- Bone marrow aspiration assumes important in the context of revealing the diagnosis in several medical conditions.
- In males, the most common diagnosis was hypersplenism followed by Visceral Leishmaniasis. the most common hematological neoplasm was acute leukemia and chronic lymphoid leukemia followed by chronic myeloid leukemia.
- In females, acute leukemia was the common diagnosis followed by hypersplenism.
- Pancytopenia was observed to be the most common clinical indication encountered.
- Visceral Leishmaniasis was the common cause of pancytopenia in children, followed by hypersplenism. In adults, this was hypersplenism, followed by Megaloblastic anemia.
- The second common indication was suspected leukemia.
- The need to rule out the underlying causes of hypersplenism by conducting further investigations to detect the root cause of hyperactive spleen.

TABLE I. Age and Sex Distribution of BMA Cases

	Sex =	n (%)	
Age-group	Male	Female	N = 204 (%)
<15	34 (60.8)	22 (39.2)	56 (27.45)
15-30	34 (54.8)	28 (45.2)	62 (30.39)
3I-45	26 (70.3)	II (29.7)	37 (18.14)
>45	34 (69.4)	15 (30.6)	49 (24.02)
Total	128 (62.7)	76 (37.3)	204 (100)

age, sex, an indication of BMA, as well as final conclusion/ diagnosis.

Bone Marrow Aspiration Films Preparation and Staining Method

BMA smears are made by placing a drop of bone marrow on a slide and using a smear preparation technique. The film is then air dried and flooded with the Leishman's stain. After 2 minutes, the volume of water is doubled and the film stained for 5-7 minutes. Afterwards, it is washed in a stream of buffered water until it acquires a pinkish tinge (up to 2 minutes).

After the back of the slide has been wiped clean, it is then left (set upright) to dry.⁶ The slides were observed for the quality, fragments, and stain. Preparation of smears and staining was undertaken by the same person in order to avoid errors caused by a change in performer. The slides were examined by the author, a hematopathologist under a light microscope.

Bone Marrow Aspiration Examination Findings

The bone marrow fragments were first examined on a lower power to determine the cellularity and megakaryoblasts/ cytes. Then on high power, an examination is undertaken for red blood cells precursors, white blood cells precursors, the myeloid/erythroid ration (ME ratio), and the maturity of cells were examined: for example, blasts may make equal or more than 20% of the type of white blood cells in cases of acute lymphocytic leukemia and acute myelocytic leukemia, plasma cells, parasites, as well as any other types of cells. Write report and suggest further investigations if needed.²

Ethical Approval

The research proposal was reviewed by the Ethical Committee of the research unit in the ministry of health, and ethical clearance was approved by the National Health Laboratory, Asmara, Eritrea (registration number: 34/19 and the approval date is 08/06/2019).

RESULTS

A total of 204 cases were included in this study. The age of the patients ranged from 9 months to 80 years with a mean age of 29.5 years, and males being the most common gender (1.6:1.0) are shown in Table I. Of the 204 cases, (30.4%) were between I5 and 30 years. The smallest patient was a 9-month-old baby as shown in Table I.

Hypercellular marrow was reported in 175 (85.8%) of the cases with 10 (4.9%) cases of hypocellular marrow are shown in Table 2.

The clinical indications for the BMA included pancytopenia (48.1%), suspected leukemia (26.5%), unexplained splenomegaly

TABLE 2. The Cellularity of the Bone Marrow Aspiration						
Cellularity of the marrow	No. of patients	Percentage (%)				
Hypercellular	175	85.8				
Normocellular	20	9.8				
Hypocellular	9	4.4				
Total	204	100				

TABLE 3. Clinical Indications of Bone Marrow Aspiration						
Indication	No. of patients	Percentage (%)				
Pancytopenia	98	48.1				
Suspected leukemia	54	26.5				
Unexplained splenomegaly	17	8.3				
Unexplained fever	14	6.9				
Thrombocytopenia	9	4.4				
Anemia	6	2.9				
Suspected malignancy	6	2.9				
Total	204	100				

(08.3%), unexplained fever (06.9%), and suspected malignancy (2.9%) are shown in Table 3.

In 188 (92.2%) of these cases, BMA provided either the diagnosis or diagnostic clues concerning the disease process, while 16 (7.8%) of the aspirates revealed a normally functioning marrow.

The most frequent diagnoses made included hypersplenism 20.1%, visceral leishmaniasis 9.8%, acute leukemia 9.8%, megaloblastic anemia 8.3%, chronic myeloid leukemia 8.3%, chronic lymphoid leukemia 7.4%, bone marrow hypoplasia 4.9%, idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura 4.4%, hemolytic anemia 3.9%, iron deficiency anemia 1.5%, multiple myeloma 1.0%, and polycythemia 1.0%. Meanwhile there was one case (0.5%) for each of the following conditions: Gaucher's disease, secondary malignancy, and essential thrombocythemia are shown in Table 4.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we described briefly the basic concepts of BMA, in addition to our findings of the clinical indications and the final diagnoses within a 21-month period in Asmara city.

Two hundred and four cases were involved in this study. This number is lower than the expectations, particularly when considering population of 896,000 living in the Asmara locality. However, since BMA service was not previously available in this city, the few numbers of requests are not unexpected, due to the fact that the physicians need some time to be aware of the services available upon their request.

Some authors are of the view that BMA has deteriorated as a diagnostic tool in clinical practice.⁷ This might be true in certain settings where other alternative diagnostic procedures exist. However, BMA is still essential and of great importance in most developing countries for establishing the diagnosis of many conditions. A difference was observed between males and females who underwent BMA during the study period. Notably, 128 (62.7%) were male and 76 (37.3%) were female; the male to female ratio was I:1.6.

In our study, in males, the most common diagnosis was hypersplenism 40 cases (31.3%), followed by visceral leishmaniasis 23 cases (17.9%). Meanwhile the most common hematological neoplasm was acute leukemia and chronic lymphoid leukemia nine cases (7%) for each, followed by chronic myeloid leukemia eight cases (6.3%).

In our study, in females, the most common diagnosis was acute leukemia II cases (14.5%), followed by hypersplenism 10 cases (13.2%). Males are affected by hypersplenism more than females in many studies.^{8,9} The exact cause can't be identified. In our society, females may be presented less than males to tertiary care facilities, and usually after serious illnesses like leukemia, as shown in our study.

Importantly, the most common age group that underwent the procedure was in the I5-30 age group. This finding suggests that the rate of suspected hematological disorders is high in the youngest population. Pancytopenia was observed to be the most common clinical indication encountered (48%). This is similar to the study conducted by Ahmed et al.¹⁰ However, pancytopenia was the third most common indication in a study done by Bashawri.¹¹

The study found visceral leishmaniasis to be the most common cause of pancytopenia in children, followed by hypersplenism. In adults, this was hypersplenism, followed by megaloblastic anemia. According to our study, the second common indication was suspected leukemia (26.5%), which is consistent with the finding of Pudasaini et al.⁵ and Bashawri.^{II}

We found that most of the BMA was hypercellular (60.17%), which is comparable to the observations of Marwah et al.¹² It is attributed to compensatory trilineage hyperplasia seen in the BMA due to peripheral pooling of blood cells within the enlarged spleen. Of importance is also the fact that hypersplenism was found to be the most common diagnosis in our study, which is similar to the results of Sreedevi et al.⁴

Erythroid hyperplasia emerges as the most common BMA finding in the study conducted by Pudasaini et al.⁵ In our laboratory, visceral leishmaniasis (kalazar) was the second most common diagnosis encountered, as evidenced in 3I (15.2%) of the cases. However, all of these cases, when traced back, were found to be from endemic areas of the disease in the west, Eritrea.

Acute leukemia was seen in 20 (9.8%) of the cases, which is lesser than the findings of Pudasaini et al. (12.3%). Acute leukemia cases were correlated with the clinical picture as well as the presence of more than 20% of blasts in the peripheral blood smear findings. The diagnosis was later confirmed by flowcytometry.

Megaloblastic anemia meanwhile was observed in I7 (8.3%) of the cases as compared to other studies of Pudasaini et al.⁵ and Atla et al.³—(12.3%) and (40%), respectively. The BMA findings in megaloblastic anemia were erythroid hyperplasia with megaloblatic changes and delay in maturation of myeloid series. The diagnosed confirmed later by biochemical methods.

In Eritrea, such nutritional deficiencies are a common phenomenon. Chronic myeloid leukemia was seen in 17 (8.3%) of all

IABLE 4. Bone Marrow Examination Findings			
Broad category (%)	Diagnosis	No. of patients	Percentage (%)
Nutritional anemia (13.7%)	Iron deficiency anemia	3	1.5
	Megaloblastic anemia	17	8.3
	Hemolytic anemia	8	3.9
Hypoplastic anemia (4.9%)	Aplastic anemia	9	4.4
	Pure red cell aplasia	1	0.5
Hematological malignancy (28%)	Acute leukemia	20	9.8
	Chronic myeloid leukemia	17	8.3
	Chronic lymphoid leukemia	15	7.4
	Multiple myeloma	2	1.0
	Polycythemia vera	2	1.0
	Essential thrombocythemia	1	0.5
Idiopathic thrombocytopenia purpura (4.4%)	Idiopathic thrombocytopenia purpura	9	4.4
Others (42.7%)	Hypersplenism	41	20.1
	Visceral leishmanasis	31	15.2
	Infection	10	4.9
	Gaucher's disease	I	0.5
	Secondary malignancy	I	0.5
Normal bone marrow (7.8%)	Normal bone marrow	16	7.8
Total		204	100

cases and correlated with the presence of all stages of maturation in the peripheral blood smear findings and high total white blood cells in the CBC, which was confirmed by positive Philadelphia chromosome testing. Chronic lymphoid leukemia was seen in 15 (7.4%) of the cases, was correlated with the high lymphocytes cells in the CBC, and confirmed by flowcytometry; IO (4.9%) of these cases were found to have infectious etiology other than leishmaniasis.

The rarity of the cases diagnosed in this study may be attributed to the fact that there is a long list of differential diagnoses for pyrexia of unknown origin (PUO), thus implying that BMA can hardly settle the diagnosis. The role of BMA in settling the diagnosis in PUO has been well documented by some authors,¹³ as BMA diagnostic was seen in only 16.5%. Hypoplastic anemia was observed in 10 (4.9%) of the cases, which is similar to the findings of Pudasaini et al.⁵ (5.3%).

In all cases of hypoplastic anemia, the marrow was hypocellular and all three lineages of the cell were suppressed. The diagnosis was based on the examination of fragments and clot section examination due to the unavailability of bone marrow biopsy. Both aspiration and trephine biopsy are recommended to be conducted simultaneously in cases of pancytopenia, especially if hypoplastic or aplastic anemia is suspected, though aspiration smears are known to be superior for morphological details. Bone marrow biopsy provides a more reliable index of cellularity, revealing bone marrow infiltration, fibrosis, and granulomas.¹⁴

Disorders of the platelet were observed in 4.4% of all cases. These were mostly accounted for by males in the age group of I5-30 years and diagnosed as immune thrombocytopenic purpura. Meanwhile other studies showed (6.21%), (14.5%), and (6.8%) cases of immune thrombocytopenic purpura, respectively, in their studies.^{12,15} Hemolytic anemia, which showed erythroid hyperplasia in BMA, was evidenced in 8 (3.9%) of these cases, and this diagnosis confirmed later by biochemical methods and genetic disorders. This finding is comparable to that of Jha et al.¹⁴ (19.6%).

Microcytic anemia seems to be an uncommon finding as we came across only three such cases (I.5%). The BMA finding in microcytic anemia was erythroid hyperplasias that were subsequently labeled as iron deficiency anemia after conducting an iron profile study. We encountered two cases (I.0%) of multiple myeloma which showed 22% and I2% plasma cells and correlated with the biochemical, radiological, and clinical findings compared to that of Kibria et al.¹⁵ (9.04%).

Two cases (4.6%) of polycythemia Vera showed trilineage hyperplasia and correlated with CBC and peripheral blood findings along with the Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) mutation study. One case of Gaucher's disease was diagnosed by a bone marrow examination. As per our finding, bone marrow examination is helpful in making the primary diagnosis of storage disease.

In children, age less than 15 years (56 cases), the most common non-neoplastic disorders were found to be visceral leishmaniasis with 17 cases (30.4%), followed by hypersplenism with eight cases (14.3%). On the other hand, the most common neoplastic hematological disorder was acute leukemia II cases (19.6%). In adults whose age ranged from 15 to 45 years (99 cases), hypersplenism was the most common non-neoplastic disorders with 28 cases (28.3%), followed by megaloblastic anemia with 14 cases (14.1%) and visceral leishmaniasis with 13 cases (13.1%). Similarly, the most common neoplastic hematological disorder was chronic myeloid leukemia nine cases (9.1%), followed by acute leukemia eight cases (8.1%).

Among the elderly, in cases of age more than 45 years (49 cases), the most common non-neoplastic disorder was hypersplenism with nine cases (18.4%). Meanwhile, the most common neoplastic hematological disorders were chronic lymphoid leukemia with 13 cases (26.5%), followed by chronic myeloid leukemia with 10 cases (20.4%). The rate of neoplastic hematological disorders was also found to be considerable (28%), although it is lower than that found in a study done in Saudi Arabia.^{II}

The most common hematological malignancy was acute leukemia 20 cases (9.8%), followed by chronic myeloid leukemia with 17 cases (8.3) and chronic lymphoid leukemia with 15 cases (7.4%). The rate of non-neoplastic hematological disorders was seen in (63.6%) of cases. On the other hand, the most common non-neoplastic hematological disorders were hypersplenism with 41 cases (20.1%), followed by visceral leishmaniasis with 31 cases (15.1%) and megaloblastic anemia with 17 cases (8.3%). Among all cases, it was found that 7.9% of BMA was absolutely normal without any pathology.

In this study, we observed that the most common BMA finding was hypersplenism diagnosed by trilineage hyperplasia on BMA and enlarged spleen. This necessitates further investigation in order to detect the underlying causes of splenomegaly. We also noticed 4I (20.1%) of the cases with visceral leishmaniasis and infectious etiology other than leishmaniasis.

There is a strong need for collaboration between physicians, hematologist, pathologists, oncologists, and technicians in order to improve the diagnostic yield of bone marrow examination. Although BMA and biopsy are an uncomfortable procedure for the patient and should only be performed when there is a clear clinical indication.¹⁶ It is a useful technique to diagnose blood disorders for various systemic illnesses.

Limitations of our study include the small size of sample and time constraints that may not allow for generalization. Despite this limitation, this study is novel in that it is the first of its kind in Asmara, Eritrea and is expected to constitute a database for future studies.

BMA is a useful investigation tool in clinical practice. It is a safe and cost-effective procedure, particularly in a resource-scarce country like Eritrea. In this regard, the study provides valuable insights into the most common hematological malignancy and non-neoplastic hematological disorders in Eritrea.

In our study, the most common indication for this procedure was pancytopenia, whereas the most common finding was hypersplenism. This study also focused on the need to rule out the underlying causes of hypersplenism by conducting further investigations to detect the root cause of hyperactive spleen. It is important to note that there were considerable percentages of cases diagnosed with visceral leishmaniasis.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the National Health Laboratory, Asmara, Eritrea (registration number: 34/19 and the approval date is 08/06/2019).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from all participants who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

Disclaimer: The source of this study is National Health Laboratory, Asmara, Eritrea.

REFERENCES

- I. Rock WA Jr, Stass SA (eds.). Handbook of Hematologic Pathology. New York, NY: Marcel Dekker, Inc, 2000:1-26.
- 2. Bain BJ. Bone marrow aspiration. J Clin Pathol. 2001;45:657-663.
- Atla BL, Anem V, Dasari A. Prospective study of bone marrow in haematological disorders. Int J Res Med Sci. 2015;3(8):1917-1921. [CrossRef]
- Sreedevi P, Parankusa N, Satyanarayana Rao P, Sreedhar T. Spectrum of haematological disorders detected by bone marrow aspiration in a span of 3 months period. *IOSR J Dental Med Sci.* 2016;15(4):52-56. [CrossRef]
- Pudasaini S, Prasad KBR, Rauniyar SK, et al. Interpretation of bone marrow aspiration in hematological disorder. *J Patho Nepal.* 2012;2(4):309-312. [CrossRef]
- 6. Bain BJ, Lewis SM, Sir Dacie JV. *Dacie and Lewis Practical Haematology*. IIth ed. Edinburgh: Elsevier Churchill Livingstone, 2012.
- Remberger M, Ringdén O, Mattsson J. Bone marrow aspiration technique has deteriorated in recent years. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. 2015;50(7):1007-1009. [CrossRef]
- Timite-Konan M, Kouame KJ, Konan A, et al. Etiology of splenomegaly in children in the tropics. 178 cases reviewed at the university hospital centre of Abidjan-Cocody (Ivory coast). Ann Pediatr (Paris). 1992;39(2):136-141.
- Hussain I, Ahmed I, Mohsin A, Muhammad A, Shah A. Causes of splenomegaly in adult local population presenting at tertiary care centre in Lahore. *Pakistan J Gastroenterol.* 2002;16(1):12-16. [CrossRef]
- Ahmed SQ, Khan OU, Zafar N. Utilization of bone marrow examination in a secondary care hospital. JRMC. 2011;15:40-41.
- Bashawri LA. Bone marrow examination. Indications and diagnostic value. Saudi Med J. 2002;23:191-196.
- Marwah N, Bhutani N, Singh S, Kalra R, Gupta M, Sen R. The spectrum of haematological disorders from bone marrow aspiration cytology in a tertiary care center. *Int J Curr Res.* 2017;9:44938-44941.
- Gupta R, Setia N, Arora P, Singh S, Singh T. Hematological profile in pyrexia of unknown origin: Role of bone marrow trephine biopsy vis-à-vis aspiration. *Hematology*. 2008;13(5):307-312. [CrossRef]
- Jha A, Sayami G, Adhikari RC, Panta D, Jha R. Bone marrow examination in cases of pancytopenia. J Nepal Med Assoc. 2008;47:12-17.
- Kibria SG, Islam MDU, Chowdhury ASMJ, et al. Prevalence of hematological disorder: A bone marrow study of 177 cases in a private hospital at Faridpur. *Faridpur Med Coll J.* 2010;5:11-13.
- Wilkins BS. Pitfalls in bone marrow pathology: Avoiding errors in bone marrow trephine biopsy diagnosis. J Clin Pathol. 2011;64(5):380-386. [CrossRef]

Original Article

Bloodstream Yeast Species and In Vitro Antifungal Susceptibility **Profiles**

Laila F. Nimri^l (b), Nasser M. Kaplan² (b), Rahmat I. Ishaq¹ (b)

Department of Laboratory Medical Sciences, Jordan University of Science and Technology, Irbid, Jordan ²Department of Pathology and Microbiology, Jordan University of Science and Technology, Irbid, Jordan

ORCID iDs of the authors: L.F.N. 0000-0002-049I-7524; N.M.K. 0000-0003-056I-I794; R.I.I. 0000-0002-4373-2565.

Cite this article as: Nimri LF, Kaplan NM, Ishaq RI. Bloodstream Yeast Species and In Vitro Antifungal Susceptibility Profiles. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 117-123.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

Bloodstream yeast infections have increased substantially in many countries worldwide and pose a significant threat. This study investigated the distribution of bloodstream yeast species and determined the antifungal susceptibility profiles.

MATERIAL and METHODS

A total of 52 yeast isolates were collected from the microbiology laboratory of the University Hospital. These isolates were collected from blood specimens that were submitted for culture test from in-patients, who have high body temperature. Of these isolates, 41 isolates of Candida spp. were identified using BrillianceTM Candida Agar, germ tube test, and tested for the chitin synthase I (CHSI) gene. Selected isolates were tested against seven antifungal agents by disk diffusion method, and the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) was determined by MIC Test Strips for the mutidrug resistant isolates. The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board.

RESULTS

Candida albicans accounted for 52%, C. glabrata (26.9%), C. krusei (9.6%), and C. tropicalis (6.7%). The newly emerging yeasts included C. parapsilosis, C. zeylanoides, C. apicola, Blastoschizomyces capitatus, Cryptococcus neoformans, Kluyveromyces, and Rhodotorula mucilaginosa. Most Candida species were highly susceptible to amphotericin B and caspofungin. Between 38 and 69% of C. albicans, isolates were resistant to the azoles. The non-Candida albicans (NCA) species showed different susceptibility patterns. Anidulafungin had the lowest MIC₉₀ at 0.047 μ g/mL. The CHSI gene was detected in *C. albicans* and in three NCA spp.

CONCLUSION

Identifying the isolated species and determining their susceptibility pattern are essential to alert physicians to infections with rare and uncommon fungal species to optimize the antifungal therapy.

Keywords: Bloodstream infections, Candida spp., chitin synthase I (CHSI) gene, Cryptococcus species, newly emerging yeasts

INTRODUCTION

Many Candida species pose no threat to humans as they live as harmless commensals in the gut flora, on the human skin and mucosa, and they are controlled by the host innate immune responses. However, Candida species can invade and cause disease when the immune system is compromised or mucosal barriers are disrupted.¹ In addition, overgrowths of some species have transformed these commensals into medically important agents causing infections in hospitals.²

There has been a steady increase in the incidence of invasive candidiasis since 1980s, which is largely due to the increasing population of immunocompromised individuals,³ with Candida albicans as one of the most common opportunistic pathogens. It colonizes and invades various tissues and organs causing systemic fungal infections (eg, hematogenous disseminated candidiasis). The non-Candida albicans (NCA) isolates such as C. krusei, C. tropicalis, and C. parapsilosis also have emerged as clinically significant opportunistic pathogens.⁴

The intrinsic resistance to antifungal therapy seen in some Candida species, and the development of acquired resistance during treatment is a major challenge for clinicians.⁵

Corresponding Author: Laila Nimri E-mail: nimri@just.edu.jo

Received: 30.07.2018 Accepted: 29.11.2020



🙃 🛈 😒 Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.

Chitin is an integral structural polysaccharide in fungal cell wall that is required for cell shape and morphogenesis. The hyphal cell walls of C. albicans have been reported to have higher chitin content than other yeasts,⁶ and the hyphae chitin synthase activity has been estimated to be twice that of yeast cells. Although chitin synthase 2 (CaChs2p) is the most abundant protein among the three C. albicans chitin synthases, it is not necessary for hyphal growth, viability, or virulence, whereas CaChsl is expressed in both yeast and hyphae at a lower level and maintains the integrity of the lateral cell wall. Chitin has also recently emerged as a significant player in the activation and attenuation of immune responses to fungi and other chitincontaining parasites.⁸ Therefore, the study of chitin synthase is important to the understanding of fungal growth and its potential as a target for the development of antifungal drugs. In addition, identifying the species of the isolates and determining the susceptibility pattern are essential for clinical management.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the species distribution and antifungal susceptibility profile of bloodstream yeast infections in Jordan.

The aim of this study was to identify yeast species prevalent in bloodstream infections (also known as candidemia) and to determine their antifungal susceptibility profiles.

MATERIALS and METHODS

This retrospective study was ethically approved by Jordan University of Science and Technology Internal Review Board (IRB) for research on human specimens.

A total of 52 yeast nonduplicate isolates that were submitted to the microbiology laboratory for blood culture between July 2013 and August 2014 were collected, each recovered from one patient with bloodstream infection. Blood cultures were routinely done from in-patients, who have high body temperature. By definition, all positive blood cultures for *Candida* species were considered infections.

Isolates were inoculated onto Sabouraud dextrose agar (SDA) (Oxoid, Hampshire, UK) plates to obtain pure cultures. Gramstained smears were prepared from overnight cultures and were viewed under the microscope for morphology. For the

Main Points

- Understanding the role of dominant *Candida* species in BSI and their antifungal susceptibility are crucial to optimize therapeutic and prophylaxis measures.
- *C. albicans* was the predominant species identified in 63.4% of the cases, and *C. tropicalis* was predominant among non-*albicans* species (12.2%). Most *Candida* species were susceptible to amphotericin B, most *C. albicans* isolates were resistant to posaconazole and voriconazole (69% each), and 61.5% were resistant to fluconazole.
- The identification of newly emerging bloodstream fungal pathogens such as *Cryptococcus neoformans, Rhodotor-ula mucilaginosa, Blastoschizomyces capitatus,* and *Kluy-veromyces* spp. should alert the clinical laboratories and increase the awareness of physicians and to their potential in similar cases.

rapid presumptive identification of *Candida* species, single colonies were inoculated on BrillianceTM *Candida* agar (Oxoid, Hampshire, UK) supplemented with chloramphenicol. All plates were incubated at 30°C for 24-48 hours. The color and morphology of colonies were recorded, and isolates were stored in Sabouraud dextrose broth at -80°C until tested.

The Germ tube test was used to differentiate *C. albicans* from other yeasts. A well isolated colony from overnight SDA culture was suspended into 2 mL of freshly pooled human sera, incubated at 35°C for 2-4 hours, and a drop of the suspension was micro-scopically examined for the formation of germ tubes. *C. albicans* grew as a yeast form at 30°C and the mycelial form at 35-42°C.⁹

Speciation of the *Candida* isolates was done using the Remel RapIDTM YEAST PLUS System (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Lenexa, KS, USA) following the manufacturer instructions. This system is based on enzyme technology that employs conventional and chromogenic substrates to identify yeasts and yeast-like organisms. The interpretation of reactions was done according to ERIC[®] electronic code compendium (http://www.remel.com/eric/) designed for Remel RapID Systems.

The antifungal susceptibility testing of selected isolates was done by disk diffusion method on Mueller-Hinton agar supplemented with 2% glucose and methylene blue dye according to Clinical Laboratory Standard Institute, 2009.10 Isolates were tested in triplicate against seven antifungal agents, namely, amphotericin B, caspofungin, and five azoles, which are fluconazole, itraconazole, ketoconazole, posaconazole, and voriconazole (Liofilchem[®], Italy). The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) was determined for 24 isolates (19 C. albicans isolates and five C. tropicalis isolates) that showed resistance to two or more antifungal agents by the disk diffusion. MIC was determined using the MIC Test Strips (Liofilchem, Italy) on RMPI 1640 medium supplemented with 0.2% glucose and 1.5% agar. The 0.5 McFarland inoculum was swabbed in three directions on the entire RPMI-agar plate, and the MIC Test Strips were applied. The MIC was read after 24-48 hours, where the border of the elliptical inhibition zone edge intersected the scale on the strips (at the point of approximately 80% growth inhibition). The MIC50 and MIC90 values are the lowest concentration of the antibiotic at which 50% and 90% of the tested isolates were inhibited, respectively.

Control Strains

The quality of test performance was controlled by including the reference strains *C. albicans* (ATCC 10231), *C. parapsilosis* (ATCC 22019), and *C. krusei* (ATCC 6258) in the antifungal susceptibility testing and in the MIC test.

Detection of CHSI Gene by PCR

This virulence gene is present in four *Candida* species (*C. albicans, C. tropicalis, C. parapsilosis,* and *C. glabrata*).^{II} DNA was extracted from the isolates and controls using Gentra Puregene Yeast/Bact Kit (Qiagen, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions, and DNA was stored at –20°C until tested.

The PCR master mixture contained I μ L of the prepared DNA and GoTaq[®]Green Master Mix (Promega, USA). This premixed ready-to-use solution contains bacterial-derived *Taq* DNA polymerase, MgCl₂, dNTPs, and reaction buffers at optimal concentrations for efficient amplification of DNA templates; it

also contains blue and yellow dyes for monitoring the progress during electrophoresis. The sequences of primers used in PCRtargeted sequences within the *CHSI* gene of *C. albicans* were primer I, 5'-CGCCTCTGA TGGTGATGAT-3', and primer 2, 5'-TCCGGTATCACCTGGCTC-3'. Primers, PCR mix ,and amplification conditions are those described by Jordan.^{II} *C. parapsilosis* (ATCC 22019) was used as positive control, and the negative control tube containing the mixture with no DNA template was used in every PCR run. The PCR thermal cycler (Bio-Rad, USA) was used in all amplifications.

The amplicon size for each of the four *Candida* species is *C. albicans* (122 bp), *C. parapsilosis* (311 bp), *C. tropicalis* (519 bp), and *C. glabrata* (535 bp). Five microliters of the PCR products was electrophoresed along with 100 DNA ladder (Promega, USA) in 2% agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide. The DNA bands were visualized with UV light in a gel documentation system (Bio-Rad, USA), and images were taken.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to describe the isolates and the antifungal susceptibility testing of selected isolates. Categorical data are expressed as numbers and percentages.

RESULTS

A single species was identified in each sample. The Remel RapID YEAST PLUS System identified 41 isolates as *Candida* spp., except one isolate that could not be identified by this system (Table I).

The colonies of the isolates exhibited different colors based on the chromogenic color reactions on Brilliance *Candida* agar. All *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* species produced green and blue colonies, respectively. *C. krusei* produced light pink and beige brown colonies, while *C. glabrata* produced white or beige brown/yellow colonies.

The distribution of the identified yeasts is shown in Table I. Seven different *Candida* species were identified in the 4I *Candida* isolates, and *C. albicans* (63.4%) was the predominate species. Ten NCA isolates were identified, and *C. tropicalis*

TABLE I. Distribution of Yeast Ger YEAST PLUS System	nera as Identified	by Remel RapID
Identified yeasts		Total (%)
	Candida spp.*	41 (78.8)
	C. albicans	26 (63.4)
	C. tropicalis	5 (12.2)
	C. glabrata	4 (9.8)
	C. parapsilosis	2 (4.9)
	C. zeylanoides	2 (4.9)
	C. apicola	I (2.4)
	C. krusei	I (2.4)
Cryptococcus neoformans		3 (5.7) [†]
Rhodotorula mucilaginosa		5 (9.6)
Blastoschizomyces capitatus		(.9)
Kluyveromyces spp.		(.9)
Not identified		(.9)
Total		52 (100)
*Percentage of <i>Candida</i> species cal	culated out of 4l is	olates.

[†]Percentage of non-*Candida* species calculated out of 41 isolates.

TABLE 2. Diameter of Zone of Inhibition in Millimeters for OneCandida apicola (N = I) and Two Candida zeylanoides isolates					
Antifungals	C. apicola	C. zeylanoides			
Amphotericin B	7	7, 20			
Caspofungin	7	21, 15			
Fluconazole	0	33, 41			
Itraconazole	0	32, 32			
Ketoconazole	27	34, 48			
Posaconazole	17	12, 25			
Voriconazole	0	33, 40			

(12.2%) was the most common followed by *C. glabrata* (9.6%). The isolates also included *C. parapsilosis* species complex, *C. zeylanoides*, *C. apicola*, and *C. krusei*.

The presumptive color identification of the isolates on the Brilliance *Candida* agar media was confirmed by the Remel RapID YEAST PLUS System. In addition, 10 isolates were identified as yeast genera other than *Candida* (Table I).

The diameter of zone of inhibition for susceptibility was interpreted (Table 2) as described using the CLSI¹⁰ document for caspofungin, fluconazole, and voriconazole. It varied between the antifungal agents and was as follows: *C. albicans* and *C. parapsilosis* (\geq 19), *C. tropicalis* (\geq 25), and *C. krusei* (\geq 16). The criteria used for amphotericin B and posaconazole were those proposed by Nguyen et al.¹² and Carrillo-Munoz et al.,¹³ respectively. As for itraconazole and ketoconazole, we followed the criteria by Rosco diagnostics (www.rosco.dk/gfx/pdf/yeasts.pdf).

The diameter of inhibition zone for *C. apicola* and *C. zeyla-noides* is presented in Table 2 as there were no standard interpretive criteria for these species. *Candida* species were highly susceptible to amphotericin B and caspofungin (Table 3). *C. albicans* resistance to the azole group ranged from 38 to 69%.

All five *Candida tropicalis* isolates were susceptible to amphotericin B, caspofungin, 4 (80%), were susceptible to itraconazole, and isolates showed variable resistance to the remaining azoles (60% to ketoconazole and 100% to fluconazole).

The two *C. parapsilosis* isolates were susceptible to all the azoles. All *C. glabrata* isolates were susceptible to most of the azoles; however, they showed less susceptibility to posaconazole and voriconazole (Table 3). *C. krusei* is known to have intrinsic resistance to fluconazole, and the one isolate in this study was only resistant to posaconazole.

The MIC test was performed for 24 isolates (I9 *C. albicans* and five *C. tropicalis*) that were resistant to more than one antifungal agent by the disk diffusion method. After 24 hours of incubation, a symmetrical inhibition ellipse centered along the strip was formed. The MIC was read directly from the scale on each strip in μ g/mL, at the point where the edge of the inhibition ellipse intersects with the MIC Test Strip. The macrocolonies in the ellipse were read at 80% inhibition, and the partial inhibition of growth giving trailing microcolonies of decreasing size end points was ignored.

The supplementation of RPMI agar with additional glucose (2% final concentration) provided optimal growth of these species

IABLE 3. Susceptibility	/ Pattern of	Candida Species	Isolated from	Bloodsfream	Infections

	Number of isolates of each species					
Antifungal agents	C. albicans (N = 26)	C. glabrata (N = 4)	<i>C. krusei</i> (N = I)	C. parapsilois (N $=$ 2)	C. tropicalis (N = 5)	
Amphotericin B (20 μg)						
S	23 (88.5)	4 (100)	I (IOO)	2 (100)	5 (100)	
DD/I	I (3.8)	0(0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
R	2 (7.7)	0(0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Caspofungin (5 µg)						
S	23 (88.5)	4 (100)	I (IOO)	I (50)	5 (100)	
DD/I	0(0)	0(0)	0 (0)	I (50)	0 (0)	
R	3 (11.5)	0(0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Fluconazole (I00 μg)						
S	10 (38.5)	4 (100)	NA	2 (100)	0 (0)	
D/I	0(0)	0(0)	NA	0 (0)	0 (0)	
R	16 (61.5)	0(0)	NA	0 (0)	5 (100)	
ltraconazole (50 μg)						
S	9 (34.6)	4 (100)	I (IOO)	2 (100)	4 (80)	
DD/I	I (3.8)	0(0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
R	16 (61.5)	0(0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	I (20)	
Ketoconazole (15 µg)						
S	5 (19.2)	3 (75)	I (IOO)	2 (100)	I (20)	
DD/I	II (42.3)	I (25)	0 (0)	0 (0)	I (20)	
R	10 (38)	0(0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (60)	
Posaconazole (5 µg)						
S	6 (23.1)	I (25)	0 (0)	2 (100)	I (20)	
DD/I	2 (7.7)	I (25)	0(0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
R	18 (69.2)	2 (50)	I (IOO)	0(0)	4 (80)	
Voriconazole (I µg)						
S	8 (30.8)	3 (75)	I (IOO)	2 (100)	I (20)	
DD/I	0(0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0(0)	0 (0)	
R	18 (69.2)	I (25)	0 (0)	0(0)	4 (80)	

S, susceptible; R, resistant; DD/I, dose dependent/intermediate; NA, not applicable; percentages are shown in parentheses.

and minimized the problem of trailing endpoints due to partial inhibition of growth by azoles.¹⁴

The MIC breakpoints for anidulafungin, fluconazole, voriconazole, and caspofungin were carefully interpreted according to CLSI^{I5} (Table 4). However, the criteria used for amphotericin B and posaconazole were as previously proposed.^{12,13}

There was no current break point for itraconazole, and six *C. albicans* isolates and three *C. tropicalis* did not have zone of inhibition.

The lowest $\rm MIC_{50}$ of the tested isolates was recorded for ani-dulafungin (0.012 $\mu g/mL)$ followed by itraconazole with an $\rm MIC_{50}$ at 0.016, and amphotericin B and voriconazole had low

 MIC_{90} (I.5 $\mu g/mL);$ however, no clinical breakpoint is available at present (Table 4).

Amplicons of the *CHSI* gene (I22 bp) were observed in *C. albicans, C. tropicalis, C. glabrata, C. parapsilosis,* and the positive control (*C. parapsilosis* ATCC 22019), and not in the negative control (*C. krusei* ATCC 6258).

DISCUSSION

The results of this study report on the species distribution and newly emerging and rare yeast species isolated from bloodstream infections. *C. albicans* was the predominant species identified as 63.4%, and *C. tropicalis* was predominant among NCA isolates (12.2%), followed by *C. parapsilosis* species complex and *C. zeylanoides* each (4.9%).

TABLE 4. MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ Range and the Breakpoints for the Multidrug Resistant Isolate

	No of C albicans	No of C tropicalis MIC (µg/		MIC (μg/mL)		Breakpoint
Antifungal agents	isolates	isolates	Range	MIC ₅₀	MIC ₉₀	(μg/mL)
Amphotericin B	18	5	0.23-1.5	I	1.5	≥I
Anidulafungin	18	5	0.002-0.12	0.012	0.047	\geq I
Caspofungin	17	5	0.125-12	1	3	\geq I
Fluconazole	12	3	0.012-192	1	192	≥8
Itraconazole	13	2	0.002-2	0.016	0.25	NA
Posaconazole	14	3	0.064-8	0.19	15	≥4
Voriconazole	13	3	0.008-4	0.047	1.5	\geq I

MIC, minimum inhibitor concentration; NA, not applicable.

Candida species rank fourth in the United States and seventh in Europe among the causative agents of BSI in hospitals.^{16,17} Although C. albicans remains the most common isolate obtained from invasive fungal infections and ICU patients, C. glabrata has emerged as the second most common cause of invasive candidiasis in the United States.¹⁸ Despite the reported shift of species distribution, the results of our study showed that C. albicans is still the dominant species in bloodstream infections. The higher incidence of C. albicans infection can be largely explained by the presence of this yeast among the normal mucosal flora of most humans. These results are in agreement with earlier studies that recovered C. albicans in 47.5% of the BSI.¹⁹ The bloodstream NCA identified in our study is in accordance with those reported earlier in candidemia cases (35-65%) in the general patient population.²⁰ However, another study reported greater frequency of the NCA species than that of C. albicans with C. parapsilosis as the most frequent in BSI.²¹ Unlike other systemic mycoses, invasive *Candida* infections in immune compromised patients originate most frequently from endogenous reservoirs; however, exogenous infections are frequently reported in hospitalized patients.²²

Our antifungal susceptibility testing results showed that all *Candida* species were susceptible to amphotericin B, with the exception of two *C. albicans* isolates that were resistant. The MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ for most species fall within what is considered a resistant range. The resistance of *C. albicans* isolates to the azoles group was 38-69%. The azole antifungals are the most frequent class used to treat *Candida* infections. Recent exposure to azoles and antibacterial drugs were reported as important risk factors for infection with fluconazole-resistant *Candida* spp.²³

C. parapsilosis species complex in our study was susceptible to all tested antifungal agents (Table 3). Most of the *C. albicans* isolates were resistant to posaconazole and voriconazole (69% each), and 61.5% were resistant to fluconazole. The least resistance was observed to caspofungin (II.5%) and ketoconazole (38%). All *Candida* strains were reported earlier to be susceptible to amphotericin B and caspofungin, while 10.8% of the isolates were resistant to fluconazole.²⁴ Our four *C. glabrata* isolates were susceptible to several azoles, but they were less susceptible to posaconazole (Table 3). The one single *C. krusei* isolate in this study was only resistant to posaconazole.

A retrospective, case-comparative study in the United States reported that *C. albicans, C. tropicalis,* and *C. parapsilosis* that are generally considered to be susceptible to fluconazole accounted for 36% of isolates with a reduced susceptibility and 48% of resistant isolates.²⁵ One mechanism of resistance identified in *C. albicans* is the presence of point mutations in *ERGII.*²⁶

Cross-resistance between the azoles among *Candida* species to multiple antifungal agents is also an important concern. It has been demonstrated for *C. glabrata, C. albicans, C. tropica-lis,* and *C. parapsilosis.*³

Acquired resistance is generally less common than intrinsic resistance; however, data from various studies suggest that it is beginning to emerge in some countries. There are intrinsically resistant strains of *C. albicans* that can be part of a commensal growth or can be acquired from the environment or other individuals. Resistant strains of *C. albicans* can occur as a result of the normal distribution of MICs that all species exhibit, or they can develop resistance through several mechanisms.²⁷ There is the possibility that a strain can be induced to be resistant by exposure to the drug over long periods. In these cases, the drug itself does not cause resistance but, rather, selects for the growth of the more resistant cells in the population. In addition, a large population of yeast cells under selective drug pressure, specific random mutations that render the cell slightly more resistant, will eventually become the dominant strain in the population. Antifungal drug resistance can lead to the development of infections in high-risk patients receiving antifungal prophylaxis.

Primary resistance among certain fungi without prior exposure to the drug, eg, resistance of *C. krusei* to fluconazole and *Cryptococcus neoformans* to echinocandins, emphasizes the importance of the identification of fungal species in clinical specimens. However, secondary resistance develops among previously susceptible strains after exposure to the antifungal agent such as strains resistance of *C. albicans* and *C. neoformans* to fluconazole, which is usually dependent on altered gene expression.²⁸

The *CHSI* gene was selected for PCR amplification because this virulence gene can identify four medically important *Candida* species, namely, *C. albicans, C. tropicalis, C. parapsilosis,* and *C. glabrata*, and it was detected in the four species of our isolates. This method allows the relatively rapid identification of *Candida* species in conjunction with morphologically and physiologically based identification procedures.

It is worth mentioning the identification of rare and newly emerging bloodstream fungal pathogens in this study by Remel RapID YEAST PLUS System (Table I). They were three *C. neoformans*, five *Rhodotorula mucilaginosa*, one *Blastoschizomyces capitatus*, and one *Kluyveromyces* spp. These rare invasive yeast pathogens were defined by the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Fungal Infection Study Group, and the European Confederation of Medical Mycology.²⁹

C. neoformans was first reported in dialysis-associated bacteremia in a patient with renal failure, who developed fungemia during the treatment, where this yeast species grew in the catheter tip and blood culture.³⁰ Cryptococci generally are found in soil contaminated with pigeon feces and are transmitted to humans primarily through inhalation. *C. neoformans* is one of the most important agents of the opportunistic mycoses.³ *Cryptococcus* invasive infections are commonly associated with immunosuppressed individuals, those with liver cirrhosis, diabetes mellitus, or other medical conditions,³¹ while being extremely rare in healthy individuals.³²

Rhodotorula species were considered as nonvirulent saprophytes and common contaminant organisms. However, they have emerged as opportunistic pathogens, particularly in immunocompromised patients. *Rhodotorula* infection was first reported in 1985 in the medical literature, and the number of human infections increased after that time,³³ most likely because of the wider use of immunosuppressant and/or the use of central venous catheters. Bloodstream infections with *Rhodotorula* species were reported in 43 cases at Duke University Medical Center, USA, between 1960 and 2000.³⁴ *B. capitatus* (formerly known as *Trichosporon* spp. and *Geotrichum capitatum*) was identified in one bloodstream case in our study. Infection with this rare yeasty was first reported in Switzerland³⁵ in a leukemic patient. *Kluyveromyces* spp. was identified in one case in our study, and this uncommon yeast species (*Kluyveromyces marxianus*, anamorph *Candida kefyr*) was earlier isolated from a patient with fungemia.³⁶

The limitations of our study are mainly related to its retrospective nature, and therefore, we were unable to include the initial treatment and the follow-up on whether there was a persistence of positive blood cultures after the initiation of antifungal therapy. In addition, the low number of patients has limited the statistical power of the study.

In conclusion, several newly emerging yeast pathogens are reported in this study. These results should alert the clinical laboratories to the potential of rare fungi in similar cases. Identifying the species of the isolates and determining their susceptibility pattern are essential to optimize the therapeutic decisions regarding rational antifungal therapy.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical committee approval was received from the University Internal Review Board (IRB).

Informed Consent: N/A

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - L.N., N.Q; Design - L.N., N.Q.; Supervision - L.N., N.Q.; Resource - N.Q.; Materials - L.N.; Data Collection and/ or Processing - L.N., N.Q., R.I.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - L.N., N.Q., R.I.; Literature Search - L.N., N.Q., R.I.; Writing - L.N., N.Q., R.I.; Critical Reviews - L.N., N.Q.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: This work was supported by grant No. 211/2014 from the Deanship of Research at Jordan University of Science & Technology.

REFERENCES

- Moyes DL, Richardson JP, Naglik JR. Candida albicans-epithelial interactions and pathogenicity mechanisms: Scratching the surface. Virulenc. 2015;6(4):338-346. [CrossRef]
- Sardi JC, Scorzoni L, Bernardi T, Fusco-Almeida AM, Mendes Giannini MJ. Candida species: Current epidemiology, pathogenicity, biofilm formation, natural antifungal products and new therapeutic options. J Med Microbiol. 2013;62(1):10-24. [CrossRef]
- Pfaller MA, Diekema DJ. Epidemiology of invasive mycoses in North America. Crit Rev Microbiol. 2010;36(1):1-353. [CrossRef]
- Papon N, Courdavault V, Clastre M, Bennett RJ. Emerging and emerged pathogenic *Candida* species: Beyond the *Candida* albicans paradigm. *PLOS Pathogens*. 2013;9:e1003550. [CrossRef]
- Sanguinetti M, Posteraro B, Lass-Flörl C. Antifungal drug resistance among *Candida* species: Mechanisms and clinical impact. *Mycoses*. 2015;58(S2):2-13. [CrossRef]
- Elorza MV, Sentandreu R, Ruiz-Herrera J. Isolation and characterization of yeast monomorphic mutants of *Candida albicans. J Bacteriol.* 1994;176(8):2318-2325. [CrossRef]
- Chen-Wu JL, Zwicker J, Bowen AR, Robbins PW. Expression of chitin synthase genes during yeast and hyphal growth phases of *Candida albicans. Mol Microbiol.* 1992;6(4):497-502. [CrossRef]
- Lenardon MD, Munro CA, Gow NA. Chitin synthesis and fungal pathogenesis. *Curr Opin Microbiol.* 2010;13(4):416-423. [CrossRef]

- Lee KH, Shin WS, Kim D, Koh CM. The presumptive identification of Candida albicans with germ tube induced by high temperature. Yonsei Med J. 1999;40(5):420-424. [CrossRef]
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Method for Antifungal Disk Diffusion Susceptibility Testing of Yeasts; Approved Guideline. 2nd ed., M44-A2. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, 2009.
- II. Jordan JA. PCR identification of four medically important *Candida* species by using a single primer pair. *J Clin Microbiol.* 1994;32(12):2962-2967. [CrossRef]
- Nguyen MH, Clancy CJ, Yu VL. Do in vitro susceptibility data predict the microbiologic response to amphotericin B? Results of a prospective study of patients with *Candida* fungemia. *Infect Dis.* 1998;177(2):425-430. [CrossRef]
- Carrillo-Munoz AJ, Tur-Tur C, Hernandaz-Molina JM, et al. Antifungal activity of posaconazole against *Candida* spp. and non-*Candida* clinical yeasts isolates. *Rev Esp Quimioter*. 2010;23:122-125.
- Pfaller MA, Messer SA, Karlsson A, Bolmström A. Evaluation of the Etest method for determining fluconazole susceptibilities of 402 clinical yeast isolates by using three different agar media. J Clin Microbiol. 1998;36(9):2586-2589. [CrossRef]
- 15. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Reference Method for Broth Dilution Antifungal Susceptibility Testing of Yeasts, Approved Standard. 3rd ed., CLSI document M27-A3. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, 2008.
- Marchetti O, Bille J, Fluckiger U. Fungal infection network of Switzerland. Epidemiology of candidaemia in Swiss tertiary care hospitals: Secular trends, 1991-2000. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2004;38(3):31I-320. [CrossRef]
- Wisplinghoff H, Bischoff T, Tallent SM, Seifert H, Wenzel RP, Edmond MB. Nosocomial bloodstream infections in US hospitals: Analysis of 24,179 cases from a prospective nationwide surveillance study. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2004;39(3):309-317. [CrossRef]
- Pfaller MA, Messer SA, Hollis RJ, et al. Trends in species distribution and susceptibility to fluconazole among bloodstream isolates of *Candida* species in the United States. *Diag Microbiol Infect Dis.* 1999;33(4):217-222. [CrossRef]
- Dagi HT, Findik D, Senkeles C, Arslan U. Identification and antifungal susceptibility of *Candida* species isolated from bloodstream infections in Konya, Turkey. *Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob*. 2016;15:36. [CrossRef]
- Motta AL, Duboc de Almeida GM, de Almeida Júnior JN, Burattini MN, Rossi F. Candidemia epidemiology and susceptibility profile in the largest Brazilian teaching hospital complex. *Braz J Infect Dis.* 2010;14(5):441-448. [CrossRef]
- Bruder-Nascimento A, Camargo CH, Sugizaki MF, et al. Species distribution and susceptibility profile of *Candida* species in a Brazilian public tertiary hospital. *BMC Res Notes*. 2010;3:1-5. [CrossRef]
- 22. de Pauw BE. What are fungal infections? *Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis.* 2011;3(1):e2011001. [CrossRef]
- 23. Ben-Ami R, Olshtain-Pops K, Krieger M, et al. Antibiotic exposure as a risk factor for fluconazole-resistant *Candida* bloodstream infection. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2012;56(5):2518-2523. [CrossRef]
- 24. Eksi F, Gayyurhan ED, Balci I. In vitro susceptibility of *Candida* species to four antifungal agents assessed by the reference broth microdilution method. *Scientific World J.* 2013;236903 (6 pages).
- Oxman DA, Chow JK, Frendl G, et al. Candidaemia associated with decreased in vitro fluconazole susceptibility: Is *Candida* speciation predictive of the susceptibility pattern? *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2010;65(7):I460-I465. [CrossRef]
- Flowers SA, Barker KS, Berkow EL, Toner G, Chadwick SG. Gainof-function mutations in UPC2 are a frequent cause of ERGII upregulation in azole-resistant clinical isolates of *Candida albicans. Eukaryot Cell.* 2012;11(10):1289-1299. [CrossRef]
- White TC, Marr KA, Bowden RA. Clinical, cellular, and molecular factors that contribute to antifungal drug resistance. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 1998;11(2):382-402. [CrossRef]

- Alves SH, Lopes JO, Costa JM, Klock C. Development of secondary resistance to fluconazole in *Cryptococcus neoformans* isolated from a patient with AIDS. *Rev Inst Med Trop São Paulo*. 1997;39:359-361. [CrossRef]
- Arendrup MC, Boekhout T, Akova M, Meis JF, Cornely OA, Lortholary O. European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases Fungal Infection Study Group; European Confederation of Medical Mycology, ESCMID and ECMM joint clinical guidelines for the diagnosis and management of rare invasive yeast infections. *Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* 2014;Suppl. 3:76-98. [CrossRef]
- Tuon FF, Morales HM, Penteado-Filho SR, da-Silva MM, Quadros ID, El Hamoui A. Central venous catheter-related bloodstream infection and *Cryptococcus neoformans. Braz J Infect Dis.* 2009;13:317-318.
- Lin Y-Y, Shiau S, Fang C-T. Risk factors for invasive *Cryptococcus* neoformans diseases: A case-control study. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10:e0119090. [CrossRef]

- Mada PK, Alam M. Cryptococcus (Cryptococcosis). In StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing, 2017. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK431060/.
- Miceli MH, Díaz JA, Lee SA. Emerging opportunistic yeast infections. Lancet Infect Dis. 2011;11:142-151. [CrossRef]
- Braun DK, Kaufmann CA. *Rhodotorula* fungemia: A life-threatening complication of indwelling central venous catheters. *Mycoses*. 1992;35:305-308.
- Oelz O, Schaffner A, Frick P, Schaer G. *Trichosporon capitatum*: Thrush-like oral infection, local invasion, fungaemia and metastatic abscess formation in a leukaemic patient. *J Infect*. 1983;6:183-185. [CrossRef]
- Taj-Aldeen SJ, AbdulWahab A, Kolecka A, Deshmukh A, Meis JF, Boekhout T. Uncommon opportunistic yeast bloodstream infections from Qatar. *Med Mycol.* 2014;52:552-6. https://doi.org/10.1093/ mmycol/myu016

Original Article

The Suitability of Silk Fibroin Based Biofilms for Cartilage Tissue Engineering

Chidi Wilson Nwekwo^{l,2} (b), Rasime Kalkan^{3,4} (b), Terin Adali^{1,2,5} (b)

Department of Biomedical Engineering, Near East University Facult of Engineering, Mersin, Turkey

²Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials Research Center, Center of Excellence, Near East University, Mersin, Turkey

³Department of Medical Genetics, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Mersin, Turkey

⁴DESAM Institute, Near East University, Mersin, Turkey

⁵SUNUM Nanotechnology Research Center, Sabancı University, İstanbul, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: C.W.N. 0000-0001-7621-3019; R.K. 0000-0002-6095-7352; T.A. 0000-0003-1867-3935.

Cite this article as: Nwekwo CW, Kalkan R, Adali T. The Suitability of Silk Fibroin Based Biofilms for Cartilage Tissue Engineering. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 124-128.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

Silkworms and spiders produce silk fibroin (SF). SF protein has unique characteristics, which includes mechanical properties, biodegradation, biocompatibility, and the ability to support the differentiation of stem cells along the osteogenic lineage. These characteristics makes SF a favorable biomaterial for cartilage tissue engineering. The aim of this study was to design a SF biofilm and then to test the biocompatibility and cytotoxicity of the designed SF biofilm.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Characterization was executed by scanning electron microscopy and Fourier transform infrared spectrophotometer analysis spectrophotometry. Normal human articular chondrocytes were seeded on biofilm and cultured up to 2 weeks (5% CO₂, 95% air and 37°C) under the standard culture conditions. Phase contrast microscopy and cell proliferation assay (3-(4, 5-dimethythiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay) was applied for evaluation of cell attachment and cell growth.

RESULTS

The viability of cells was linearly correlated with optical density, and chondrocyte viability in the SF film was found to be significantly higher.

CONCLUSION

These results indicated that SF film supports cell proliferation without side effects and the SF film is a potential material as a cartilage tissue engineering matrix.

Keywords: Biofilm, silk fibroin, chondrocyte, MTT, tissue engineering

INTRODUCTION

Adult articular cartilage has a limited self-repair capacity.¹ Repair and/or regeneration of articular cartilage defects is challenging in orthopedics.² Autologous cell-based tissue engineering holds a promising option for the repair trauma or aging related cartilage damages.¹ Cell based therapies or tissue engineering applications for in vitro cartilage tissue development need cells that are able to undergo chondrogenic differentiation with appropriate growth factors and suitable biomaterials, which provides a favorable microenvironment of cell growth and new cartilage-specific extracellular matrix (ECM) formation.¹

There are different types of biomaterials that can be used for cartilage repair such as naturally occurring, synthetic, biodegradable, and nonbiodegradable materials.^{3,4} Silk fibroin (SF), chitosan (CHI), hyaluronan, and alginate are most frequently used polymers in cartilage tissue engineering for development of ECM in tissue regeneration applications.^{5–8}

Silk proteins are produced from cocooned silk worms or spiders.^{9–II} High biocompatibility capacity,¹² robust mechanical properties, biological compatibility, and blood compatibility make SF protein an important natural biomaterial in tissue engineering.¹³

Corresponding Author: Terin Adalı E-mail: terin.adalı@neu.edu.tr In the present study, characterization of films was carried out for cartilage tissue engineering application. Swelling kinetics, biodegradation, and antimicrobial activity of the biofilms were assessed. Then, designed SF based biofilms were used for the evaluation of cell proliferation activity of Normal Human Articular Chondrocyte (knee, NKAC-kn) cells.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Mulberry *Bombyx mori*, cocoons were collected during the harvesting time from Lapta, North Cyprus.

Preparation of SF Film

The processes involved in the synthesis of the pure SF were as follows:

- degumming process,
- dissolution process, and
- dialysis process.

In the degumming process, cocoons were cut into small pieces, and I g of the cocoon was weighed and put into a conical flask. Then, I00 mL of the 0.1 M sodium carbonate Na₂CO₃ solution (1%, w/v) was added into the same conical flask. Degumming process was carried out on magnetic stirrer at I rpm and 70°C for 3 hours. The process was repeated to ensure that sericin, the gum, was entirely removed from the silk cocoon and SF protein was dried at 25°C.

Dissolution Process

The dissolution process changes the physical state of the SF from solid to liquid and the chemical state by breaking the H-bonding of SF protein. The strong electrolyte solution with molar ratio: n_{C2H5OH} : n_{CaCl2} : n_{H2O} ; 2:1:8. The required amount of degummed SF fibers were added into strong electrolyte solution and stirred at I rpm at 75°C. This was continued until the SF was totally dissolved.

Dialysis Process

The dialysis process was used to purify liquid SF protein. A semipermeable SnakeSkin[®] Dialysis Membrane (10,000 MWCO) was used for dialysis process. The pure SF was removed from the membrane using a syringe.

Preparation of the Silk Fibroin Biofilm

Five grams of the pure SF was then measured, placed into a 25 mL beaker, and eft to dry overnight at 25°C. Methanol was added to cause beta-sheet formation and later removed. The biofilm is rinsed and left to dry at room temperature.

Characterization of SF Film

Fourier transform infrared spectrophotometer analysis (in Cyprus International University, Cyprus) and scanning electron microscope analyses (Jsm-6510 model at an acceleration volt-

Main Points

- SF film supports cell proliferation without side effects.
- The SF film is a potential material as a cartilage tissue engineering matrix.
- The SF is a potentially function as a promising articular cartilage substitute for tissue engineering applications.



Figure I. Cell attachment of NHAC-kn cells with phase contrast microscope; 7 days after seeding on biofilm

age 10 kV, at Middle East Technical University, Turkey) were carried out in order to characterize the SF biofilm produced. The SEM device produced images of the samples by focusing beam of electrons on it, and samples were coated with gold to prevent charging.¹⁴

Antibacterial Activity

Kirby-Bauer disk diffusion method was used for the evaluation of antimicrobial activity of SF biofilm.¹⁵ It was carried out with three gram-negative bacteria and three gram-positive bacteria. The zone of inhibition of each biofilm was measured using a scale, and photographs of the different petri plates were taken (data not supplied).

Cell Culture

NHAC-kn (Lonza, Clonetics[™] Normal Human Articular Chondrocyte Cell System) culture was prepared as described previously,¹⁴ and phase contrast microscope Olympus IX53 with camera Olympus DP22 was used for identification of cell morphology.

SF biofilms were incubated in 24-well plates in culture medium for 4 hours at 37°C before cell seeding as described previously.¹⁴ The chondrocytes were seeded on to top of the SF biofilm at a total density of approximately 1.25×10^4 cells/ml. and growth medium replenished after 24 hours. SF biofilms were incubated for 15 days with media changes every other day. Cell attachment (30 minutes, I, 2, and 3 hours) was evaluated by using a phase contrast microscope (Olympus IX53 with camera Olympus DP22). All images were taken at $10 \times$ and $40 \times$ magnification (Figure I).

Analysis of Cytotoxicity

Cellular metabolic activity and relative cell viability were analyzed by methyl thiazolyl tetrazolium (MTT, Invitrogen) assay. MTT assay was applied for evaluation of cell viability after the NHAC-kn cells were cultured in a 24-well plate for 7, 9, and 15 days. The MTT assay was performed as described previously¹⁴ (Figure 2).

RESULTS

Cell Culture and MTT Assay

Phase contrast microscope micrographs of NHAC-kn seeded biofilm were taken after 24 hours, 48 hours, 7 days, 9 days, and 15

MTT CELL PROLIFERATION ASSAY



days of culturing (data not shown). Cell growth was evaluated by measuring the MTT assay as shown in Figure 2. The viability of cells was linearly correlated with optical density; the chondrocyte viability seeded onto the SF based biofilm was significantly higher than controls. The chondrocyte viability on the SF biofilm was observed to significantly increase after 9 days.

DISCUSSION

SF is a nonsynthetic biomaterial used in tissue engineering applications. Various researchers used SF based films, fibers, meshes, membranes, scaffolds, hydrogels together with different natural materials like curcumin, hyaluronic acid (HA), poly(L-lactic-acid), CHI, cellulose, gelatin, CHI and hydroxyapatite, HA and fibrin/HA to test the cell proliferation activity, cell adhesion, and differentiation on these materials. Cartilage has a limited capacity for regeneration. Repair of cartilage injury by using specific cells, growth factors, and biomaterials is the main aim of cartilage tissue engineering. Selection of the biomaterial plays an important role within the process of cartilage engineering. Ideal scaffold should be biocompatible, biodegradable and have a three dimensional (3D) nanoporous structure.

Kim and colleagues worked with rabbit chondrocytes and used SF scaffolds and silk/curcumin blend scaffolds. They detected that curcumin with SF exhibited a high ECM production and provided an acceptable level of cell viability.¹⁶ Nematollahi et al.¹⁷ used rabbit chondrocytes together with silk-CHI blended scaffolds with glutaraldehyde (GA) concentrations. They concluded that tensile strength was raised with increase in freezing rate and GA concentration.¹⁷ Zhang et al.¹⁸ worked with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) on different materials such as collagen hydrogel (CH), collagen/sodium alginate hydrogel, collagen sponge, and silk sponge. They concluded that the induced and cocultured scaffolds exhibited high differentiation potential than control group.¹⁸ Sawatjui et al.¹⁹ used SF and SF-GCH scaffolds (SF/gelatine chondroitin sulfate (CS) hyaluron) with BM-MSCs and concluded that BM-MSCs proliferation, chondrogenic differentiation, and mimicking of cartilage structure and environment were identified in the SF-GCH scaffold.

Chomchalao et al.²⁰ used articular chondrocytes on SF, SF/C (SF/ceramic), and SF/G (SF/gelatin) scaffolds and enhanced cell attachment, proliferation of chondrocytes was observed on SF/C and SF/G scaffolds. Agrawal et al.²¹ cultured hMSCs on

SF:CHI (SF:CS) scaffold, and they detected cell distribution, proliferation, higher cell density, and increased expression of cartilage-specific genes. Li et al.^{22} designed SF/CHI film and tried to identify rat bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell proliferation activity on this material. They conclude that the SF/CHI based biofilm is a promising material for tissue engineering of bone, cartilage, adipose, and skin.²² Wang et al.¹ used SF scaffolds and human articular chondrocytes successfully in cartilage tissue engineering. For bone tissue applications, contribution of the soluble form of ECM^{23} to the SF improved wettability, mechanical property, and cyto-compatibility of the product by using a crosslinking method.^{24,25} Zhou et al.²⁶ noted that together with SF, CS is safe and showed high biocompatibility for tissue engineering scaffolds. However, the problem is rapid degradation rate of pure CS scaffolds. Thus, SF is generally used because of its mechanical properties, long-lasting in vivo stability, and hypoimmunity.26 They showed promoted articular cartilage defect repair with a combination of SF and CS and concluded that the silk-CS scaffold preserves better chondrocyte phenotype than silk scaffold.²⁶

Lee et al. 25 developed SF (SF) and polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) hydrogels and used different methods, like salt leaching, silicone mold casting, and freeze-thawing methods, to test the auricular cartilage viability. They analyzed the swelling ratio, tensile strength, pore size, thermal properties, morphologies, and chemical properties of the hydrogels. These researchers found that the hydrogel, which is composed of 50% PVA and 50% SF (P50/ S50), is the best-fabricated hydrogel for articular cartilage.²⁵ Shi et al.²⁷ used SF and gelatin scaffold to be able to repair cartilage injury via 3D printing technology. They detected high performance for cartilage repair in a knee joint and highlighted that the SF and gelatin combination scaffold was promising biomaterial for knee cartilage repair. Kim et al.¹⁶ developed curcumin and SF scaffold for testing clinical replacement for defected cartilage. They detected cell proliferation and glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and showed higher cell viability rate on I mg mL^{-I} curcumin/silk scaffold. Singh et al.²⁸ designed agarose/SF hydrogels of mulberry and nonmulberry SF. Higher amount of GAG and upregulation of cartilage-specific aggrecan, sox-9, and collagen type II was detected in nonmulberry SF hydrogel. They highlighted that the nonmulberry SF/agarose was an alternative biomaterial for cartilage tissue engineering.²⁸

Jaipaew et al.²⁹ designed scaffolds from SF/HA and tested cartilage cell viability of this material by using human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells (HUMSCs). They detected chondrogenesis related marker expression like Col2a, Agg, and Sox9 and suggested that the SF/HA scaffolds were suitable in cartilage tissue engineering and in surgery for osteo-arthritis.²⁹ Ribeiro et al.³⁰ used horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-crosslinked SF scaffolds and cultured human adipose-derived stem cells. They detected under the chondrogenic culture conditions that cells showed adhesion, proliferation, and high GAGs synthesis and produced cartilage-specific extracellular matrix. They showed that the structural, mechanical, and biological performance of the proposed scaffolds could be used as 3D matrices for cartilage regeneration.³⁰

Cai et al.³¹ used SF coating PLA film systems for attachment and proliferation of rat osteoblasts. The usage of SF biomaterials on cartilage tissue regeneration has been used by many researchers.^{1,32-36}
Nwekwo et al. Silk Fibroin Based Biofilms for Cartilage Tissue Engineering

Tigli et al.³⁷ evaluated chondrogenesis by using different SF- or CS-based biomaterials and concluded that adoption of the cells was an important factor to be able to consider chondrogenic outcomes.³⁷ Silva et al.³⁸ used SF/CS composite scaffolds.

Proliferation of chondrocyte-like cells was observed in SF/CS composite scaffolds. $^{\rm 38,39}$

SF based biomaterials, a combination of SF and other natural polymers, have been investigated for different cell types, like hMSCs, HUMSCs, and cartilage tissues. Due to its mechanical strength, elasticity, biocompatibility, bioactivity, adaptability, and biodegradability, SF protein has been widely used as a natural polymer in TE. Our results showed that, the NHAC-kn cell viability in the SF biofilm was significantly higher and indicated that SF film enhanced cell proliferation without side effects, and the SF film was a potential material for a cartilage tissue engineering matrix.

Natural polymers offer various advantages in cartilage tissue engineering applications but until now, there is no report to show ideal method for engineering of articular cartilage. SF is a naturally occurring protein, which has unique properties and that makes it a favorable matrix for the incorporation and delivery of a wide range of agents. This study highlighted that pure SF biofilm is an important material for tissue engineering applications for cartilage tissue engineering.

Ethics Committee Approval: N/A

Informed Consent: N/A

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - R.K., T.A.; Design - R.K., T.A.; Supervision - R.K., T.A.; Resource - T.A.; Materials - R.K., T.A., C.W.N.; Data Collection and/or Processing - R.K., T.A., C.W.N.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - R.K., T.A., C.W.N.; Literature Search - R.K.; Writing - R.K; Critical Reviews - R.K., T.A., C.W.N.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Acknowledgments: The Near East University Scientific Research Project Unit supported this work [Grant Number: SAG-2016-02-017].

- I. Wang Y, Blasioli DJ, Kim HJ, Kim HS, Kaplan DL. Cartilage tissue engineering with silk scaffolds and human articular chondrocytes. *Biomaterials*. 2006;27(25):4434-4442. [CrossRef]
- Kreuz PC, Gentili C, Samans B, et al. Scaffold-assisted cartilage tissue engineering using infant chondrocytes from human hip cartilage. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2013;21(12):1997-2005. [CrossRef]
- Chaudhari AA, Vig K, Baganizi DR, et al. Future prospects for scaffolding methods and biomaterials in skin tissue engineering: A review. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(12):E1974. [CrossRef]
- Kim UJ, Park J, Kim HJ, Wada M, Kaplan DL. Three-dimensional aqueous-derived biomaterial scaffolds from silk fibroin. *Biomateri*als. 2005;26(I5):2775-2785. [CrossRef]
- 5. Park I, Cho C. Stem cell-assisted approaches for cartilage tissue engineering. *Int J Stem Cell*. 2010;3(2):96-102. [CrossRef]

- 6. Getgood A, Brooks R, Fortier L, Rushton N. Articular cartilage tissue engineering. *Bone Joint J.* 2009;91(5):565-576. [CrossRef]
- Rodríguez-Vázquez M, Vega-Ruiz B, Ramos-Zúñiga R, Saldaña-Koppel DA, Quiñones-Olvera LF. Chitosan and its potential use as a scaffold for tissue engineering in regenerative medicine. *Biomed Res Int.* 2015;2015:821279. [CrossRef]
- Deng J, She R, Huang W, Dong Z, Mo G, Liu B. A silk fibroin/chitosan scaffold in combination with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells to repair cartilage defects in the rabbit knee. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2013;24:2037-2046. [CrossRef]
- Omenetto FG, Kaplan DL. New opportunities for an ancient material. Science. 2010;329(5991):528-531. [CrossRef]
- Kundu B, Kurland NE, Yadavalli VK, et al. Isolation and processing of silk proteins for biomedical applications. *Int J Biol Macromol.* 2014;70:70-77. [CrossRef]
- II. Rockwood DN, Preda RC, Yücel T, et al. Materials fabrication from *Bombyx mori* silk fibroin. *Nat Protoc*. 2011;6:1612-1631. [CrossRef]
- Cao Y, Wang B. Biodegradation of silk biomaterials. Int J Mol Sci. 2009;10(4):1514-1524. [CrossRef]
- Adali T, Uncu M. Silk fibroin as a non-thrombogenic biomaterial. J Biol Macromol. 2016;419(90):11–19.
- Adali T, Kalkan R, Karimizarandi L. The chondrocyte cell proliferation of a chitosan/silk fibroin/egg shell membrane hydrogels. Int J Biol Macromol. 2019;124:541-547. [CrossRef]
- Azam A, Ahmed AS, Oves M, Khan MS, Habib SS, Memic A. Antimicrobial activity of metal oxide nanoparticles against Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria: A comparative study. Int J Nanomed. 2012;7:6003-6009. [CrossRef]
- Kim DK, Kim JI, Sim BR, Khang G. Bioengineered porous composite curcumin/silk scaffolds for cartilage regeneration. *Mater Sci Eng* C. 2017;78:571e8. [CrossRef]
- Nematollahi Z, Tafazzoli-Shadpour M, Zamanian A, et al. Fabrication of chitosan silk-based tracheal scaffold using freeze-casting method. *Iran Biomed J.* 2017;21(4):228. [CrossRef]
- Zhang L, Zheng L, Fan HS, Zhang XD. A scaffold-filter model for studying the chondrogenic differentiation of stem cells in vitro. *Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl.* 2017;70:962e8. [CrossRef]
- Sawatjui N, Damrongrungruang T, Leeanansaksiri W, Jearanaikoon P, Hongeng S, Limpaiboon T. Silk fibroin/gelatinchondroitin sulfate-hyaluronic acid effectively enhances in vitro chondrogenesis of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl.* 2015;52:90e6. [CrossRef]
- Chomchalao P, Pongcharoen S, Sutheerawattananonda M, Tiyaboonchai W. Fibroin and fibroin blended three dimensional scaffolds for rat chondrocyte culture. *Biomed Eng Online*. 2013;12:28. [CrossRef]
- Agrawal P, Pramanik K, Biswas A. Chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells on silk fibroin:chitosan-glucosamine scaffold in dynamic culture. *Regen Med.* 2018;13(5):545-58. [Cross-Ref]
- Li DW, He J, He FL, et al. Silk fibroin/chitosan thin film promotes osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of rat bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells. *J Biomater Appl.* 2018;32(9):II64-73. [CrossRef]
- Arai T, Freddi G, Innocenti R, Tsukada M. Biodegradation of Bombyx mori silk fibroin fibers and films. J Appl Polym Sci. 2003;91(4):2383. [CrossRef]
- 24. Jia J, Guo Z, Yu J, Duan Y. A new candidate for guided tissue regeneration: Biomimetic eggshell membrane. *J Med Hypotheses Ideas*. 2011;5:20-29.
- Lee JM, Sultan MT, Kim SH, et al. Artificial auricular cartilage using silk fibroin and polyvinyl alcohol hydrogel. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2017;18(8):E1707.

- Zhou F, Zhang X, Cai D, et al. Silk fibroin-chondroitin sulfate scaffold with immuno-inhibition property for articular cartilage repair. *Acta Biomater.* 2017;63:64-75. [CrossRef]
- 27. Shi W, Sun M, Hu X, et al. Structurally and Functionally optimized silk-fibroin-gelatin scaffold using 3D printing to repair cartilage injury in vitro and in vivo. *Adv Mater.* 2017;29(29).
- Singh YP, Bhardwaj N, Mandal BB. Potential of agarose/silk fibroin blended hydrogel for in vitro cartilage tissue engineering. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces. 2016;8(33):21236-21249. [CrossRef]
- Jaipaew J, Wangkulangkul P, Meesane J, Raungrut P, Puttawibul P. Mimicked cartilage scaffolds of silk fibroin/hyaluronic acid with stem cells for osteoarthritis surgery: Morphological, mechanical, and physical clues. *Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl.* 2016;64:173e82. [CrossRef]
- Ribeiro VP, da Silva Morais A, Maia FR, et al. Combinatory approach for developing silk fibroin scaffolds for cartilage regeneration. *Acta Biomater*. 2018;72:167-181. [CrossRef]
- Cai K, Yao K, Lin S, et al. Poly(D, L-lactic acid) surfaces modified by silk fibroin: Effects on the culture of osteoblast in vitro. *Biomaterials*. 2002;23(4):II53-II60. [CrossRef]
- Aoki H, Tomita N, Morita Y, et al. Culture of chondrocytes in fibroin-hydrogel sponge. *Biomed Mater Eng.* 2003;13(4):309-316.

- Morgan AW, Roskov KE, Lin-Gibson S, Kaplan DL, Becker ML, Simon CG Jr. Characterization and optimization of RGDcontaining silk blends to support osteoblastic differentiation. *Biomaterials*. 2008;29(16):2556-2563. [CrossRef]
- Hofmann S, Knecht S, Langer R, et al. Cartilage-like tissue engineering using silk scaffolds and mesenchymal stem cells. *Tissue Eng.* 2006;12(10):2729-2738. [CrossRef]
- Jiang YQ, Yao M, Dong DM, et al. Silkfibroin peptide hydrogel for 3D culture of chondrocytes in vitro. *Micro Nano Lett IET*. 2011;6(3):125-128. [CrossRef]
- Makaya K, Terada S, Ohgo K, Asakura T. Comparative study of silk fibroin porous scaffolds derived from salt/water and sucrose/ hexafluoroisopropanol in cartilage formation. *J Biosci Bioeng.* 2009;108(1):68-75. [CrossRef]
- Seda Tigli R, Ghosh S, Laha MM, et al. Comparative chondrogenesis of human cell sources in 3D scaffolds. *J Tissue Eng Regen Med.* 2009;3(5):348-360. [CrossRef]
- Silva SS, Motta A, Rodrigues MT, et al. Novel genipin-cross-linked chitosan/silk fibroin sponges for cartilage engineering strategies. *Biomacromolecules*. 2008;9:2764-2774. [CrossRef]
- Bhardwaj N, Nguyen QT, Chen AC, Kaplan DL, Sah RL, Kundu SC. Potential of 3-D tissue constructs engineered from bovine chondrocytes/silk fibroin-chitosan for in vitro cartilage tissue engineering. *Biomaterials*. 2011;32(25):5773-5781. [CrossRef]

Disease and Treatment Experiences of COVID-19 Patients: A Qualitative Study

Ceyda Uzun Sahin¹ (), Merve Aydin² (), Abdullah Usta³ (), Mustafa Sakin⁴ ()

¹Department of Medical Services and Techniques, First and Emergency Program, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan University Vocational School of Health Services, Rize, Turkey

²Department of Mental Health and Psychiatric Nursing, Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Health Sciences, Trabzon, Turkey ³Rize Public Hospital, Surgical Intensive Care Unit, Rize, Turkey

⁴Department of Anesthesia and Reanimation, Rize Provincial Health Directorate, Rize, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: C.U.S. 0000-0002-1392-7409; M.A. 0000-0001-7466-2136; A.U. 0000-0001-9463-4458; M.S. 0000-0002-2078-8689.

Cite this article as: Uzun Sahin C, Aydin M, Usta A, Sakin M. Disease and Treatment Experiences of COVID-19 Patients: A Qualitative Study. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 129-135.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

The study aimed to explore the perceptions of hospitalized COVID-19 patients' experiences regarding the disease and treatment process.

MATERIAL and METHODS

The study was carried out as qualitative research at a hospital in Turkey between June 17, 2020 and July 7, 2020. The sample consisted of eight COVID-19 patients hospitalized in service after intensive care treatment. The data were collected through an in-depth individual interview form. Each interview was transcribed verbatim, and a thematic analysis was performed. The Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research checklist was followed.

RESULTS

Three main themes were identified for patients' perceptions of the disease experiences and treatment process. The patients experienced negative emotions after being diagnosed with COVID-19, and they spent the isolation and treatment process communicating with their beloved ones over the phone, watching television, and praying. Having an infectious disease caused them to have anxiety and sadness, and they reported satisfaction with the physicians and nurses during the treatment process.

CONCLUSION

Psychological and sociocultural factors, religious values, and health policies can be effective in patients' perception of disease and treatment. It is recommended for healthcare professionals to be aware of the psychosocial problems of the hospitalized COVID-19 patients during the disease and treatment process, monitor them for post-traumatic stress disorder, and provide the necessary support.

Keywords: COVID-19, patient, disease perception, qualitative research

INTRODUCTION

Coronaviruses have been reported to cause mild and moderate respiratory infections in the last 50 years.¹ However, recently detected coronaviruses severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) CoV (2002) and Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS)-CoV (2012) have changed all current information as they cause severe acute respiratory infections and nosocomial pandemics. Novel coronavirus, now known as SARS-CoV-2 (2019), appeared in Wuhan, China, at the end of 2019, and the World Health Organization (WHO) declared the outbreak as an alarming international public health issue on January 3l, 2020.²

Just after the first case was confirmed in Turkey on March II, 2020, the WHO declared COVID-19 as a pandemic. According to the data by WHO on February 24, 2021, the number of people infected with SARS-CoV-2 exceeded III million, and more than 2.5 million people have lost their lives so far. Additionally, COVID-I9 cases have been reported on all continents except Antarctica, and the number of cases and deaths continues to increase in many countries.³ An increase in

Corresponding Author: Merve Aydin E-mail: merveaydin@ktu.edu.tr



😰 🛈 😒 Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.

the number of cases has been observed since the detection of the virus in Turkey. The total numbers of COVID-I9 cases and deaths were 2,665,194 and 28,285, respectively, until February 24, 2021.⁴

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic is a serious global public health issue.⁵ The literature cites that pandemics create significant psychosocial problems for healthcare workers, children, and the older adults.^{6–8} The most affected group in this process is undoubtedly the patients treated with the diagnosis of COVID-19. Kong et al.⁹ reported that 34.7 and 28.4% of COVID-19 patients showed anxiety and depression symptoms, respectively. Yang et al.¹⁰ revealed varying rates of depression, anxiety, and sleep problems in COVID-19 patients treated in the isolation service. Qi et al.¹¹ determined post-traumatic stress disorder in 12.2%, anxiety/depression in 26.8%, and fatigue symptoms in 53.6% of 105 COVID-19 patients included in their study.

Asymptomatic or paucisymptomatic forms, respiratory failure, requiring mechanical ventilation and support in the intensive care unit, and even systemic multiorgan failure syndromes can be observed among the signs and symptoms of COVID-19. 12,13 However, the impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak on survivors are not just physical signs and symptoms. The psychological effects of the disease are immediately apparent and even permanent for a long time. Survivors of previous infectious disease outbreaks such as SARS and the MERS coronaviruses have been reported to have fear, paranoia, panic, anxiety and mental health disorders, and behavioral and attitudinal psychological responses.^{14,15} Determining the patients' perception of the disease and the associated factors is crucial to reduce anxiety, adaptation, and help them to express their feelings. Knowing patients' perception of the disease and the associated factors is also essential for the governments and health authorities to effectively intervene and be prepared for the psychosocial aspects of the disease.

This study was conducted to guide psychosocial interventions during and after treatment by defining the perceptions of the disease experiences and treatment processes of the hospitalized COVID-19 patients. It is believed that the research will contribute to the literature by revealing the feelings and situations that are prominent in the patients' perception of the dis-

Main Points

- Three main themes were identified for patients' perceptions of the disease experiences and treatment process.
- Many participants experienced negative feelings during the treatment process, but they were only able to develop short-term coping mechanisms to cope with these emotions.
- Having a fatal and infectious disease had negative psychological impacts on the participants.
- COVID-19 patients mentioned their satisfaction with the physicians and nurses during the treatment process.
- Participants worry about being excluded and stigmatized by their social environment after discharge.

ease, the psychosocial needs of the patients, and their perceptions about the treatment and discharge process.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Design

This study is qualitative research in a phenomenological pattern. The Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research guideline and Colaizzi's phenomenological method were followed in the study.^{16,17} Colaizzi's phenomenological method focuses on the experience and feelings of subjects and reveals shared patterns rather than individual characteristics. It is a scientific approach that ensures that the experiences collected from the participants adhere to scientific standards.

Research Group Feature and Reflexivity

The research group in the study includes an instructor (PhD), a research assistant (PhD), a physician (PhD), and an intensive care nurse (MSc). One of the researchers (M.A.) works in the Department of Mental Health and Psychiatric Nursing at the Faculty of Health Sciences. The interviewer (A.U.) possessed a Master of Science in Psychiatric Nursing and has worked as a chief nurse in the COVID-I9 intensive care unit. Two of the researchers were nurses in the past (C.U.S. and M.A.). Two of the researchers are women, and two are men, and all of them have been conducting research on qualitative research. Two researchers (C.U.S. and M.A.) took courses from an expert in Qualitative Research Methods at the Department of Psychology at Oxford University and continue to take advanced courses on the related field.

Setting and Time

The data were collected at a hospital located in Rize, a town in the Black Sea Region, through semistructured in-depth interviews performed between June I7, 2020, and July 7, 2020. The sample was calculated using the purposeful sampling method.¹⁸ The basic understanding of the criteria sampling method is to work with the studying group meeting a set of predefined criteria. Accordingly, patients hospitalized in COVID-19 service were planned to be included in the study.

The inclusion criteria for the study are as follows:

- being diagnosed with COVID-I9 and receiving treatment;
- being a COVID-19 patient hospitalized in service after intensive care treatment;
- being 18 years old and above;
- not having any mental disorder diagnosis;
- being able to communicate (not being connected to the breathing apparatus, speaking Turkish); and
- participating in the study voluntarily.

In total, eight patients fulfilling the preset criteria were included in the sample (n = 8).

Data Collection

In qualitative research, the data are collected until the concepts for the possible answer to the research question start to repeat.¹⁹ At that point, the researcher decides the sample number sufficiency. Based on this principle, the sample number of the research is maintained until the researcher reaches the saturation $\operatorname{point.}^{20}$

The data were collected using a Semi-Structured Interview Form and the questionnaire form developed by the researchers. The questionnaire form consists of two parts and I3 questions. In the first part, nine questions are investigating sociodemographic characteristics (age, gender, marital status, place of residence, education level, employment status, perception of income level, having children, and having a chronic disease). The second part includes four questions about the COVID-19 pandemic (having a family member diagnosed with COVID-19, symptoms of COVID-19, being connected to a ventilator, and being a volunteer for plasmapheresis treatment).

During the preparation of interview questions, two experienced external academics in qualitative research were consulted. The researchers then reviewed the literature and prepared the Semi-Structured Interview Form,^{21,22} including three open-ended questions as follows:

- What are your feelings/experiences about being diagnosed with COVID-19?
- How did you feel during treatment in isolation, and how did you manage this process?
- What do you think about the treatment (process and personnel)?

We informed the population about the purpose and significance of the study in advance and planned the appropriate meeting time with the participants who voluntarily accepted to take part in the study. We also explained that the interviews would be recorded using a tape recorder, their privacy and confidentiality would be protected, and obtained their consent. The questions that were not clear to the patient were explained without any guidance. The data were collected using face to face interview method in a patient room in the COVID-19 clinic. One researcher (A.U.) conducted in-person semistructured interviews, and each took between 40 and 60 minutes. The interviewer, wearing protective equipment (N95 mask, gloves, goggles/face protector, apron), made an individual interview face to face, providing a minimum distance of I m.

Analysis of the Data

Within 24 hours after each interview, the recordings were transcribed by a researcher (M.S.) and analyzed following the steps of Colaizzi's phenomenological analysis method. Two researchers (C.U. and M.A.) independently examined the interview materials, identified meaningful statements, created codes, and agreed on common codes. Then, the themes were developed after the data were read several times and coded.²³ The themes and codes were checked by an external expert. The steps of Collaizi's phenomenological data analysis are as follows:

- I. The researcher read the accounts of the participants several times to familiarize and understand the meanings attributed to the phenomenon and the emotions.
- 2. Significant statements that are of direct relevance to the phenomenon are selected.
- 3. The significant statements are examined, and meanings are formulated.

- 4. The formulated meanings are clustered into subthemes, themes, and categories.
- 5. The emerging themes are combined with full and comprehensive life experiences.
- 6. The fundamental conceptual structure of the phenomenon is defined.
- 7. Some participants are reinterviewed, and the results obtained are verified by comparing them with their own experiences.¹⁷

Validity and Reliability

There is no specific method to ensure the validity and reliability of qualitative inquiry. The validity and reliability of qualitative research are ensured through credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability.²⁴ For credibility, the relationships between the themes obtained as a result of this study and the subthemes were checked for integrity. The audio recordings of the interviews with the participants were transcribed verbatim. A purposeful sampling method was used for transferability, and homogeneity was ensured. To check the reliability of the findings, the researchers analyzed the data independently. In the coding process, each researcher coded the transcripts independently, and then they agreed on common codes. For confirmability, semistructured interviews form and thematization were checked by an external expert.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval for the study was received from the local Ethics Committee of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan University (No: 40465587-050.01.04-127), and permission was granted by the Council for Scientific Research Studies of the Directorate General of Health Services affiliated to the Ministry of Health, Republic of Turkey (No: 2020-05-02T14-15-59). At the beginning of the interviews, the participants were first informed about the study and the provisions of the 1995 Declaration of Helsinki (as revised in Brazil, 2013), and their written and verbal consents were obtained.

RESULTS

The mean age of eight participants was 38.86 ± 7.66 years (min: 28; max: 47), four (50%) were female, five (62.5%) were married, six (75%) were living in the city, six (75%) were high school graduates, and five (62.5%) had a family member diagnosed with COVID-19 (Table I). COVID-19 patients' experiences about the disease and treatment were collected under three main themes depending on the data analysis: "psychosocial effects," "coping styles," and "provision of health services." The themes, categories, and codes identified through interviews with patients are presented (Table 2).

Theme I: Emotional Reflections about the Disease

Many participants (n = 5) stated that they had negative emotional responses such as fear, panic, anxiety, and anger, but few participants (n = 3) gave positive emotional responses such as hope, belief, and adaptation due to COVID-19 diagnosis. They reported that having an infectious disease caused fear, anxiety, and sadness, they were anxious about harming and infecting others, the social isolation process caused introversion, mental distress, and that they were worried about the possibility of being excluded and stigmatized by their social environment after discharge. Some of the participants

Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 129-135

		D	6	o		001
TABLE	١.	Distribution	ot	Socio-demographic	and	COV
Charact	eris	stics of Patien	ts (n	= 8)		

Descriptive characteristics	n	%
Gender		
Male	4	50.0
Female	4	50.0
Marital status		
Married	5	62.5
Single	3	37.5
Place of residence		
Metropolis	I	12.5
City	6	75.30
Countryside	I	12.5
Education level		
Primary+secondary school	2	25.0
High school	6	75.0
Employment status		
Employed	4	50.0
Unemployed	4	50.0
Perception of income level		
Low	2	25.0
Moderate	4	50.0
High	2	25.0
Having children		
Yes	5	62.5
No	3	37.5
Having a chronic disease		
Yes	2	25.0
No	6	75.0
Having a family member		
diagnosed with CO∨ID-19		
Yes	5	62.5
No	3	37.5
Symptoms of COVID-19*		
Weakness, fatigue	7	87.5
Dry cough	5	62.5
Fever	5	62.5
Muscle, joint pain	2	25.0
Inability to taste and smell	I.	12.5
Shortness of breath	2	25.0
Headache	4	50.0
No symptom	I.	12.5
Being connected to a ventilator		
Yes	4	50.0
No	4	50.0
Being volunteer for		
plasmapheresis treatment		
Yes	8	100
Age (year) (mean± SD)	38.86	± 7.66
*Multiple responses were given and perce on n.	entages were to	aken based

expressed their feelings when they were first diagnosed with COVID-19 as follows:

My dreams shattered. My blood pressure dropped a little. I was afraid a bit because of my heart disease. A disease coming from God, of course, but you are still scared. I wonder if I will die (7th participant).

I thought I would be one of those who survived this disease. I was scared, I was panicked a lot. I thought about how to overcome this situation. I believed that gradually but eventually, I would succeed (the patient moved from a lying position to a sitting position and replied the question) (4th participant).

Being infected with corona, of course... when I am talking on the phone, people are talking to me as if I were an AIDS patient. When we go out, because we are corona patients, now I am worried about how people will treat us in our social environment. I have such thoughts. I wonder how people will look at me. In other words, I know that being a corona patient is right now in our society...I don't know, people are a little prejudiced, so they can abstain from you. I haven't been out yet. I don't know what it will be like. (Ist participant)

A terrible feeling. I am glad that I am fine now, but when I get out of here and go home, I am afraid of infecting it. I haven't asked the doctors a lot about this topic. They haven't said. I'm afraid I will transmit it. I hope we will all get rid of it. (6th participant)

If necessary, we have to lock ourselves in a room and protect. When we go somewhere, we need to isolate ourselves. Of course, there is a fear of infecting others. I don't want to cause this situation (replied the question by fixing the mask). (7th participant)

I believe that I will recover, but I am worried about transmitting it to my family. (8th participant)

Theme 2: Coping Styles

The participants stated that after being diagnosed with COVID-19, they spent time in isolation by doing hobby-activity, talking with their beloved ones on the phone, watching television, and praying. The participants expressed their expectations for discharge, recovery, and life goals as meeting their beloved ones and fulfilling their longing for them, spending time at home, and they had values and beliefs such as gratitude and acting modestly.

I am praying a lot...for all patients, doctors, healthcare professionals... They have been really good, nice, and sensitive. I spend time doing something on the smartphone. There's not much to do in the room. I communicate with my beloved ones (through telephone). But I feel bored. (3rd participant).

I'm doing embroidery now. I'm looking out of the window. I am reading the Quran. I usually spend time in this room. There is not much opportunity. I sometimes watch TV and go for a walk. I am talking to my relatives on the phone. (5th participant)

First I will go to my home and isolate myself for I4-I5 days. I will go to my village. I'll look out of the window onto my garden. Maybe I won't go out for a month. I just want to get out alive (smiling). (2nd participant)

Theme 3: Provision of Health Services

The patients in the study stated that they were satisfied with the attitudes and behaviors of physicians and nurses during the treatment.

TABLE 2. Themes, Subthemes, and Codes in Interviews with Participants						
Themes	Subthemes	Codes				
Theme I: emotional	Negative emotional responses	Fear				
reflections about the disease		Panic				
		Anxiety				
		Anger				
	Positive emotional responses	Норе				
		Adaptation				
		Faith				
	Having an infectious disease	Sadness				
		Despair				
	Worried about infecting others	Social isolation				
		Introversion				
	The concern that she will be excluded	Concern				
	by her/his social environment	Decreased self-confidence				
		Stigmatization				
Theme 2: coping styles	Nonfunctional coping styles	Crying				
	Functional coping styles	Doing hobby-activity				
		Talking with their beloved ones on the phone				
		Praying				
	Individual's expectations, life goals	Discharge and recovery				
		Life goals as meeting their beloved ones				
Theme 3: provision of health services	Attitude of health professionals	Satisfaction with the nurse				
		Satisfaction with the physician				
	Health policies	Satisfaction with the treatment and services provided				

If it weren't for them, our situation would be terrible. May God be with our nurses. (7th participant)

Very much. Believe me, I am very pleased. Believe me, if I were in the service, I would not be able to stay there. There's no one there. There is always someone here. Even seeing other patients makes me happy. Here, there are passersby. There are nurses. I mean the name of intensive care is bad, but actually, that is not the case here. (3rd participant)

May Allah bless everyone. Our doctors, nurses never leave us alone. They always care for us. They give us food and clean our beds. I am very satisfied with the nurses. May Allah be pleased with all of them. May Allah bless our country. (6th participant)

DISCUSSION

The study was carried out with volunteer COVID-19 patients receiving treatment in the service after intensive care to investigate their perceptions of the disease and the treatment experiences.

Emotional Reflections about the Disease

Most of the patients expressed that they had negative emotional responses such as fear, panic, anxiety, and anger owing to the diagnosis of COVID-I9. It is known that there is a relationship between the way the disease is represented in the mind of individuals and their reactions to the disease.²⁵ Relevant literature shows that the anxiety of the public and healthcare workers increased during epidemic diseases.^{26–28} A study conducted in Hong Kong during the SARS outbreak in some countries in 2003 emphasized that psychological reactions such as high levels of stress, helplessness, and post-traumatic symptoms were common in the subjects.²⁹ Another study in China reports that the COVID-I9 outbreak means a severe trauma for humans which has elevated their anxiety level.²² It is thought that COVID-19 disease has a risk of infection and a fatal effect, causing feelings such as fear, anxiety, and panic in patients. Considering that patients undergoing COVID-19 treatment may experience psychological difficulties, it is recommended that physicians and nurses be sensitive, provide psychological support, and seek psychiatric consultation when necessary.

Participants in the study indicated that having an infectious disease caused fear, anxiety, and sadness, they were anxious about harming and infecting others, the social isolation process caused introversion, mental distress, and they are worried that they would be excluded and stigmatized by the social environment after discharge. In the literature, it is seen that the anxiety levels of individuals differ from country to country during epidemics. Taylor et al.²⁶ conducted a study to evaluate the psycho-social effects of the equine flu epidemics in Australia and reported that 34% of the participants had high-stress levels. In the study conducted by Wang et al.,²¹ in the first phase of the COVID-19 pandemics in China, more than half of the respondents evaluated the levels of psychological impact and anxiety as moderate.

Being stigmatized is defined as "the patient's feeling that he/ she has been rejected, isolated by society, and feeling embarrassed and insecure due to his/her illness." In a study of 3,0II people in Hong Kong, participants listed the most stigmatizing diseases as HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, and SARS, respectively.²⁹ Society tends to stigmatize individuals with diseases that have infectious characteristics. We believe that there is a need to increase social awareness about the harmful effects of stigmatizing COVID-I9 patients' mental health; otherwise, stigma may reduce their general functionality as a serious risk factor.

Coping Styles

Participants were spending the isolation period after being diagnosed with COVID-19 by doing hobby-activity, talking with

their beloved ones on the phone, watching television, and praying. Coping is a cognitive and behavioral strategy that the person poses consciously or unconsciously to deal with the difficulties, needs, demands, and changes stemming from the environment. Coping styles vary according to the individual's internal resources and responses, family support, and cultural structure.³⁰ The literature suggests that individuals with physical illnesses often benefit from the strategies such as seeking information and social support, learning new skills, actively participating in treatment, coping through confrontation, adopting a positive approach, avoiding, sharing anxiety and emotions about the disease, maintaining hope, and seeking for emotional support in line with their beliefs.^{30,31} It is thought that the presence of social support resources, leisure activities, and the opportunity to worship according to their beliefs help the participants in our study to struggle with the disease.

The participants hoped for discharge and recovery, made plans such as meeting their beloved ones, fulfilling their longing for them after being discharged, spending time at home, and had values and beliefs such as gratitude, praying, acting modestly.

Psychological adaptation is a process that has biological and psychological dimensions associated with gains, losses, and struggles in the life of the patient. In the literature, the presence of psychological factors including denying, protecting hope, sense of trust, difficulty, and control are reported as positive compliance behaviors.³² Our study is consistent with the literature in this regard.

Provision of Health Services

The patients in the study stated that they were satisfied with the treatment and care they received during the treatment and the attitude and behavior of the healthcare professionals. Health personnel's personality traits, kindness, interest, professional attitudes, ways of presenting their knowledge and skills, and especially patient-nurse relationships play a critical role in patient satisfaction.^{33,34} It is reported in the literature that the most significant factor affecting patient satisfaction is communication and providing the patient with sufficient information,^{35,36} because the ability of healthcare providers to communicate with patients has a pivotal role in making patients feel valued or worthless. Patient-centered and individualized care makes the patient feel valued and creates a trust relationship between people. In addition, feeling valued as an individual is in a sense related to being adequately informed. In many cases, healthcare professionals who determine the needs of individuals and provide information about these needs make patients feel valued. Various studies noted that the trust and satisfaction level of patients who are adequately informed about their condition and procedures with the healthcare personnel increased.^{33,35} Due to the nature of COVID-19 disease, visitors are not accepted, and patients receive treatment and care in single and isolated rooms, so it is thought that positive communication and information provided by healthcare workers positively affects patient satisfaction.

Psychological and sociocultural factors, religious values, and health policies can be effective in patients' perception of disease and treatment. It is recommended that healthcare professionals be aware of the psychosocial problems faced by the COVID-I9 patients receiving treatment in the hospital, provide appropriate environments where patients can express their feelings and thoughts, establish therapeutic communication with the patients, provide information about the disease and treatment process, and monitor them for post-traumatic stress disorder.

Strengths and Limitations

The scientific rigor of our study is that it is the first qualitative study in Turkey to examine the perception of the disease and treatment of individuals diagnosed with COVID-19. The study reflects patients' perceptions of disease and their experiences during the COVID-19 treatment. Patients' disease perceptions may change after discharge. We aim to carry out a longitudinal follow-up study to determine the changes in perceptions of the disease over time. The limitation of the study is that although the researcher who interviewed the patients was not involved in the treatment and care of the patients, the patients did not report any negative feelings and experiences regarding their treatment. They may not have mentioned their negative experiences, because they thought that their treatment process would be negatively affected.

Acknowledgments: We would like to thank all the patients who gave their time and offered us their valuable insights.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical committee approval was received from the local Ethics Committee (No: 40465587-050.01.04-127), and permission was granted by the Council for Scientific Research Studies of the Directorate General of Health Services affiliated to the Ministry of Health, Republic of Turkey (No: 2020-05-02T14-15-59).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from all participants who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - C.U.S., M.A., A.U., M.S.; Design - C.U.S., M.A., A.U., M.S.; Data Collection - A.U.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - C.U.S., M.A., A.U., Writing - C.U.S., M.A., A.U., M.S.; Critical Review - C.U.S., M.A.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Disclaimer: The content is solely the responsibility of the authors.

Data Availability: The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

- I. Fung TS, Liu DX. Human coronavirus: Host-pathogen interaction. Ann Rev Microbiol. 2019;73:529-557. [CrossRef]
- Bulut C, Kato Y. Epidemiology of COVID-I9. Turkish J Med Sci. 2020;50:563-570. [CrossRef]
- WHO. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) situation dashboard. 2021. Available at https://who.maps.arcgis.com/apps/opsdashboard/ index.html#/a19d5dlf86ee4d99b013eed5f637232d. Accessed February 24, 2021.
- Turkish Republic Ministry of Health. Current situation in Turkey. 2020. Available at https://covidl9.saglik.gov.tr/. Accessed February 24, 2021.
- Dikmen AU, Kına HM, Özkan S, İlhan MN. Epidemiology of COVID-I9: What we learn from pandemic. J Biotechnol Strategic Health Res. I 2020;I(special issue):29-36.

- Chen Q, Liang M, Li Y, et al. Mental health care for medical staff in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Lancet Psychiatr.* 2020;7(4):e15-e16. [CrossRef]
- Yang Y, Li W, Zhang Q, Zhang L, Cheung T, Xiang YT. Mental health services for older adults in China during the COVID-I9 outbreak. *Lancet Psychiatr.* 2020;20:30079.
- Li SW, Wang Y, Yang YY, Lei XM, Yang YF. Analysis of influencing factors of anxiety and emotional disorders in children and adolescents during home isolation during the epidemic of novel coronavirus pneumonia. *Chin J Child Health*. 2020;287(1):1-9.
- Kong X., Zheng K., Tang M., et al. Prevalence and factors associated with depression and anxiety of hospitalized patients with COVID-19. medRxiv; 2020. [CrossRef]
- Yang L, Wu D, Hou Y, et al. Analysis of psychological state and clinical psychological intervention model of patients with COVID-19. medRxiv. 2020. [CrossRef]
- II. Qi R., Chen W., Liu S., et al. Psychological morbidities and fatigue in patients with confirmed COVID-19 during disease outbreak: Prevalence and associated biopsychosocial risk factors. medRxiv. 2020.
- Adhikari SP, Meng S, Wu YJ, et al. Epidemiology, causes, clinical manifestation and diagnosis, prevention and control of coronavirus disease (COVID-I9) during the early outbreak period: A scoping review. *Infect Dis Poverty*. 2020;9(1):29. [CrossRef]
- Cascella M, Rajnik M, Cuomo A, Dulebohn SC, Di Napoli R. Features, Evaluation and Treatment Coronavirus (COVID-19). Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing, 2020.
- Cheng SK, Wong CW, Tsang J, Wong KC. Psychological distress and negative appraisals in survivors of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). *Psychol Med*. 2004;34(7):1187-1195. [CrossRef]
- Lee AM, Wong JG, McAlonan GM, et al. Stress and psychological distress among SARS survivors I year after the outbreak. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2007;52(4):233-240. [CrossRef]
- O'Brien BC, Harris IB, Beckman TJ, Reed DA, Cook DA. Standards for reporting qualitative research: A synthesis of recommendations. Acad Med. 2014;89(9):1245-1251. [CrossRef]
- Morrow R, Rodriguez A, King N. Colaizzi's descriptive phenomenological method. *Psychologist*. 2015;28(8):643-644.
- Palinkas LA, Horwitz SM, Green CA, Wisdom JP, Duan N, Hoagwood K. Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Adm Policy Mental Health Mental Health Serv Res.* 2015;42(5):533-544. [Cross-Ref]
- Fusch PI, Ness LR. Are we there yet? data saturation in qualitative research. Qual Rep. 2015;20(2):1408-1416.
- 20. Lewis S. Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches [Review of the book qualitative inquiry and

research design: Choosing among five approaches (3rd ed.), by J. Creswell]. *Health Promotion Practice*. 2015;16(4):473-475. [Cross-Ref]

- Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(5):1729. [CrossRef]
- 22. Zhang WR, Wang K, Yin L, et al. Mental health and psychosocial problems of medical health workers during the COVID-I9 epidemic in China. *Psychother Psychosomat*: 2020;I-9. [CrossRef]
- 23. Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, Bondas T. Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nurs Health Sci.* 2013;15(3):398-405. [CrossRef]
- Marshall C, Rossman GB. Designing Qualitative Research. New Yok: Sage Publications, 2014:280-285.
- Hekler EB, Lambert J, Leventhal E, Leventhal H, Jahn E, Contrada RJ. Commonsense illness beliefs, adherence behaviors, and hypertension control among African Americans. J Behav Med. 2008;31:391-400. [CrossRef]
- Taylor MR, Kingsley EA, Garry JS, Raphael B. Factors influencing psychological distress during a disease epidemic: Data from Australia's first outbreak of equine influenza. BMC Public Health. 2008;
- Goodwin R, Haque S, Neto F, Myers LB. Initial psychological responses to influenza A, HINI ("Swine flu"). BMC Infectious Dis. 2009;16(4):9-166. [CrossRef]
- Goodwin R, Gaines SO, Jr, Myers L, Neta F. Initial psychological responses to Swine Flu. Int J Behav Med. 2010. [CrossRef]
- 29. Lau JTF, Yang X, Pang E, Tsui HY, Wong E, Wing YK. SARS-related perceptions in Hong Kong. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2005;11:417-424.
- Ozsoy I, Okyayuz UH. Coping skills of people with amputation: Case presentation. *Klinik Psikiyatri*. 2016;19:45-51.
- 31. Kocaman N. Factors that affected of psychosocial reactions of patients. J Atatürk Univ School Nurs. 2008;11(1):101–112.
- 32. Ozdemir U, Tasci S. Psychosocial problems and care of chronic diseases. *Erciyes Univ J Health Sci Fac.* 2013;1:1.
- Coban IG, Kasikci M. Reliability and validity of the scale of patient perception of hospital experience with nursing care in a Turkish population. J Clin Nurs. 2010;19(13-14):1929-1934. [CrossRef]
- Ozlu ZK, Uzun O. Evaluation of satisfaction with nursing care of patients hospitalized in surgical clinics of different hospitals. *Int J Caring Sci.* 2015;8(1):19-24.
- Karadağ S, Taşçı S. The factors affecting the nursing care given by the nurses working in Kayseri State hospital. J Health Sci. 2005;14:13-21.
- Vural Ö, Vural G. Gynecological cancer patients satisfaction related to nursing care who take chemotherapy. *Dokuz Eylul Univ Fac Nurs Electron J.* 2013;6(1):17-25.

Sternoclavicular Joint Distances and Degenerative Changes in Computed Tomography

Vefa Çakmak^ı (), Mert Özen² ()

¹Department of Radiology, Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Turkey ²Department of Emergency Medicine, Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: V.Ç. 0000-000I-7002-5594; M.Ö. 0000-000I-6653-3756.

Cite this article as: Çakmak V, Özen M. Sternoclavicular Joint Distances and Degenerative Changes in Computed Tomography. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 136-140.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

To evaluate sternoclavicular joint distances and age-related degenerative changes in thorax computed tomography images.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Computed tomography (CT) was performed between April 2019 and October 2019 at the Department of Radiology of State Hospital for chest pain and lung parenchymal nodule follow-up. One hundred and forty-six sternoclavicular joints of 73 patients (38 males, 35 females, median 58 years, mean 57.23 ± 13.25 years) aged 35-78 years were evaluated retrospectively. Measurements were taken for bilateral sternoclavicular joint from anterior, mid, and posterior in the axial plain and superior, mid, and inferior sections in the coronal plan. Measurements of sternoclavicular joint were compared according to gender for right and left sides. The presence of osteophyte, sclerosis, subchondral cyst, and gas showing degeneration in the sternoclavicular joint were compared according to age and sex.

RESULTS

Sternoclavicular joint distances measured in axial and coronal planes were found to be significantly lower in female gender group than in men. In the study group, there was statistically significant difference between the measurements made from the coronal plan superior section (P = .016). There was no statistically significant difference between mid and inferior measurements in coronal plane and anterior, mid and posterior measurements in axial plane. Sternal osteophytes were significantly more common in females than males (P = .021). Osteophyte located in the clavicle was significantly more frequent with increasing age.

CONCLUSION

There is no significant asymmetry in the sternoclavicular joint in asymptomatic individuals, and an increase in degenerative markers of the sternoclavicular joint is observed with the progression of age.

Keywords: Computed tomography, sternoclavicular joint, osteophyte

INTRODUCTION

Sternoclavicular joint is a diarthrodial joint located between the upper extremity and axial skeleton. Joint cartilage is composed of fibrous and hyaline cartilage intertwined with each other. Anterior and posterior sternoclavicular ligaments, costoclavicular ligament, and interclavicular ligament form the ligamentous part of the sternoclavicular joint.^{1,2} Apart from traumatic conditions, rheumatological disorders, infectious disorders, calcium pyrophosphate deposit disease, and degenerative disorders also affect the joint.^{3,4} Osteoarthritis does not cause joint instability.^{2,5} Computed tomography (CT) is widely used for traumatic and rheumatological conditions affecting the joint.^{6–8} A number of studies have investigated the normal anatomic properties and variations of the sternoclavicular joint.^{9,10} This study aimed to assess degenerative changes affecting the sternoclavicular joint spaces and the joint itself in computed tomographic imaging.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Study Group

This study was approved by the regional Ethics Committee of Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine (no: 60116787-020/18110). Sternoclavicular joint properties were retrospectively analyzed on CT images of 138 patients undergoing CT

Corresponding Author: Vefa Çakmak E-mail: vefacakml408@gmail.com





Figure I. CT image of the sternoclavicular joint in the axial plane. Gas is present in both SCJ joints (white arrow indicates gas in right SCJ). The left SCJ measurements were made from the anterior, mid, and posterior section(lines)

for various reasons such as chest pain or parenchymal lung nodule monitoring at State Hospital, Department of Radiology between April 2019 and October 2019. Among those patients, the CT images of those with thoracic roto-scoliosis, history of bypass surgery or severe chest trauma, sternoclavicular anomaly, oncological disorders, or metabolic bone disease were excluded from the analysis. One hundred and forty-six sternoclavicular joints of 73 patients aged 35-78 years (38 males, 35 females, median age 58 years, mean age 57.23 \pm 13.25 years) were retrospectively analyzed.

Computerized Tomography

CT was performed with a l6-detector row multi-slice helical CT device (I6 MDCT CT scanner, Toshiba Alexion, Japan). All thoracic CT examinations were performed over ascenogram image, by scanning the region between the neck and upper pole of kidney, with the patients lying in supine position and their hands resting on both sides of the head. The imaging parameters were as follows: tube voltage I20 kV, tube current 70 mAs, slice thickness 2.0 mm, rotation time 750 ms, and "pitch" 0.938. All CT images were analyzed at mediastinal (*WW:350*, *WL:50*), parenchymal (*WW:-600*, *WL:1600*), and bone (*WW:2500*, *WL:480*) windows at the workstation.

Image Analysis

Bilateral sternoclavicular joint distances of patients enrolled between April 2019 and October 2019 were measured on axial

Main Points

- The sternoclavicular joint is a diarthrodial type joint composed of cartilage and ligament complex between the upper extremity and the axial skeleton.
- Sternoclavicular joint instability is often caused by rheumatological diseases and trauma.
- Sternoclavicular joint distances are observed as lower in women compared to men.
- The frequency of osteophytes in the clavicle increases with aging.
- Gas in the sternoclavicular joint is more common in 35-49 years and men.



Figure 2. CT image of the sternoclavicular joint in the coronal plane. The left SCJ measurements were made from the superior, mid, and inferior section(lines)

and coronal planes on CT images. Measurements were made from the superior, mid, and inferior aspects on axial plane and from the anterior, mid, and posterior aspects on coronal plane for both joints (Figures I and 2). Measurements of the sternoclavicular joint were compared between the right and left sides by gender. The study population was grouped by age range. Osteophytes, sclerosis, subchondral cyst, and gas, all of which indicate sternoclavicular joint degeneration, were compared by age range and sex.

Statistical Analysis

Data analysis was performed using a Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 2l (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive statistics included mean \pm standard deviation for continuous variables and % for categoric variables. Chi-square test was used to compare categoric variables. Comparison of two sternoclavicular joint spaces on axial and coronal planes was performed with t test. P < .05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Sternoclavicular joint space distances measured on coronal and axial planes from CT images are presented in Table I. Sternoclavicular joint distances were significantly lower in women compared to men. In measurements made from the superior aspect on coronal plane, mean sternoclavicular joint distance was II.37 \pm 2.97 mm on the right side and I0.87 \pm 2.89 mm on the left side. There was a statistically significant difference between measurements made from the superior aspect on coronal plane (P = .016). The measurements made from the mid and inferior aspects on coronal plane and the measurements made from the anterior, mid, and posterior aspects on axial plane showed no significant difference between both sides. Seventy-three patients whose CT images were analyzed were grouped by age. Accordingly, there were 24 patients aged 35-49 years, 15 patients aged 50-59 years, 19 patients aged 60-69 years, and 15 patients aged 70 years or older. Degenerative signs in the sternoclavicular joint were compared by age range and sex (Table 2) (Figure 3). Women had a significantly higher rate of osteophytes located in the sternum (P = .02I) (Figure 4). The rate of clavicular osteophytes significantly showed a significant increase with advancing age. Presence of gas was significantly more common in patients aged 35-49 years and men compared to women (Table 3). Five patients were found to have sternal ossicle, and seven patients had clavicular notch (Figure 5).

				Ma	ın (n = 38)			Wom	nan (n = 35)		
Sternoclavicular joint		Min	Max	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max	Mean	Std. Dev.	Р	
Coronal	Right	Süperior	8	19	12.45	2.61	3	14	10.20	2.91	.000
		Mid	7	18	II.57	2.73	4	16	9.08	2.60	.001
		Inferior	6	14	10.26	2.11	3	16	8.71	3.73	.031
	Left	Süperior	6	17	11.94	2.67	3	4	9.71	2.69	.001
		Mid	6	16	11.05	2.69	4	13	8.77	2.35	.000
		Inferior	5	15	10.60	2.36	4	16	8.74	3.33	.007
Axial	Right	Anterior	6	15	10.21	2.24	5	15	8.88	2.54	.021
		Mid	5	15	8.76	2.24	3	12	7.45	2.18	.014
		Posterior	5	15	9.52	2.37	5	4	9.48	2.47	.943
	Left	Anterior	4	14	10.23	2.28	4	4	8.22	2.10	.000
		Mid	6	14	9.00	1.94	4	11	7.48	1.73	.001
		Posterior	6	14	9.71	1.95	5	15	9.14	2.15	.243

TABLE 2. Markers of Degeneration in the Sternoclavicular Joint

	Osteophytes		Scle	Sclerosis		ndral cyst
	Clavicle	Sternum	Clavicle	Sternum	Clavicle	Sternum
Man	10	2	3	2	4	2
Woman	12	9	8	3	5	3
Р	.214	.021	.104	.418	.334	.294
35-49 years	0	2	1	1	1	1
50-59 years	6	2	3	2	2	0
60-69 years	5	2	5	3	4	3
70 years and older	II	5	2	0	4	I. I.
Р	.000	.164	.219	.280	.224	.289



Figure 3. Sternal and clavicular subchondral cysts (white arrows)



Figure 4. Left clavicular osteophyte (white arrow)

DISCUSSION

Standard radiography cannot provide adequate detail for the assessment of sternoclavicular joint. Brossmann et al.^{II} provided anatomic details of joint cartilage of the sternoclavicular joint using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). MRI has a limited use for the evaluation of the sternoclavicular joint due to respiratory and pulse artifacts. Several studies have used ultrasonography to demonstrate joint effusion and infectious conditions involving the sternoclavicular joint.⁴ CT is a widely used imaging modality in routine practice to detect abnormalities of the sternoclavicular joint, which do not appear in plain radiograms.

A study that examined the high-resolution CT properties of the sternoclavicular joint showed that all individuals older than 50 years had degenerative changes affecting the joint.¹² It was reported that people of advanced age had a greater rate of osteophytes, subchondral cysts, and sclerosis.⁸ Our study also demonstrated an aging-related increase in the prevalence of signs of degeneration, such as osteophytes, subchondral cysts, and sclerosis.

We detected a smaller sternoclavicular joint distance on both sides in women compared to men. When the whole study group was concerned, we detected a ${\sim}0.5$ mm difference

TABLE 3. Gas in the Sternoclavicula	ır Joint						
			Age range				
Gas in the sternoclavicular joint	Man	Woman	35-49 years	50-59 years	60-69 years	70 years and older	
Positive	21	10	18	5	6	2	
Negative	17	25	6	10	13	13	
P		033			.001		



Figure 5. CT image of the sternal ossicle in the axial plane (stars)

between sternoclavicular joint distances in measurements made from the superior aspect on coronal plane. We did not detect any asymmetry between both sides in measurements made from the mid and inferior aspects on coronal plane and in measurements made from the anterior, mid, and posterior aspects on axial plane. We believe that this was caused by the patients' arms being positioned on both sides of the head. Tuscano et al.⁹ in a study examining the sternoclavicular joint in axial thoracic CT images of 104 patients, reported that there may be asymmetry of up to 5.7 mm between the sternoclavicular joints on both sides. The present study also used thoracic CT images, and we believe that asymmetry resulted from patient position. Another study retrospectively examined the sternoclavicular joint in carotid CT angiography images, and it showed symmetry in both joints.¹⁰ We believe that it stemmed from neutral arm position. Celikyay et al.⁸ reported a lesser amount of reduction in joint distance in the control group than the patient group with rheumatoid arthritis. De Maeseneer et al.¹⁰ reported that joint distance tended to decrease with advancing age and joint distance may be minimally reduced with aging. Sternoclavicular joint asymmetry was reported to cause a tendency for osteoarthritis and joint instability.²

We detected osteophytes, subchondral cysts, and sclerosis on clavicular and sternal aspects of the sternoclavicular joint. The prevalence of these degenerative signs increased with advancing age. We found a significantly higher prevalence of clavicular osteophytes among patients aged 70 years or older. We identified degenerative signs more commonly on the sternal aspect than the clavicular aspect. We believe that this finding is attributable to motion of the clavicular head with arm movements. Baker et al.¹² detected sclerosis and subchondral cysts on the outer clavicular surface more commonly than the joint surface in almost 50% of the study population. However, another study reported that osteophytes and subchondral cysts were located at equal rates on clavicular and sternal tips.¹⁰ Baker et al.¹² reported that there was diffuse intraarticular gas content within the sternoclavicular joint. Tuscano et al.⁹ detected intraarticular gas in 32% of patients, with 8% having bilateral gas content. We found that women had a greater rate of intraarticular gas content than men. On the other hand, we revealed that gas content was reduced by advancing age. We also showed that while there occurred a reduction in gas content, degenerative signs increased.

Shirazian et al.³ reported a rate of 17% for chondrocalcinosis within the sternoclavicular joint. Another study reported a rate of 3% for the same condition.¹⁰ We did not examine the presence of calcification within the sternoclavicular joint. We detected sternal ossicles in five patients and clavicular notch in seven patients.

Sternoclavicular joint subluxations are known to be rare and have difficulties in treatment. In patients with subluxation, we think the joint distances in this study will help with diagnosis. However, sternoclavicular joint distance and asymmetry of the joint show importance in arthroscopy in insertion surgical approach.¹³

Our study had some limitations. The major one is area small sample volume and a single-center design. Another limitation was its retrospective nature. We did not assess the soft tissue component of the sternoclavicular joint when we examined sternoclavicular joint distance and degenerative changes affecting the joint. As patients' hands were technically positioned at the level of head during the acquisition of CT images, we found a significant difference in the measurements made from the superior aspect on coronal plane. Therefore, we believe that using CT images acquired when both arms on both sides would be more useful for the evaluation of the sternoclavicular joint.

In conclusion, women have a narrower sternoclavicular joint distance than men, and sternoclavicular joint of healthy people does not show marked asymmetry. The study prevalence of degenerative signs of the sternoclavicular joint increased with advancing age. Gas content of the sternoclavicular joint is reduced with aging.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical committee approval was received from the Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee (PAÜ 60116787-020/18110).

Informed Consent: N/A

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - V.Ç., M.Ö.; Design - V.Ç.; Supervision - V.Ç.; Resource - V.Ç., M.Ö.; Materials - V.Ç., M.Ö.; Data Collection and/ or Processing - V.Ç., M.Ö.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - V.Ç., M.Ö.; Literature Search - V.Ç.; Writing - V.Ç.; Critical Reviews - V.Ç., M.Ö. Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

- Frosi G, Sulli A, Testa M, Cutolo M. The sternoclavicular joint: Anatomy, biomechanic, clinical features and aspects of manual therapy. *Reumatismo*. 2004;56:82-88.
- Sewell MD, Al-Hadithy N, Le Leu A, Lambert SM. Instability of the sternoclavicular joint: Current concepts in classification, treatment and outcomes. *Bone Joint J.* 2013;95(6):721-731. [CrossRef]
- Shirazian H, Chang EY, Wolfson T, Gamst AC, Chung CB, Resnick DL. Prevalence of sternoclavicular joint calcium pyrophosphate dihydrate crystal deposition on computed tomography. *Clin Imaging.* 2014;38(4):380-383. [CrossRef]
- Johnson MC, Jacobson JA, Fessell DP, Kim SM, Brandon C, Caoli E. The sternoclavicular joint: Can imaging differentiate infection from degenerative change? *Skeletal Radiol.* 2010;39:551-558. [CrossRef]
- 5. Lawrence CR, East B, Rashid A, Tytherleigh-Strong GM. The prevalence of osteoarthritis of the sternoclavicular joint on computed tomography. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2017;26:18-22.
- Ernberg L, Potter H. Radiographic evaluation of the acromioclavicular and sternoclavicular joints. *Clin Sports Med.* 2003;22(2):255-275. [CrossRef]

- Lucet L, Le Loët X, Ménard JF, et al. Computed tomography of the normal sternoclavicular joint. *Skelet Radiol.* 1996;25:237-241. [CrossRef]
- Celikyay F, Yuksekkaya R, Inanir A, Deniz C. Multidetector computed tomography findings of the sternoclavicular joint in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Imaging*. 2013;37(6):1104-1108. [CrossRef]
- Tuscano D, Banerjee S, Terk MR. Variations in normal sternoclavicular joints: A retrospective study to quantify SCJ asymmetry. *Skeletal Radiol.* 2009;38:997-1001. [CrossRef]
- De Maeseneer M, Lenchik L, Buls N, et al. High-resolution CT of the sternoclavicular joint and first costochondral synchondrosis in asymptomatic individuals. *Skeletal Radiol.* 2016;45:1257-1262. [CrossRef]
- II. Brossmann J, Stäbler A, Preidler KW, Trudell D, Resnick D. Sternoclavicular joint: MR imaging: Anatomic correlation. *Radiology*. 1996;198(1):193-198. [CrossRef]
- Baker ME, Martinez S, Kier R, Wain S. High resolution computed tomography of the cadaveric sternoclavicular joint: Findings in degenerative disease. *J Comp Tom.* 1988;12(1):13-18. [Cross-Ref]
- Van Tongel A, Van Hoof T, Pouliart N, Debeer P, D'Herde K, De Wilde L. Arthroscopy of the sternoclavicular joint: An anatomic evaluation of structures at risk. *Surg Radiol Anat.* 2014;36:375-381.

Evaluation of Methods for Determining Working Length in Root Canal Treatment for Primary Molars: An In-Vivo Study

Seçil Çalışkan^I (), Ebru Delikan²), Kenan Cantekin³

¹Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Pediatric Dentistry, Eskisehir Osmangazi University, Eskisehir, Turkey ²Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Pediatric Dentistry, Nuh Naci Yazgan University, Kayseri, Turkey ³Private Practice, Pediatric Dentistry, Kocaeli, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: S.C. 0000-0002-8099-584X; E.D. 0000-0003-1624-3392; K.C. 0000-0002-7725-4602.

Cite this article as: Calışkan S, Delikan E, Cantekin K. Evaluation of Methods for Determining Working Length in Root Canal Treatment for Primary Molars: An In-Vivo Study. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 141-145.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effectiveness of tactile sensation, digital periapical radiography, and two varieties of electronic apex locators (EALs) as methods of determining working length in root canal treatment for primary molars.

MATERIAL and METHODS

In this study, 30 infected mandibular primary second molar teeth in 12 children aged 5-8 years were analyzed. The working length was determined for each tooth using the tactile sensation, digital radiography, the ProPex Pixi[®], and Ipex[®] apex locators separately.

RESULTS

The mean root canal measurements taken using tactile sensation, Ipex, radiography, and Propex Pixi were II.02 \pm 2.05 mm, 9.47 \pm 1.71 mm, 9.73 ± 1.57 mm, and 8.85 ± 1.58 mm, respectively. The radiographic method yielded results that were similar to those derived with the apex locators but differed from the measurements obtained via tactile sensation.

CONCLUSION

EALs can be used to safely determine the working length in root canal treatment for primary molars.

Keywords: Apeks locators, primary molar, root canal treatment

INTRODUCTION

Although dental caries in children has decreased with increasing parental awareness and fluoride applications, numerous children still need pulp treatment.¹ This endodontic treatment maintains the health of primary teeth until their expected exfoliation when their pulp is necrotic or infected. Successful endodontic treatment crucially depends on accurately determining the working length in primary teeth as this prevents harm to periapical tissues and tooth germs.² The techniques for working length determination should, therefore, generate precise and reproducible results.³ The problem is that the accurate determination of the working length in primary teeth is difficult because of the altered anatomy of the teeth and physiological or pathological root resorption.^{4,5}

The anatomic apex is the end of a root to be determined morphologically, whereas the radiographic apex is the end of a root to be determined radiographically.⁶ In clinical practice, tactile sensation and conventional radiography have long served as methods of choice for determining the working length, but these approaches suffer from certain limitations. For example, the accuracy of tactile sensation changes with experience, and radiographic examination involving children is typically difficult because of poor cooperation of patients or an unsuitable sensor size for a child's small mouth.⁷ These techniques may also yield inaccurate information, especially in cases with root resorption.⁸ For these reasons, electronic apex locators (EALs), which are based on electrical principles instead of visual determinants, have been used more frequently to determine working length in primary teeth in recent years.

The first generation of EALs, developed in 1969, were resistance based. The second, third, fourth, and fifth generations developed in succeeding years were created on the grounds of impedance, frequency ratio, dual frequencies, and



multiple frequencies, respectively. Fifth-generation EALs, such as Propex Pixi, measure the capacitance and resistance of a circuit separately to determine the position of the file tip in the root canal.⁹

Limited studies have been devoted to the techniques used to determine working length in root canal treatment for primary teeth.^{10–12} To address this gap, the present in vivo study was conducted to compare the accuracy of tactile sensation, the digital radiographic method, and EALs in ascertaining working length. Thus, it was aimed to obtain a guiding result for physicians in determining the canal length in primary tooth canal treatments in pediatric dentistry clinical practice.

MATERIALS and METHODS

This study was conducted in the Department of Pediatric Dentistry at the Faculty of Dentistry in Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Turkey. The study protocol was approved by the university's ethics committee (E25403353-050.99-107474). Before performing any clinical procedures, informed consent was obtained from each child and parent or guardian.

Study Sample

To evaluate the accuracy of the working length measurement techniques, the sample size required for this study was calculated using G*Power (version 3.1.9.2), with consideration for a significance level of 5%, an effect size of 0.215, and a power of 90%. A sample size of 90 root canals per group was determined as enabling sufficient sensitivity to detect a difference of 0.4 mm.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Accordingly, 30 infected mandibular primary second molar teeth (90 root canals) of 12 children aged between 5 and 8 years were treated at the Department of Pediatric Dentistry.

Children with any systemic diseases as contraindications to endodontic treatment were excluded from the study. The teeth that were subjected to previous root canal manipulation and exhibiting radiographic evidence of calcification have perforated pulpal floor, excessive internal root resorption, external resorption to more than two-thirds of a root, excessive bone loss in furcation, uncontrollable bleeding, and insufficient structure for restoration were also excluded.

Pilot Study

Before initiating the clinical intervention, a pilot study involving six children was conducted. Pulpectomies of six primary molars were performed in a single appointment to standardize the procedure and to train the researcher on implementing the intervention and the researcher's measurements. For training

Main Points

- This study showed that EALs and radiographic methods exhibit similar performance in measuring the working length of root canals in primary molar teeth.
- The use of EALs in root canal treatments for primary molars reduce the need for radiography.
- EALs can be used to safely determine the working length in root canal treatment for primary molars.

and calibration, a standard reference researcher and an evaluator measured working length for the six primary molars using tactile sensation, the radiographic method, and two EALs (the ProPex Pixi and Ipex). The inter- and intraexaminer kappa coefficients were >0.91 and 1.00, respectively. All the root canal treatments were completed, but these measurements were not included in the main research.

Access Cavity Preparation

The teeth were first anesthetized with Ultracaine D-S Forte and then isolated using a rubber dam. Caries was removed, and the access cavity was prepared using a round diamond bur as copious water was sprayed onto each tooth. Barbed broaches were used to extirpate pulpal tissue, and 2.5% sodium hypochlorite served as the irrigation solution. Sterile cotton pellets were used to dry the cavity.

Study Groups

To determine working length for 90 root canals, the teeth were categorized into the following measurement groups:

Group I: Tactile sensation method

Group 2: Radiographic method (digital periapical radiography)

Group 3: Ipex EAL

Group 4: Propex Pixi EAL

Root Canal Length Determination via Tactile Sensation. In determining working length using tactile sensation (group I), a K-file with a tip that is best adjusted to the apical area was selected and gently inserted into the canal until the operator detected the narrowest region. A silicone stop was then placed at the coronal reference, and the tooth length was measured with an endodontic ruler (0.5 mm accuracy), with consideration for the end of the root.

Root Canal Length Determination by Radiography. In group 2, working length determination was performed using digital periapical radiography. Files, which were I mm shorter than the tooth length (as determined using a preoperative radiograph), were inserted into the canals. Before the radiographic evaluation, children were fitted with a protective thyroid lead and a protective lead apron. Digital periapical radiographs were taken using the paralleling technique while the files were in the canals. An X-ray positioning device was used to standardize the distances between the source and the tooth, and the tooth and the radiographic film. The cusp adjacent to the canal was regarded as the occlusal reference. The difference between the tip of the file and the end of the root was calculated on the basis of image. In cases wherein the file did not pass the apex, this amount and the original length were calculated. In cases where the file passed the apex, the amount of length protruding from the apex was subtracted from the original length. In cases where the file did not pass the apex, the amount of length retruding from the apex was added from the original length. Finally, I mm was subtracted from the adjusted length to confirm the cemento-dentinal junction and was recorded as the radiographic working length.

Root Canal Length Determination Using EALs. Electronic working length determination was performed either with Ipex (group 3) or ProPex Pixi (group 4). A lip clip was attached to the

Çalışkan et al. Evaluation of Apex Locators in Primary Teeth

patient's lower lip to complete the circuit. Then, the root canals were moistened with 0.9% saline solution, and a No. 15 K-file mounted onto a holder was gently inserted into the canals until a distance of 0.5 appeared on the screen (meaning that the tip of the file was at the apical constriction). Under a reading that was stable for at least 5 seconds, the file was pulled back, and the length between the silicone stopper and the tip of the file was measured with an endodontic ruler. The endodontic treatments were completed in a single appointment.

Statistical Analysis

All the data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 22.0 (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive analyses were initially performed. The accuracy of the electronic and radiographic methods was ascertained on the grounds of the total values of the measurements. The data were also examined via one-way repeated-measures analysis of variance and Sidak post hoc tests. A *P*-value of .05 was considered indicative of statistical significance.

RESULTS

The working length measured via tactile sensation ranged from 9.50 to 13.50 mm with a mean value of 11.02 \pm 2.05 mm. The measurements taken using Ipex ranged from 8.00 to 11.30 mm with the mean value of 9.47 \pm 1.71 mm, whereas the measurements derived through Propex Pixi ranged from 7.00 to 10.30 mm, with the mean value of 8.85 \pm 1.58 mm. The working length measured using digital periapical radiography ranged from 8.00 to 11.50 mm, with a mean value of 9.73 \pm 1.57 mm.

The results of the radiographic method were similar to those obtained using Ipex (P = .938) and Propex Pixi (P = .212), but these results differed from those acquired via tactile sensation (P = .023). The measurements taken using tactile sensation statistically and significantly differed from those taken using Ipex (P = .004) and Propex Pixi (P = .000). Tactile sensation also yielded longer measurements than those derived using the other techniques.

DISCUSSION

Maintaining the unity and functioning of primary teeth until physiological exfoliation is the main purpose of pediatric dentistry. Teeth with traumatic injury or excessive carious lesions may require endodontic treatment in the primary dentition.^{13,14} In the endodontic treatment of primary teeth, establishing working length accurately is vital for thorough cleaning and disinfecting root canals.^{5,15,16} However, working length determination in primary teeth is challenging because of issues such as oblique physiological root resorption, underlying succedaneous tooth germs, and poor cooperation of children.² Different techniques are used to determine the working length of primary teeth, but no definite judgment has been provided as to an ideal approach. The most important motivation for the current research was to clarify this issue.

Various ex vivo studies have evaluated the accuracy of root canal length determination in primary teeth using different methods, such as tactile sensation, radiography, and EAL usage. However, the precise simulation of the oral environment is impossible under ex vivo conditions and, therefore, cannot be a true representative of clinical situations in which the treatment is carried out entirely in the mouth. Only a few studies have been exclusively performed in in vivo conditions for primary teeth.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ To the best of our knowledge, no in vivo report has evaluated and compared the use of Propex Pixi and Ipex with different methods of determining working length (tactile sensation, radiographic method).

Physiological root resorption is not continuous. It has resting periods, which sometimes have cementum deposition on the resorbed root surface. These resorption-deposition processes cause changes in the shape, dimension, and position of the root apex.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ When apical construction is destroyed by root resorption, it could be difficult to determine the working length with radiography and tactile sensation. Physiological root resorption usually starts after the age of 8 in primary molar teeth.¹⁹ Therefore, primary molars (without root resorption) of patients aged 5-8 years were included in the present study to compare the reliability of root canal working length measurements.

Previous studies indicated that determining the working length using only tactile sensation produces incorrect results.^{4,5,8} This poor quality is attributed to the physiological resorption that causes variations in canal constriction. The results of these studies agree with those derived in the present study.

Generally, radiographs have been the main tool for establishing root canal length, but this approach has some drawbacks in the establishment of canal length.²⁰ Radiographs are twodimensional depictions of a three-dimensional complex, and correct canal length determination may be complicated given root resorption and the superimposition of succedaneous tooth germs over the roots of primary teeth.¹⁵ Radiographic distortion is another drawback, along with issues in patient cooperation, especially in children, which also affects the quality of a radiograph.^{21–23} Radiography also extends treatment time and, more importantly, subjects a patient to ionizing radiation. Despite these disadvantages, however, radiography remains the most frequently used method for determining the working length.

Some of the problems listed above have been eliminated with the introduction of intraoral digital radiography. The most important of these advancements is the reduction in radiation dose due to decreased exposure time.⁸ Such reduction in digital radiography is approximately 60%. Other advantages include the prompt display, improvement, magnification, storage, retrieval, and transmittal of images.²⁴ The main drawback to intraoral digital radiography is the high cost. Furthermore, as with conventional radiography, the adjustment of a sensor inside a child's mouth continues to be a problem. Both conventional and digital radiographic methods have been reported to produce misleading results for primary teeth because of variations in apical constriction and apical outcomes being located more coronal after oblique physiological resection.² Nevertheless, studies have concluded that digital radiographic methods and the use of apex locators reliably and accurately determine root canal length in primary teeth.^{2,8} In the present research, the radiographic method yielded results that were similar to those obtained with the apex locators.

EALs eliminated some of the inherent limitations of radiographic methods. They have gained popularity because they rely on electrical principles instead of visual determinants. They are more reliable and possess high reproducibility in locating apical foramen despite the presence of electrolytes inside canals.²⁵ They also solve the radiation problems associated with radiography.²⁶ The first versions of EALs measure the electrical resistance between the oral mucosa and the periodontal ligament. But unfortunately, they were generally insufficient in locating true apical constriction in the presence of conductive fluids.⁹ These devices cannot provide accurate measurements in the presence of vital tissue or fluid in the canal. In the recent past, multifrequency-ratio type EALs have been developed. The working mechanism of these devices is based on detecting the ratio between different electrical proportions for each impedance using different frequencies. With multifrequency-ratio type EALs, the shortcomings of the previous types were tried to be eliminated. These types of EALs, which have the ability to locate apical narrowing according to the rate of change in the impedance of signals of different wavelengths, have been the most frequently used and preferred devices.9-18

In this study, two different multifrequency-ratio type EALs (Propex Pixi and Ipex) were used and give similar results. The manufacturer of Propex Pixi and Ipex claim that these EALs perform highly accurate measurements given their use of multi-frequency technology under any canal conditions. Although frequency dependent EALs improve the accuracy of determining apical constriction, the performance of apex locators affected by the presence of liquids such as blood, saline, local anesthetics, and endodontic irrigants remains unclear.²⁷

An ex vivo study showed that compared with tactile sensation, conventional radiography, tactile sensation+conventional radiography, and digital radiography, EALs perform best in determining root canal length in primary teeth. Nonetheless, tactile sensation+conventional radiography can be an alternative when electronic resources are unavailable.²⁸ Another study reported that radiovisiography and Propex Pixi generate similar results in determining working length in the presence of irrigation solutions, with these methods showing no statistically significant difference in prediction rates.²⁹ Consistent with the literature, no statistically significant difference was found between the working lengths determined by radiographic methods and apex locators in the current study.^{17–19,28}

To conclude, the results indicated no significant difference between the use of Ipex and Propex Pixi and periapical digital radiography in determining the working length in root canal treatment for primary molars. The use of EALs may be useful as a means of protecting children from exposure to recurrent ionizing radiation, over-instrumentation, overfilling, damage to permanent tooth germs, and radiation exposure. These locators may also be useful in cases wherein the radiographic determination of root lengths is encumbered by limitations.

Clinical Significance

Apex locators, which are routinely used in determining the canal length in permanent dental endodontic treatments, have a definite place in determining the length of the primary tooth for pediatric dentists in clinical use.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical committee approval was received from Eskişehir Osmangazi University's ethics committee (E25403353-050.99-107474).

Informed Consent: Verbal informed consent was obtained from each child and parent or guardian who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - S.Ç., E.D., K.C.; Design - S.Ç., E.D.; Supervision - K.C; Resources - S.Ç., E.D.; Materials - S.Ç., E.D., K.C; Data Collection and/or Processing - S.Ç., E.D., K.C; Analysis and/or Interpretation - K.C.; Literature Search - S.Ç., E.D., K.C.; Writing Manuscript - S.Ç., E.D., K.C.; Critical Review - S.Ç., E.D.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Clinical Trial Registry Name: Accuracy of Apex Locators in Primary Teeth.

Clinical Trial Registry Number: NCT04638972.

- I. Allen KR. Endodontic treatment of primary teeth. *Aust Dent J.* 1979;24(5):347-351. [CrossRef]
- Abdullah A, Singh N, Rathore MS, Tandon S, Rajkumar B. Comparative evaluation of electronic apex locators and radiovisiography for working length determination in primary teeth in vivo. Int J Clin Pediatr Dent. 2016;9(2):II8-I23. [CrossRef]
- Ounsi HF, Haddad G. In Vitro evaluation of the reliability of the Endex electronic apex locator. J Endod. 1998;24(2):120-121. [CrossRef]
- Odabas ME, Bodur H, Tulunoglu O, Alacam A. Accuracy of an electronic apex locator: A clinical evaluation in primary molars with and without resorption. J Clin Pediatr Dent. 2011;35(3):255-258. [CrossRef]
- Mello-Moura ACV, Bresolin CR, Moura-Netto C, et al. Use of artificial primary teeth for endodontic laboratory research: Experiments related to canal length determination. *BMC Oral Health*. 2017;17(1):131. [CrossRef]
- Endodontists AAO. Glossary: Contemporary Terminology for Endodontics. Chicago, IL: American Association of Endodontists, 1994.
- Mente J, Seidel J, Buchalla W, Koch M. Electronic determination of root canal length in primary teeth with and without root resorption. *Int Endod J.* 2002;35(5):447-452. [CrossRef]
- Subramaniam P, Konde S, Mandanna D. An in vitro comparison of root canal measurement in primary teeth. *J Indian Soc Pedod Prev Dent*. 2005;23(3):124. [CrossRef]
- Serna-Peña G, Gomes-Azevedo S, Flores-Treviño J, Madla-Cruz E, Rodríguez-Delgado I, Martínez-González G. In Vivo evaluation of 3 electronic apex locators: Root ZX Mini, Apex ID, and Propex Pixi. J Endod. 2020;46(2):158-161. [CrossRef]
- Nellamakkada K, Patil SS, Kakanur M, Kumar RS, Thakur R. A clinical evaluation of two electronic apex locators and conventional radiography in working length determination in primary molar and its influence on children's behavioral responses. *J Indian Soc Pedod Prev Dent.* 2020;38(2):I58-I63. [CrossRef]
- II. Bhat KV, Shetty P, Anandakrishna L. A comparative evaluation of accuracy of new-generation electronic apex locator with conventional radiography to determine working length in primary teeth: An in vivo study. Int J Clin Pediatr Dent. 2017;10(1):34-36. [CrossRef]
- de Alencar NA, Oriano MD, Bolan M, Cardoso M. Is there any difference in length measurement methods for pulpectomies in primary teeth?—A double-blind, controlled clinical trial. *Int J Paediatr Dent.* 2019;29(6):712-719. [CrossRef]

- 13. AAPD. Guideline on pulp therapy for primary and young permanent teeth. *Pediatr Dent*. 2008;30(7 Suppl.):170-174. [CrossRef]
- Melius B, Jiang J, Zhu Q. Measurement of the distance between the minor foramen and the anatomic apex by digital and conventional radiography. *J Endod*. 2002;28(2):125-126. [Cross-Ref]
- Pineda F, Kuttler Y. Mesiodistal and buccolingual roentgenographic investigation of 7,275 root canals. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1972;33(1):101-110. [CrossRef]
- Kumar LV, Sreelakshmi N, Reddy ER, Manjula M, Rani ST, Rajesh A. Clinical evaluation of conventional radiography, radiovisiography, and an electronic apex locator in determining the working length in primary teeth. *Pediatr Dent*. 2016;38(I):37-41. [CrossRef]
- Neena IE, Ananthraj A, Praveen P, Karthik V, Rani P. Comparison of digital radiography and apex locator with the conventional method in root length determination of primary teeth. *J Indian Soc Pedod Prev Dent*. 2011;29(4):300-304. [CrossRef]
- Nellamakkada K, Patil S, Kakanur M, Kumar R, Thakur R. A clinical evaluation of two electronic apex locators and conventional radiography in working length determination in primary molar and its influence on children's behavioral responses. *J Indian Soc Pedod Prev Dent.* 2020;38(2):I58-I63. [CrossRef]
- Oznurhan F, Ünal M, Kapdan A, Ozturk C, Aksoy S. Clinical evaluation of apex locator and radiography in primary teeth. Int J Paediatr Dent. 2015;25(3):199-203. [CrossRef]
- 20. Leonardo MR, Silva LA, Nelson-Filho P, Silva RA, Raffaini MS. Ex vivo evaluation of the accuracy of two electronic apex locators

during root canal length determination in primary teeth. *Int Endod* J. 2008;41(4):317-321. [CrossRef]

- 21. Gelfand M, Sunderman EJ, Goldman M. Reliability of radiographical interpretations. *J Endod*. 1983;9(2):71-75. [CrossRef]
- Stein TJ, Corcoran JF. Radiographic "working length" revisited. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1992;74(6):796-800. [CrossRef]
- Ghaemmaghami S, Eberle J, Duperon D. Evaluation of the root ZX apex locator in primary teeth. *Pediatr Dent.* 2008;30(6):496-498. [CrossRef]
- 24. Gordon MP, Chandler NP. Electronic apex locators. *Int Endod J.* 2004;37(7):425-437. [CrossRef]
- 25. Jenkins JA, Walker WA 3rd, Schindler WG, Flores CM. An in vitro evaluation of the accuracy of the root ZX in the presence of various irrigants. *J Endod*. 2001;27(3):209-211. [CrossRef]
- Pagavino G, Pace R, Baccetti T. A SEM study of in vivo accuracy of the root ZX electronic apex locator. *J Endod*. 1998;24(6):438-441.
 [CrossRef]
- 27. Kim E, Lee SJ. Electronic apex locator. *Dent Clin North Am.* 2004;48(1):35-54. [CrossRef]
- Mello-Moura A, Moura-Netto C, Araki A, Guedes-Pinto A, Mendes F. Ex vivo performance of five methods for root canal length determination in primary anterior teeth. *Int Endod J.* 2010;43(2):142-147. [CrossRef]
- 29. Adriano LZ, Barasuol JC, Cardoso M, Bolan M. In Vitro comparison between apex locators, direct and radiographic techniques for determining the root canal length in primary teeth. *Eur Arch Paediatr Dent.* 2019;20(5):403-408. [CrossRef]

Correlation of the Epworth Sleepiness Scale with Polysomnography Parameters in Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome Patients

Şeyda Akbal (), Süleyman Emre Karakurt (), Zekiye Orhan (), Mustafa Çolak (), Mehmet Fatih Karakuş (), Fakih Cihat Eravcı ()

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Health Sciences University Ankara Numune Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: S.A. 0000-0003-4554-9278; S.E.K. 0000-0002-3394-8119; Z.O. 0000-0003-4946-9160; M.Ç. 0000-0002-3191-4134; M.F.K. 0000-0002-6264-5416; F.C.E. 0000-0001-9092-7923.

Cite this article as: Akbal S, Karakurt SE, Orhan Z, Çolak Z, Karakuş MF, Eravcı FC. Correlation of the Epworth Sleepiness Scale with Polysomnography Parameters in Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome Patients. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 146-150.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

The aim of the present study was to find out whether Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS) is correlated with polysomnography (PSG) and which specific polysomnographic parameter is most closely associated with ESS scores and thus excessive daytime sleepiness.

MATERIAL and METHODS

The study included patients with an initial diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS). All patients completed a validated Turkish version of the ESS. Patients were divided into two groups based on their ESS scores as those with an ESS score below 10 and those scoring above 10. The differences in mean values of PSG parameters were compared between the two groups. Correlations between ESS scores and PSG parameters were investigated for all patients.

RESULTS

The study included I74 patients. The group with ESS scores above I0 was found to have significantly greater apnea-hypopnea index (AHI), arousal index, oxygen desaturation (ODI), and total sleep time spent with an oxygen saturation less than 90% in comparison to the group with ESS scores below I0. A moderate positive correlation between ESS scores and ODI and weak positive correlations between ESS scores and AHI and arousal index were found.

CONCLUSION

Given the finding that ODI had the strongest correlation with ESS, it can be concluded that as well as being closely related to the subjective symptoms of OSAS, ODI is the PSG parameter that best reflects excessive daytime sleepiness.

Keywords: Epworth Sleepiness Scale, excessive daytime sleepiness, obstructive sleep apnea, polysomnography

INTRODUCTION

Sleep is a critical component of our lives, and we spend about one-third of our life sleeping. Breathing problems during sleep and daytime sleepiness are prevalent complaints in modern societies. Sleep-related breathing disorders are the most common type of sleep disorders. Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS) is the most frequent form of sleep related breathing disorder.¹ Obstructive sleep apnea is characterized by repetitive pharyngeal collapses during sleep. Complete or partial pharyngeal collapses result in oxygen desaturation, hypercapnia, and sleep fragmentation. Interruptions of breathing caused repeated pharyngeal collapses are associated with blood gas deterioration and arousals and disruption of sleep continuity.^{2,3} Disrupted sleep continuity causes daytime sleepiness, which is a major symptom of OSAS. Several subjective and objective tests have been described to investigate daytime sleepiness of individuals. The Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS) is a simple, validated subjective tool, which was first developed in 1991. The ESS is a self-administered questionnaire in which respondents rate their usual chances of dozing off or falling asleep while engaged in different activities. Due to ease of use, the ESS is currently the most widely used subjective test for assessment of sleepiness.^{4,5} Many studies exist in literature addressing the correlation of ESS with polysomnographic findings.

This study was presented at the 40th Turkish Otorhinolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery Congress November 7-11, 2018, Antalya, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Süleyman Emre Karakurt E-mail: suleymanemrekarakurt@gmail.com However, to our best knowledge, there are no studies that focused on the correlation of the ESS with polysomnographic parameters and a specific polysomnographic parameter that is most closely associated with ESS scores and thus excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS). This study was designed to seek answer to the following question: "Which polysomnography parameter best reflects excessive daytime sleepiness?"

MATERIALS and METHODS

Approval from the institutional ethics committee was obtained before initiation of the study from Ankara Numune Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Decision no: E-18-2127). Patients were informed, and their signed consents were taken. Medical records of patients presenting with complaints of snoring, witnessed apnea, and daytime sleepiness between January 2013 and June 2018 who underwent overnight polysomnography were reviewed retrospectively. Patients of both sexes with an apnea-hypopnea index (AHI) equal to or greater than 5 were included in the study. Patients with a sleep efficiency below 60% and total sleep duration less than 240 minutes, patients with suspected central sleep apnea, patients with a mental illness or neurological pathology, patients with a history of insomnia, narcolepsy, hypersomnia, and periodic limb movement disorder, and patients whose ESS questionnaires were not available were excluded.

At the time of initial examination, patients were asked to complete the validated Turkish version of the ESS.⁶ The ESS is an instrument with eight questions that is used for assessment of daytime sleepiness. Respondents are asked to rate, on a 4point scale (0-3), their usual chances of dozing off or falling asleep while engaged in eight different activities. The total ESS score is the sum of 8 item scores.

Polysomnography was conducted overnight during spontaneous sleep of patients under the supervision of a sleep technician in a single room at our hospital's sleep center. Audio monitoring and digital video recording were performed all through the night. During polysomnography, data from four-channel electroencephalogram, electromyogram (EMG-submental), EMG (right-left tibialis), two-channel electrooculogram (right-left), electrocardiography, nasal airflow, thoracic, and abdominal breathing movements, blood oxygen saturation by pulse oximetry, and body position were recorded overnight. Manual scoring was performed by an otorhinolaryngologist with special knowledge on sleep disturbance and polysomnography certificate using the criteria established by the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. Apnea was scored when there was a drop in the peak signal excursion by \geq 90% of the pre-event baseline and the duration of the ${\geq}90\%$ drop in sensor signal was ${\geq}I0$ seconds. The respiratory event to be defined as apnea as per the criteria was scored as obstructive when it was accompa-

Main Points

- The Epworth Sleepiness Scale is a useful tool for assessing excessive daytime sleepiness.
- Oxygen desaturation index is the most strongly correlated polysomnography parameter with Epworth sleepiness scale.
- High oxygen desaturation index values may have the potential to predict increased daytime sleepiness.

nied by a sustained or increasing inspiratory effort during the whole period without airflow, or as central when no inspiratory effort was present. The event was scored as mixed type apnea when an inspiratory effort was absent in the beginning but started later on. Hypopnea was scored when the peak signal excursions dropped by \geq 30% of pre-event baseline using nasal pressure (diagnostic study) for \geq 10 seconds in association with \geq 3% arterial oxygen desaturation or an arousal.⁷

Patients were divided into two groups based on their ESS scores as those with an ESS score below 10 and those scoring above 10. The differences in mean values of polysomnography parameters were compared between the two groups including AHI, sleep latency, sleep efficiency, the percentages of non-rapid eye movement (REM) stage I sleep (NREMI%), non-REM stage 2 sleep (NREM2%), non-REM stage 3 sleep (NREM3%) and REM sleep (REM%), arousal index, oxygen desaturation index (ODI), total sleep time spent with an oxygen saturation less than 90% (TST < 90%), mean oxygen saturation, minimum oxygen saturation. Correlations between ESS scores and age, body mass index and polysomnography parameters were investigated for all patients.

Statistical Analysis

Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was used to analyze the distribution of the data. Mean values were provided with their standard deviations. The significance of difference between means was tested with the T-test when data were normally distributed and with the Mann–Whitney U test when data were non-normally distributed. Spearman correlation analysis was used to test correlations between ESS and polysomnography (PSG) parameters. A *P* value less than .05 was considered significant. Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 21.0 (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA) was used for statistical analyses.

RESULTS

A total of I74 patients (I32 males and 42 females) were included in the study. The mean age of the patients was 47.8 years. Polysomnographic parameters for the two groups with ESS scores below or above I0 were as follows: AHI, 29.95 ± 23.56 and 48.14 \pm 30.16; sleep latency, 17.94 \pm 12.73 and 18.25 \pm 13.02; sleep efficiency %, 83.37 \pm 9.52 and 82.43 \pm 10.21; NREM1%, 8.26 \pm 5.61 and II.34 \pm 9.18; NREM2%, 51.6 \pm 10.9 and 53.94 \pm 13.95; NREM3%, 23.81 \pm 10.06 and 19.83 \pm 11.81; REM%, 15.21 \pm 6.03 and 14.15 \pm 6.21; arousal index, 15.8 \pm 16 and 28.25 \pm 22.54; ODI, 22.75 \pm 23.41 and 48.96 \pm 34.67; TST <90%, 7.56 \pm 14.42 and 18.48 \pm 24.33; mean oxygen saturation, 93.41 \pm 2.54 and 91.62 \pm 5.25; minimum oxygen saturation, 78.66 \pm 12.08 and 72.59 \pm 17.35, respectively (*P* values <.001, .909, .660, .062, .257, .043, .443, <.001, <.001, .007, .049, and .048, respectively). Statistically significant differences were found between the two groups in the mean values of AHI, NREM3%, arousal index, ODI, TST < 90%, mean oxygen saturation, and minimum oxygen saturation (Table I).

ESS scores were not correlated with age or body mass index. ESS scores were positively correlated with AHI, arousal index, ODI, and TST < 90% and negatively correlated with NREM3%, mean oxygen saturation, and minimum oxygen saturation (*P* and r values: <.001 and 0.265, .001, and 0.256, <.001 and 0.416, .002, and 0.228, .036 and -0.159, .049 and -0.144, .006 and -0.208, respectively). A moderate positive correlation between ESS scores and ODI, weak correlations between ESS scores and AHI, arousal index, TST < 90% and minimum oxygen saturation TABLE I. Mean Values of Polysomnoaraphy Parameters for Groups Stratified by ESS Scores

	Group with ESS scores below I0 ($n = II2$)	Group with ESS scores above I0 (n = 62)	<i>P</i> value
AHI	29.95 ± 23.56	48.14 ± 30.16	<.001
Sleep latency (minutes)	17.94 ± 12.73	18.25 ± 13.02	.909
Sleep efficiency (%)	83.37 ± 9.52	82.43 ± 10.21	.660
NREMI%	8.26 ± 5.6I	II.34 ± 9.18	.062
NREM2%	51.6 ± 10.9	53.94 ± 13.95	.257
NREM3%	23.8I ± 10.06	19.83 ± 11.81	.043
REM%	15.21 ± 6.03	14.15 ± 6.21	.443
Arousal index	15.8 ± 16	28.25 ± 22.54	<.001
ODI	22.75 ± 23.4I	48.96 ± 34.67	<.001
TST < 90%	7.56 ± 14.42	18.48 ± 24.33	.007
Mean oxygen saturation	93.4I ± 2.54	91.62 ± 5.25	.049
Minimum oxygen saturation	78.66 ± 12.08	72.59 ± 17.35	.048

All values are provided as means with standard deviations.

ESS, Epworth Sleepiness Scale; AHI, apnea-hypopnea index; NREMI%, non-REM stage I sleep percentage; NREM2%, non-REM stage 2 sleep percentage; NREM3%, non-REM stage 3 sleep percentage; REM%, REM sleep percentage; ODI, oxygen desaturation index; TST < 90%, total sleep time spent with an oxygen saturation less than 90%.

TABLE 2. Correlations of ESS Sca and Polysomnographic Parameter	ores with Age, Bo 's	ody Mass Index,
	<i>P</i> value	r
Age	.468	
Body mass index	.193	
AHI	<.001	0.265
Sleep latency (minutes)	.263	
Sleep efficiency (%)	.203	
NREMI%	.387	
NREM2%	.436	
NREM3%	.036	-0.159
REM%	.313	
Arousal index	.001	0.256
ODI	<.001	0.416
TST < 90%	.002	0.228
Mean oxygen saturation	.049	-0.144
Minimum oxygen saturation	.006	-0.208

ESS, Epworth Sleepiness Scale; AHI, apnea-hypopnea index; NREMI%, non-REM stage I sleep percentage; NREM2%, non-REM stage 2 sleep percentage; NREM3%, non-REM stage 3 sleep percentage; REM%, REM sleep percentage; ODI, oxygen desaturation index; TST < 90%, total sleep time spent with an oxygen saturation less than 90%.

and very weak correlations between ESS scores and NREM3% and mean oxygen saturation were found (Table 2) (Figure I).

DISCUSSION

In this study, AHI, arousal index, ODI, and TST < 90% were significantly greater in the group with ESS scores above 10 compared to the group with ESS scores below 10. NREM3%, mean oxygen saturation, and minimum oxygen saturation were significantly lower in the group with ESS scores above 10 compared to the group with ESS scores below 10. ESS scores were positively correlated with AHI, arousal index, ODI, and TST < 90% and negatively correlated with NREM3%, mean oxygen saturation, and minimum oxygen saturation. A moderate correlation between ESS scores and ODI, weak correlations between ESS scores and AHI, arousal index, TST < 90% and minimum oxygen saturation and very weak correlations between ESS scores and NREM3%, mean oxygen saturation were found.

relation of the ESS with polysomnographic parameters, with some studies showing positive correlations whereas others reporting none.^{12,8} In their study, Ozcan et al.² investigated the consistency of ESS results with polysomnographic findings and reported no statistically significant associations between patient ESS scores and AHI, TST < 90% and arousal index values. A separate study found slightly greater AHI and arousal index in patients with EDS than those without EDS.⁸ In our study, the group of patients with EDS showed highly significantly greater mean values of AHI, ODI, and arousal index in comparison to the group without EDS.

Discordant results have been reported in literature on the cor-

A cut-off of I0 points is recommended for ESS scoring.⁹ Patients with an ESS score above this cut-off may be considered to have EDS. In a study in which patients were considered to have EDS if the ESS was >I0, sleep latency was found to be shorter in the group with EDS.⁸ In the same study, patients with EDS were found to have less NREM sleep in stages I and 2 and greater sleep efficiency and longer NREM sleep in stage 3 than those without EDS. In light of these data, the authors concluded that EDS was not associated poor sleep quality.⁸ We found no significant differences between the groups with an ESS score below or above I0 with respect to sleep latency, sleep efficiency, and NREM sleep in stages I and 2. The group with an ESS score below I0 had longer NREM sleep in stage 3. Thus, EDS was not considered to be directly associated with sleep quality.

While the exact mechanisms of sleepiness have not been fully elucidated, EDS attributed to nocturnal hypoxemia, sleep fragmentation, or both in OSAS patients.^{10–15} Roure et al.⁸ stated that nocturnal hypoxemia might be a contributing factor to the development of EDS. Additionally, they found higher arousal index values in patients with EDS, which led them to suggest that sleep fragmentation may also have a role in EDS. Temirbekov et al.¹ examined the correlation of ESS scores with AHI and ODI values and found a stronger correlation of ESS with ODI than that with AHI and also suggested that the subjective symptoms of OSAS were closely related to ODI. When we examined the correlation of ESS scores with PSG parameters, ODI was most strongly correlated with ESS scores.



Figure I. Correlation levels between polysomnography parameters and Epworth Sleepiness Scale scores according to correlation coefficient (r)

Positive correlations were also found between the parameters of nocturnal hypoxemia other than ODI (TST < 90%, meanoxygen saturation, minimum oxygen saturation) and ESS scores. Considering the correlations of ESS scores with polysomnographic parameters that indicate sleep fragmentation and sleep quality, we did not find any correlations between ESS scores and sleep latency, sleep efficiency, NREMI%, NREM2%, and REM% but observed a very weak negative correlation of ESS scores with NREM3% and a weak positive correlation of ESS scores with arousal index. Based on these results, it may be suggested that nocturnal hypoxemia plays a more prominent role in the development of EDS in comparison to sleep fragmentation.

As a conclusion, while the ESS is a subjective tool that does not take into account cognitive function, work conditions, and sociocultural status of individuals, it has the potential to indicate the severity of OSAS and disrupted nocturnal oxygenation. Given the finding that ODI had the strongest correlation with ESS, it can be concluded that as well as being closely related to the subjective symptoms of OSAS, ODI is the PSG parameter that best reflects EDS. Higher ODI values may predict EDS in OSAS patients.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical committee approval was received from Ankara Numune Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Decision no: E-18-2127).

Informed Consent: Written or verbal informed consent was obtained from all participants who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - Ş.A., S.E.K., Z.O., F.C.E.; Design - Ş.A., S.E.K., F.C.E.; Supervision - Ş.A., M.Ç., M.F.K.; Resource - Ş.A., S.E.K., Z.O.; Materials - Ş.A., S.E.K., Z.O.; Data Collection and/or Processing - M.Ç., M.F.K.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - S.E.K., MÇ., M.F.K.; Literature Search - Z.O., M.F.K., F.C.E.; Writing - Ş.A., M.Ç. S.E.K.; Critical Reviews -Ş.A., F.C.E., Z.O.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- I. Temirbekov D, Güneş S, Yazıcı ZM, Sayın İ. The ignored parameter in the diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: The oxygen desaturation index. *Turk Arch Otorhinolaryngol.* 2018;56:1-6. [CrossRef]
- Ozcan KM, Ozdas T, Ozdogan F, et al. Inconsistency of the Epworth sleepiness scale results with the polysomnography findings in patients with sleep-disordered breathing. *Kulak Burun Bogaz Ihtis Derg.* 2012;22(4):195-199. [CrossRef]
- Eckert DJ, Younes MK. Arousal from sleep: Implications for obstructive sleep apnea pathogenesis and treatment. *Appl Physiol.* 2014;116(3):302-313. [CrossRef]
- Guimarães C, Martins MV, Vaz Rodrigues L, Teixeira F, Moutinho Dos Santos J. Epworth Sleepiness Scale in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Rev Port Pneumol.* 2012;18(6):267-271. [CrossRef]
- Atan D, İkincioğulları A, Özcan KM, Dere H. Evaluation of the relationship between body mass index and polysomnograpy parameters in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Turkish J Rhinol.* 2015;4(1):1-5. [CrossRef]
- Izci B, Ardic S, Firat H, Sahin A, Altinors M, Karacan I. Reliability and validity studies of the Turkish version of the Epworth Sleepiness Scale. *Sleep Breath*. 2008;12:161-168. [CrossRef]
- Berry RB, Brooks R, Gamaldo CE, et al. The AASM Manual for the Scoring of Sleep and Associated Events: Rules, Terminology and Technical Specifications, Version 2.0.3. Darien, IL: American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2014. Available at www.aasmnet.org (accessed date 8 January 2014)
- Roure N, Gomez S, Mediano O, et al. Daytime sleepiness and polysomnography in obstructive sleep apnea patients. *Sleep Med.* 2008;9(7):727-731. [CrossRef]
- Johns MW. Sensitivity and specificity of the multiple sleep latency test (MSLT), the maintenance of wakefulness test and the Epworth sleepiness scale: Failure of the MSLT as a gold standard. J Sleep Res. 2000;9(I):5-II. [CrossRef]
- Guilleminault C, Partinen M, Quera-Salva MA, Hayes B, Dement WC, Nino-Murcia G. Determinants of daytime sleepiness in obstructive sleep apnea. *Chest*. 1988;94(1):32-37. [CrossRef]
- II. Colt HG, Haas H, Rich GB. Hypoxemia vs sleep fragmentation as cause of excessive daytime sleepiness in obstructive sleep apnea. *Chest.* 1991;100(6):1542-1548. [CrossRef]

- Bedard MA, Montplaisir J, Richer F, Malo J. Nocturnal hypoxemia as a determinant of vigilance impairment in sleep apnea syndrome. *Chest*. 1991;100(2):367-370. [CrossRef]
- Gottlieb DJ, Whitney CW, Bonekat WH, et al. Relation of sleepiness to respiratory disturbance index—The sleep heart health study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (999;159(2):502-507. [CrossRef]
- Punjabi NM, O'Hearn DJ, Neubauer DN, et al. Modeling hypersomnolence in sleep-disordered breathing—A novel approach using survival analysis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*. 1999;159(6):1703-1709. [CrossRef]
- Johns MW. Daytime sleepiness, snoring, and obstructive sleep apnea: The Epworth Sleepiness Scale. *Chest.* 1993;103(1):30-36.
 [CrossRef]

Antimicrobial Effects of Gutta-Percha Points Containing Root Canal Medications against Some Anaerobic Bacterial Species and *Enterococcus faecalis*

Fatma Kermeoğlu^I (), Meltem Dartar Öztan² (), Mehmet Kıyan³ ()

¹Department of Endodontics, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus ²Department of Endodontics, Ankara University Faculty of Dentistry, Ankara, Turkey ³Department of Microbiology, Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: M.D.Ö. 0000-0002-1693-0355; M.K. 0000-0002-6748-2070; F.K. 0000-0001-9238-5312.

Cite this article as: Öztan MD, Kıyan M, Kermeoğlu F. Antimicrobial Effects of Gutta-Percha Points Containing Root Canal Medications against Some Anaerobic Bacterial Species and *Enterococcus faecalis*. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 151-156.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

The purpose of this study was to examine the ability of gutta-percha points to reduce bacterial counts.

MATERIAL and METHODS

ISO #40-sized Calcium Hydroxide Plus Points or Activ Points were used for all experiments. Three pieces of each type of gutta-percha points were placed in sterile 0.5-mL eppendorf tubes. After incubating the plates in an anaerobic chamber at 37°C for 2 days, colony forming units' (CFUs) numbers per milliliter of suspension were calculated, and CFU numbers relating to each time interval were statistically analyzed by using Kruskal–Wallis I-way analysis of variance and multiple comparison tests.

RESULTS

The results showed that Calcium Hydroxide Plus Points or Activ Points have similar effects to kill the tested microorganisms except *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Peptostreptococcus micros*.

CONCLUSION

Calcium Hydroxide Plus Points or Activ Points have similar effects to kill the tested microorganisms and did not kill 100% of *E. faecalis* and *P. micros*.

Keywords: Active point, anaerobic bacteria, antimicrobial activity, calcium hydroxide plus point, E. faecalis

INTRODUCTION

Endodontic treatment plays an important role in eliminating bacteria and their substrates by instrumentation, irrigation, usage of intracanal medicaments, and antibacterial obturation materials. If root canal treatment is not performed, the infection can reach the area surrounding the dental root apex and cause an inflammatory response.¹ Several cultural and molecular studies have revealed that more than 500 various bacterial species or phylotypes have been determined in infected root canals.² Obligatory anaerobic bacteria predominate the root canals, including *Porphyromonas, Prevotella, Fusobacterium, Peptostreptococcus,* and *Eubacterium.* Some gram-positive facultative anaerobes, such as *Actinomyces, Lactobacillus, Streptococcus, Enterococcus, Gemella,* and *Staphylococcus,* have also been frequently isolated from acute abscesses of endodontic origin.³

To achieve local healing and stop the pathologic process, the bacteria need to be eliminated as far as possible from all parts of the root canal system.⁴ Tests have been conducted on many substances, which have been utilized for intracanal medication. Calcium hydroxide represents the most frequently utilized intracanal medication. Calcium hydroxide exerts an antimicrobial effect, and it is also able to neutralize bacterial endotoxins.^{5–7} Chlorhexidine is an alternative substance for root canal medication that is capable of eliminating gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria,^{9,10} but it can not





0 S Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.

TABLE I. Contents of the Gutta-Percha Points Used in this Study					
Gutta-percha points	Contents				
Calcium Hydroxide Plus Points	52% calcium hydroxide, 42% gutta-percha, sodium chloride, surfactant, coloring agents				
Activ Points	5% chlorhexidine diacetate, gutta-percha, ZnO, BaSO ₄ , coloring agents				

neutralize bacterial endotoxins.⁸ For the selection of an appropriate intracanal medication, the antimicrobial properties of local endodontic disinfectants should be known.

The present research aimed to examine the ability of calcium hydroxide and chlorhexidine-containing gutta-percha points to reduce the bacterial counts of some obligatory anaerobe bacterial species and *Enterococcus faecalis*.

MATERIALS and METHODS

A method presented by Podbielski et al.^{II} was used in this study. Gutta-percha points, which were ISO #40-sized, were used. ROEKO Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points (ROEKO, Langenau, Germany) and ROEKO chlorhexidine diacetateimpregnated active points (ROEKO, Langenau, Germany) were used to test the efficiency of bacterial reduction in all tests. Table I contains information on the points' contents.

Microorganisms

Peptostreptococcus micros (NCTC II808), Eubacterium lentum (NCTC II813), Prevotella intermedia (NCTC I3070), Prevotella melaninogenica (NCTC I2963), Porphyromonas endodontalis (NCTC I3058), and *E. faecalis* (ATCC 29212) were utilized in the present research. All bacterial strains were cultured in thiogly-colate broth (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) added with 0.5 mg/L of vitamin K (Sigma, St. Louis, USA) and 5 mg/L of hemin (Sigma, St. Louis, USA), and Schaedler agar (BBL, Cockeysville, USA) and *E. faecalis* on 5% sheep blood agar (Lab M, IDG, Lancashire, UK).

Procedure

The bacterial count per milliliter was detected by using a Nano Photometer Pearl spectrophotometer (Implen GmbH, Munich, Germany) to measure the optical densities of cultures at a 600 nm wavelength (OD_{600}) for each strain. Individual standard curves were formed as a result of plotting different bacterial concentrations, demonstrated by viable plate counting of colony forming units (CFUs) against the optical density of the suspension at a 600 nm wavelength. The obtained standard curves were utilized for the spectrophotometric detection of bacterial concentrations utilized in the tests.

Main Points

- There were statistically significant differences between the control group and the experimental groups at 14 days.
- Calcium Hydroxide Plus Points and Activ Points presented antimicrobial activity against all of the strains.
- Calcium Hydroxide Plus Points or Activ Points have similar effects to kill the tested microorganisms and both material did not kill 100% E. faecalis and P. micros.

For quantitative assays, bacteria suspensions at OD_{600} levels previously determined to contain 2×10^7 CFU/mL were prepared. All the test microorganisms were sedimented as a result of centrifuging at 2000 g for IO minutes using a UniCen I5DR (Herolab GmbH, Wlesloch, Germany) and were then resuspended in 3.1 mL of a mixture containing equivalent volumes of a newly prepared human serum and 0.9% NaCl solution. Serum collection was performed from four different donors. Inactivation of the serum was carried out at a temperature of 56°C for a period of 30 minutes in a water bath, GFL model 1083 (LabortechnikmbH, Burgwedel, Germany), and it was then reduced by incubation in an anaerobic chamber for 4 hours before use. Three pieces of every type of gutta-percha points were put in sterile 0.5-mL Eppendorf tubes (Greiner bio-one GMBh, Frickenhausen, Germany). The pieces were acquired as a result of cutting the points into three parts by utilizing sterilized surgical blades and tweezers. Afterward, aliquots (100 µL) of the bacteria that had been suspended in the diluted serum were put into the Eppendorf tubes. The tubes that contained only bacteria suspensions were used as growth controls. Different tubes for every experimental day (I, 2, 3, 4, 7, and I4 days) were arranged for every condition. The final active compound concentrations were found to be I μ g/IOO μ L chlorhexidine diacetate for the active points and 6.29 μ g/IO0 μ L calcium hydroxide for Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points.¹²

For *E. faecalis*, the tubes were kept in an incubator at a temperature of 37°C, and for anaerobic bacteria, the tubes were kept in an anaerobic chamber, Bactron model I-2 (Sheldon Manufacturing Inc., USA). The removal of tubes was performed at days I, 2, 3, 4, 7, and I4. At the above-mentioned time, the tubes were vortexed for a period of I5 seconds using the Vortex Mixer MX-S (DragonLab, Beijing, China). The tubes were then opened, and serial dilution of I0- μ L aliquots of the bacterial suspensions was performed in a sterile solution of 0.9% NaCl. Aliquots (I0 μ L) of the dilution steps were streaked onto a solid medium (Schaedler agar or blood agar). Following the incubation of the plates in an anaerobic chamber at a temperature of 37°C for a period of 2 days, CFU numbers per milliliter of the suspension were computed. Every assay was performed again on six independent cases.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out by the Kruskal–Wallis oneway analysis of variance (ANOVA) and multiple comparison tests. The Kruskal–Wallis one-way ANOVA test was conducted for the purpose of evaluating the alteration in CFU numbers with regard to every time interval; when the *P*-value was statistically significant (P < .01), multiple comparison tests were used to evaluate which groups differed from which others. The Bonferroni correction was used for multiple comparisons.

RESULTS

The inhibition of bacterial growth was assessed as a result of employing viable plate counting of cultures that had been grown when the gutta-percha points that contained calcium hydroxide or chlorhexidine diacetate were present. Figures I–6 demonstrate the susceptibilities of the studied microorganisms to the gutta-percha points that contained the two root canal medicaments.

Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points were able to kill *P. endodontalis* and *E. lentum* within I day and *P. intermedia* and *P.*



Figure I. Survival of *Enterococcus faecalis* in quantitative in vitro assays to measure the antimicrobial activity of gutta-percha points containing root canal medications



Figure 2. Survival of *Eubacterium lentum* in quantitative in vitro assays to measure the antimicrobial activity of gutta-percha points containing root canal medications



melaninogenica within 2 days. The active points were able to kill *P. intermedia* and *P. melaninogenica* within 2 days, *P. endodontalis* within 4 days, and *E. lentum* within 7 days. However, neither Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points nor the active points exhibited adequate antimicrobial activity to kill *E. faecalis* or *P. micros* in a period of 14 days. The results showed that Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points and the active points have comparable killing effects on the studied microorganisms apart from *E. faecalis* and *P. micros*.

When the antibacterial activity of Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points and the active points against *E. faecalis* was examined, a statistically significant difference was found between Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points and the active points at only 2 days (P = .012). Statistically significant differences were determined



Figure 4. Survival of *Porhyromonas endodontalis* in quantitative in vitro assays to measure the antimicrobial activity of gutta-percha points containing root canal medications







assays to measure the antimicrobial activity of gutta-percha points containing root canal medications. (A) Activ Point (chlorhexidine diacetate); (B) Calcium Hydroxide Plus Points

between the experimental groups and the control group for all days (P < .01), with the exception of the active points and the control group at 2 days (P > .05). For *P. micros*, statistically significant differences were found among the groups at days I, 2, 3, 4, and 7 (P < .001). No statistically significant difference was determined between the two experimental groups at I4 days (P > .05). However, statistically significant differences were identified between the control group and the experimental groups at I4 days (P = .05). Statistically significant differences were found between the experimental groups and the control group for *E. lentum* for all days (P < .001), whereas statistically significant differences were the two experimental groups (P < .001). For *P. endodontalis*, statistically significant differences were determined at only I, 2, and 3 days between the two experimental groups (P < .001). For *P. endodontalis*, statistically significant differences were calcium

Hydroxide PLUS Points and the active points at I, 2, and 3 days ($P \le .01$). The differences were found to be statistically insignificant at 4, 7, and 14 days for the experimental groups (P > .05), but the control group and the experimental groups differed statistically significantly at I, 2, 3, 4, 7, and 14 days (P < .001).

For *P. melaninogenica* and *P. intermedia*, no statistically significant differences were found between Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points and the active points for the whole experimental period (P > .05). The control group and the experimental groups differed statistically and significantly at I, 2, 3, 4, 7, and I4 days (P < .00).

DISCUSSION

The primary goal of successful root canal treatment is eliminating microorganisms from root canals and preventing the following reinfection. Despite the elimination of most bacteria by the biomechanical preparation of the root canal space, a number of microorganisms may survive and increase rapidly in the anatomical complexities of root canals. The microbiota in infected root canals has polymicrobial properties and anaerobic gram-positive cocci dominate it.¹³ The bacterial species that were used in our study are most frequently isolated from root canal infections, and *E. faecalis* represents the main pathogen that is associated with root-filled teeth with persistent lesions, since it exhibits resistance especially to numerous conventional antimicrobial agents utilized in clinical practice.^{11,14}

Growth conditions that are similar to the common in situ conditions as much as possible represent a significant parameter in assays that investigate antimicrobial effects. Human serum was utilized as the most appropriate test medium in the current research, because a liquid that seeps into the instrumented root canal will represent interstitial fluid and a filtrate of blood components.

Intracanal medicaments are routinely used for root canal disinfection as part of controlling sepsis in root canal treatment.^{14,15} The antimicrobial efficiency of the gutta-percha points that contained different medications on different bacterial species was determined in the present research.

Calcium hydroxide has emerged as a popular endodontic intracanal medicament. Calcium hydroxide is available in several formulations due to the number of vehicles that can be used along with it. The most common formulation is calcium hydroxide powder that is mixed with distilled water. A problem associated with it is its incomplete removal of calcium hydroxide remnants from the canal walls.

Calcium hydroxide points are designed for releasing calcium hydroxide from the gutta-percha matrix.¹⁶ Calcium hydroxide ionization and the release of hydroxyl ions promoting the increased pH of the medium and its maintenance determine the antimicrobial mechanism of calcium hydroxide-containing gutta-percha points. Moreover, hydroxyl ions influence some action on bacterial cells as a result of destructing unsaturated fatty acids or phospholipids of the bacterial cytoplasmic membrane.¹⁷

In vitro studies have shown that gutta-percha points that contain calcium hydroxide may not be effective for calcium hydroxide release.^{18,19} It is possible to explain this by the lower hydroxyl-releasing potential of medicated points compared to that of calcium hydroxide paste. Furthermore, it is possible that gutta-percha containing calcium hydroxide will not work as a good

physical and chemical barrier as calcium hydroxide paste. Nevertheless, Stojanovic et al.²⁰ found out that intracanal medication with gutta-percha containing calcium hydroxide efficiently eliminated *E. faecalis* from infected root canals. In our study, Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points significantly reduced bacteria compared to the control group for all experimental periods.

Chlorhexidine gluconate represents a broad-spectrum antibacterial agent, which functions by adsorbing onto the microorganism's cell wall and leading to the leakage of intracellular components. The formulation of the active points allows large quantities of chlorhexidine to be released from the points' surface.^{16,21} Barthel et al.²² and Lenet et al.²³ found out that guttapercha points that contain chlorhexidine have a lower antimicrobial impact in comparison with chlorhexidine in other vehicles. In this research, the active points significantly reduced bacteria compared to the control group for all experimental periods.

Some controversies exist about calcium hydroxide effectiveness against E. faecalis. A number of theories have been suggested for explaining the survival of E. faecalis following treatment using calcium hydroxide.^{24,25} It has been demonstrated that *E. faecalis* is capable of maintaining pH homeostasis in a passive and active way by a proton pump. Furthermore, it is capable of surviving in a severe environment, including a high pH value of II.5, and it can penetrate into the dentin tubules and escape from the medicament's effective concentration. Moreover, the buffering impacts of dentin may ensure that a sufficiently high pH is not obtained in the dentin tubules.²⁰ Gutta-percha points that contain calcium hydroxide or chlorhexidine have also been found to have no effect against E. faecalis in a number of in vitro studies.^{12,26,27} Barthel et al.22 showed the inadequate antimicrobial activity of guttapercha points that contain calcium hydroxide or chlorhexidine under in situ conditions. In our study, neither Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points nor chlorhexidine diacetate-impregnated active points exhibited sufficient antimicrobial activity against E. faecalis and P. micros, even after 14 days. Moreover, Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points were more effective against E. faecalis than the active points at 2 days period.

The effectiveness of chlorhexidine as a potential option to calcium hydroxide as an intracanal medicament when E. faecalis is suspected has been shown.¹⁸ Rathke et al.²⁸ demonstrated that gutta-percha points containing chlorhexidine were significantly more effective against F. nucleatum and P. micros than gutta-percha points that contained calcium hydroxide. Bozza et al.²⁹ conducted in vitro research for the purpose of evaluating the antimicrobial activity of gutta-percha that contained calcium hydroxide, gutta-percha that contained chlorhexidine, and conventional gutta-percha points, and concluded that gutta-percha that contained chlorhexidine proved to be effective against most tested species. Tanomaru et al.¹⁷ found out that sufficient antimicrobial activity against E. faecalis was not exhibited by gutta-percha containing chlorhexidine inside infected dentine tubules. Identical findings were obtained in the research carried out by Jhamb et al.,²¹ who evaluated gutta-percha that contained chlorhexidine, which showed higher antimicrobial activity against P. aeruginosa, S. aureus, and E. coli than gutta-percha containing calcium hydroxide.

Although some studies have reported gutta-percha containing chlorhexidine as a more efficient intracanal medicament in comparison with calcium hydroxide, Stojanovic et al.,²⁰

Podbielski et al.^{II} and Oztan et al.^{I2} showed that gutta-percha containing chlorhexidine exhibited a similar antibacterial effect against *E. faecalis* in comparison with gutta-percha that contained calcium hydroxide.^{II,I2,20}

In this research, Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points exhibited significantly higher efficiency against *P. endodontalis* and *E. lentum* than the active points for I, 2, and 3 days; *P. micros* for I, 2, 3, 4, and 7 days. For *P. melaninogenica* and *P. intermedia*, no statistically significant differences were determined between Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points and the active points during I4 days.

It was assumed that the rapid release of the active ingredients occurred from the gutta-percha matrix. The short-term release in question can be among the reasons why, in this research, the highest antibacterial effect of both gutta-percha containing chlorhexidine and calcium hydroxide was achieved at the beginning, and a decrease occurred in it during the period of 3 days.²⁸ A considerably higher pH was obtained only in the immediate proximity of the gutta-percha containing calcium hydroxide following I day, and it was not possible to detect it following 3 days.³⁰ The factors that have made the comparison more difficult are associated with the fact that all the studies presented above were carried out in vitro and utilized various methods in order to detect pathogens.²⁰

Under the limitations of the in vitro setting, the findings of the present study suggested that Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points and the active points had an antimicrobial effect against all of the strains utilized in the current research. Calcium Hydroxide PLUS Points and the active points had similar effects to kill the tested microorganisms. However, neither material eradicated *E. faecalis* and *P. micros*.

Ethics Committee Approval: N/A

Informed Consent: N/A

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - M.D.Ö.; Design - M.D.Ö.; Supervision - M.D.Ö.; Resource - M.D.Ö., M.K., F.K.; Materials - M.K.; Data Collection and/or Processing - M.D.Ö., M.K.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - M.D.Ö., M.K., F.K.; Literature Search - M.D.Ö., M.K., F.K.; Writing - M.D.Ö., M.K., F.K.; Critical Reviews - M.D.Ö., M.K.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- Souse ELR, Ferraz CCR, Gomes BPFA, Pinheiro ET, Teixeira FB, Souza-Filho FJ. Bacteriological study of root canals associated with periapical abscesses. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*. 2003;96(3):332-339. [CrossRef]
- Siqueira JF, Roças IN, Soutu R, Uzeda M, Colombo AP. Microbiological evaluation of acute periradicular abscesses by DNA-DNA hybridization. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2001;92(4):451-457. [CrossRef]
- Sundqvist G, Johansson E, Sjögren U. Prevalence of blackpigmented bacteroides species in root canal infections. J Endod. 1989;15(1):13-19. [CrossRef]

- 4. Murray CA, Saunders WP. Root canal treatment and general health: A review of the literature. *Int Endod J.* 2000;33(1):I-18. [CrossRef]
- Sjögren U, Figdor D, Spangberg L, Sundqvist G. The antimicrobial effect of calcium hydroxide as a short-term intracanal dressing. *Int Endod J.* 1991;24(3):119-125. [CrossRef]
- Byström A, Claesson R, Sundqvist G. The antibacterial effect of camphorated paramonochlorophenol, camphorated phenol and calcium hydroxide in the treatment of infected root canals. *Endod Dent Traumatol.* 1985;1(5):170-175. [CrossRef]
- Barthel C, Levin L, Reisner H, Trope M. TNF-alpha release in monocytes after exposure to calcium hydroxide treated *Escherichia coli* LPS. Int Endod J. 1997;30:155-159.
- Aibel K, Stevens R. Effect of chlorhexidine on IL-6 induction by LPS. J Endod. 1999;25(4):282. [CrossRef]
- Hennessy T. Some antibacterial properties of chlorhexidine. J Periodontol Res. 1973;8(sl2):61-67. [CrossRef]
- Emilson C. Susceptibility of various microorganisms to chlorhexidine. Scand J Dent Res. 1977;85(4):255-265. [CrossRef]
- II. Podbielski A, Boeckh C, Haller B. Growth inhibitory activity of gutta-percha points containing root canal medications on common endodontic bacterial pathogens as determined by an optimized quantitative in vitro assay. *J Endod*. 2000;26(7):398-403.
 [CrossRef]
- Oztan MD, Kiyan M, Gerceker D. Antimicrobial effect, in vitro, of gutta-percha points containing root canal medications against yeasts and *Enterococcus faecalis*. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;102(3):410-416. [CrossRef]
- Sato T, Yamaki K, Ishida N, et al. Cultivable anaerobic microbiota of infected root canals. Int J Dent. 2012;2012:1-5. [Cross-Ref]
- Melker KB, Vertucci FJ, Rojas MF, Progulske-Fox A, Bélanger M. Antimicrobial efficacy of medicated root canal filling materials. J Endod. 2006;32(2):I48-I5I. [CrossRef]
- Vrcek D, Prpic-Mehicic G, Tambic-Andrasevic A, Poljak-Guberina R, Galic N, Katunaric M. The antimicrobial effect of Calasept, Superlux calcium hydroxide liner and gutta-percha with calcium hydroxide. Acta Stomat Croat. 2002;36:209-212.
- Tandan M, Hegde MN, Hegde P. Effect of four different intracanal medicaments on the apical seal of the root canal system: A dye extraction study. *Indian J Dent Res.* 2014;25(5):607-612. [CrossRef]
- Tanomaru JMG, Pappen FG, Filho MT, Spolidorio DMP, Ito IY. In vitro antimicrobial activity of different gutta-percha points and calcium hydroxide pastes. *Braz Oral Res.* 2007;21:35-39. [CrossRef]
- Ebert J, Roggendorf MJ, Frank K, Petschelt A. Antimicrobial activity of various 'active' gutta-percha points against *Enterococcus faecalis* in simulated root canals. *Int Endod J.* 2008;4I(3):249-257. [CrossRef]
- Podbielski A, Spahr A, Haller B. Additive antimicrobial activity of calcium hydroxide and chlorhexidine on common endodontic bacterial pathogens. *J Endod*. 2003;29(5):340-345. [CrossRef]
- Stojanovic N, Krunic J, Popovic B, Stojicic S, Zivkovic S. Prevalence of *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Porphyromonas gingivalis* in infected root canals and their susceptibility to endodontic treatment procedures: A molecular study. *Srp Arh Celok Lek.* 2014;142(9-10):535-541. [CrossRef]
- Jhamb A, Chaurasia VR, Masamatti VK, Agarwal JH, Tiwari S, Nair D. In vitro evaluation of antimicrobial activity of different gutta-percha points and calcium hydroxide pastes. *J Int Soc Prev Community Dent*. 2014;4(2):92-95. [CrossRef]
- 22. Barthel CR, Zimmer S, Zilliges S, Schiller R, Gobel UB, Roulet JF. In situ antimicrobial effectiveness of chlorhexidine and calcium

hydroxide: Gel and paste versus gutta-percha points. *J Endod.* 2002;28(6):427-430. [CrossRef]

- Lenet B, Komorowski R, Wu X, et al. Antimicrobial substantivity of bovine root dentin exposed to different chlorhexidine delivery vehicles. J Endod. 2000;26(II):652-655. [CrossRef]
- Evans M, Davies JK, Sundqvist G, Figdor D. Mechanisms involved in the resistance of *Enterococcus faecalis* to calcium hydroxide. *Int Endod J.* 2002;35(3):221-228. [CrossRef]
- Stuart CH, Schwartz SA, Beeson TJ, Owatz CB. Enterococcus faecalis: Its role in root canal treatment failure and current concepts in retreatment. J Endod. 2006;32(2):93-98. [CrossRef]
- Al-Nazhan S. Antimicrobial activity of extracts of calcium hydroxide points. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2002;93(5):593-595. [CrossRef]

- Lui JN, Sae-Lim V, Song KP, Chen NN. In vitro antibacterial effect of chlorhexidine impregnated gutta-percha points on *Enterococcus faecalis. Int Endod J.* 2004;37(2):105-113. [Cross-Ref]
- Rathke A, Meisohle D, Bokelmann J, Haller B. Antibacterial activity of calcium hydroxide and chlorhexidine containing points against *Fusobacterium nucleatum* and *Parvimonas micra. Eur J Dent.* 2012;6(4):434-439. [CrossRef]
- Bozza FL, Molgatini SL, Pérez SB, et al. Antimicrobial effect in vitro of chlorhexidine and calcium hydroxide impregnated gutta-percha points. Acta Odontol Latinoam. 2005;18:51-56.
- Schafer E, Al Behaissi A. pH changes in root dentin after root canal dressing with gutta-percha points containing calcium hydroxide. *J Endod.* 2000;26(II):665-667. [CrossRef]

Evaluation of the Apoptotic Effects of the Humic Acid Treatment on Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Cell Line K562

Pinar Mega Tiber^I (), Tuğçe Balcı-Okcanoğlu² (), Melike Karadeniz^I (), Asli Aykaç³ ()

Department of Biophysics, Marmara University Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey ²Department of Medical Biology, Near East University Vocational School of Health Sciences, Nicosia, Cyprus ³Department of Biophysics, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

ORCID iDs of the authors: P.M.T. 0000-0003-0819-0702; T.B. 0000-0003-0613-765X; M.K. 0000-0002-6277-6918; A.A. 0000-0002-4885-5070.

Cite this article as: Tiber PM, Balcı-Okcanoğlu T, Karadeniz M, Aykaç A. Evaluation of the Apoptotic Effects of the Humic Acid Treatment on Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Cell Line K562. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 157-161.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

Humic acid (HA) formed by the decomposition of organic matter is a high-molecular-weight polymer. Humic-derived substances are potential drugs for human health, and their role in the prevention and treatment of diseases, like diabetes, antiviral, UV-B protective effect, cancer, and cardiovascular disease, is emphasized in various studies. It has antiulcerogenic, antitumor. Yang et al. demonstrated that HA exerts an antiproliferative effect and growth inhibition on HL-60 cells through the induction of apoptosis. A study showed that the antiulcer effect of Shilajit (HAs extracted from Shilajit) samples may be due to antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, antianxiety, antioxidant, healing, and regenerative effects. The present study aimed to investigate the effects of HA on cultures of the chronic myeloid leukemia cell line in vitro.

MATERIAL and METHODS

We determined the apoptotic effect of HA in K562 cells by using various molecular methods. For cell viability, HA was tested in vitro against K562 cell lines using the MTT colorimetric process. Bax, bcl-2, casp-3, and casp-9 expressions were quantified by Western blot. Apoptosis analysis has been made with the Annexin-V/PI method.

RESULTS

The IC₅₀ values of HA were determined 100 μ g mL⁻¹ for the K562 cell line. HA has been shown to inhibit cell proliferation. As the bcl-2/ bax ratio decreased and increasing the levels of caspase-3 and caspase-9, the cells underwent apoptosis.

CONCLUSION

As a result, HA showed the anticancer effect on leukemia cells. In the future, HA can be used as a chemopreventive agent in leukemia treatments

Keywords: Anticancer treatment, caspase-3, caspase-9, bcl-2, bax

INTRODUCTION

Humic acid (HA) formed by the decomposition of organic matter is a high-molecular-weight polymer.^{1,2} HA, which has cation exchange capacity, makes the soil fertile by increasing the mineral forming capacity of the plants. In the literature, studies are reporting that polyphenol, quinone, and polycarboxylic groups in the structure of humic substances impart antiulcerogenic, antitumor, and anti-inflammatory effects to the substance.³⁻⁵ Humic substances are used in traditional Chinese medicine because of their many pharmacological properties.^{2,6} The presence of studies emphasizing the role of humic substances in the prevention and treatment of wound healing, antiviral, cardiovascular diseases, osteoarthritis, cancer, and inflammation can be regarded as evidence emphasizing that humic substances are potential drugs for human health.^{7–10} HA, therefore, has the potential for medical use in cancer treatment.

Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), a myeloproliferative disease identified by the increased and unregulated increase of myeloid cells in the bone marrow and accumulation of these cells in the blood. Although white cells work close to normal in CML patients, their numbers are higher than normal. As this numerical height continues to increase, leukemia

Corresponding Author: Tuğçe Balcı-Okcanoğlu E-mail: tbalcii@gmail.com



🙃 🛈 😒 Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.

begins to develop in parallel with this increase. Although there is a lack of data on the global incidence of CML, which seems to have no relationship with race or ethnicity, which accounts for 15% of all leukemias worldwide, it is evident that more than 10,000 patients will be affected by CML each year, and this will cause significant global health burden.^{11,12} In addition to chemotherapy, some natural antitumor drugs, such as paclitaxel and camptothecin, are used in the treatment of CML, which is a difficult malignant hematological disease to treat.¹³ Due to the side effects and drug resistance of the drugs used, there is a continuing need to develop effective natural antitumor drugs for the treatment of CML.

Recent research has shown that a wide variety of chemotherapeutic agents provide the initiation of apoptosis. Bcl-2 (inhibitor) and bax (activator) proteins from the family of the bcl-2 associated X members of proteins have a crucial apoptosis function. The levels of protein inhibitors and activators play a key role in the apoptotic cycle. The improvement in the inhibitor-activator-protein ratio is informative regarding apoptosis regulation.¹⁴ Most anticancer drugs used by apoptosis to destroy some forms of tumor cells suggest that apoptosis often plays a function in the death of cancer cells caused by drugs.

Our objective in this research was to examine HA's anticancer activity in the K562 cell line and to identify possible cell death pathways that are impaired in vitro. Here, we demonstrate that HA keeps from proliferation and cause apoptosis in the human CML cell line K562 at approximately 100 μ M concentrations.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Purification of HA

HA (Sigma-Aldrich Co., Darmstadt, Germany) was acidified with a pH < 2.0 HCl solution after dissolution in pH > 10 NaOH solution. After half an hour of centrifugation at 3,000 \times g as described by Schnitzer's,¹⁵ the procedure was repeated three times to obtain the purest form of HA dissolved in NaOH solution. Prior to the preparation of stock solutions at 5, 10, 20, 50, and 100 HA μ g mL⁻¹, the powdered HA was dissolved with PBS (pH = 7.4).

Cell Culture

The K562 cells (ATCC: CCL-243) were cultured in RPMI I640 medium (Biochrom, FGI2I5, Berlin, Germany), supplemented with I0% inactivated fetal bovine serum, I% L-glutamine, and I% penicillin-streptomycin (supplied from Capricorn Scientific, FBS-IIB, Ebsdorfergrund, Germany; EMD Millipore, K0282, Darmstadt, Germany; Biochrom, A22I3; respectively). The cell culture experiments were performed at 37°C, physiological pH, and in a 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere. Our study was conducted according to the Helsinki Declaration.

Main Points

- Humic acid (HA) has anticancer activity on chronic myeloid leukemia cell line.
- HA helped decrease the bcl-2/bax ratio in K562 cell lines.
- HA helped increase the level of casp-9 in K562 cells.

Cell Viability Assay

Following 24 hours of incubation, proliferation and viability measurement of K562 cells against HA at a concentration of 5-100 μ g mL⁻¹ was evaluated by the cell proliferation kit I (MTT) (Roche II46500700I). 96-well culture dishes were seeded with K562 cells containing about 5 × 10³ cells well and cultured in RPMI medium that contains 5, 10, 20, 50, and 100 μ g mL⁻¹ concentrations of active ingredient for 24 hours. Then, I mg mL⁻¹ MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) solution was used to incubation for 4 hours, at 37°C in 5% CO₂ humidified incubator. Experiments were studied in three replicates. Finally, the formazan absorbance was immediately measured at 540 nm using UV-spectrophotometer (Synergy HI, BioTek Instruments, Inc., Vermont, USA).

Apoptosis Assay

Before the cells were assayed Tali image-based cytometer, cells were stained with Annexin V. Annexin-V/PI cells were realized as apoptotic cells (Propidium Iodide, Molecular Probes A10788, and Tali[®] Apoptosis Kit-Annexin V Alexa Fluor[®] 488, respectively). Apoptosis analysis that determined percentages of the life, death, and apoptotic cells was performed as described by Mega-Tiber et al.¹⁶ and using the Tali Image-Based Cytometer.¹⁶

Mitochondrial Membrane Potential Assay

Moreover, apoptosis was also investigated by examining probable changes in the mitochondrial membrane. This assay deterioration in the initial stage of apoptosis was assessed by the change in the permeability of the membrane. To determine probable changes in the mitochondrial membrane using the JC-I (abl13850) probe, cells were washed with PBS, and JC solution was added, finally analyzed using a fluorescent microplate reader filter. The ratio of green fluorescence from low $\Delta\psi M$ to red fluorescence apoptotic cells from healthy cells with high $\Delta\psi M$ was calculated using multimode microplate readers with correct filters.

Western Blot Assay

Cells (5.0×10^5 cells mL⁻¹) were composed with I × radioimmune-precipitation assay buffer containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Cat no: II87358000I; Sigma-Aldrich). According to established in the literature, the cells were prepared, loaded on the gel, and transferred onto nitrocellulose-membranes.^{16,17} The membranes were blocked with bovine serum albumin, incubated primary antibodies [caspase-3 (casp-3, I:200), casp-9 (I:200), bcl-2 (I:200), bax (I:100), and β -actin (I:200); Santa Cruz, CA, USA] for I hour and incubated with secondary antibody for I2 hours. Beta-actin was used as a housekeeping standard. Finally, the membranes were analyzed using a free software program (Bio-Rad Molecular Analyst, reached from www.totallab.com). Molecular weights were for β -actin (was used for standardization in all membranes), casp-9, bcl-2, and bax; 43, 20, 46, 26, and 23 kDa, respectively.

Data Analysis

For statistical analysis, GraphPad software (Prism 3.0; GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) was used. All data were expressed means \pm standard error. The groups of data were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance followed by *Bonferroni* multiple comparison post hoc tests. *P* values less than .05 were considered as a statistically significant difference.



4







Figure 4. Representative images of western blotting experiments used to determine bcl-2 (\cong 26 kDa), bax (\cong 23 kDa), casp-3 (\cong 20 kDa), casp-9 (\cong 46 kDa), and β -actin (\cong 43 kDa) expressions' levels (n = 3, duplicate)

Figure I. The evaluation of the antiproliferative effects of humic acid using the MTT assay at 24 hours in K562 cells (n = 3, triplicate)



Figure 2. Apoptotic cells were evaluated using the Tali apoptosis kit in K562 cell lines (n = 3)

RESULTS

The Cytotoxic Effect of HA on K562 Cells

Cell proliferation and decreased viability are inhibited by 24hour treatment of K562 cells with HA. MTT assay was used to determine the cytotoxic effect. Also, cell viabilities were handled after trypan blue staining using a TALI image-based cytometer. After 24 hours of incubation, the treatment of K562 cells with HA was determined by the MTT method, in which the viability of the cells was dose-dependent and the cell proliferation was suppressed (Figure I). Cell proliferation was inhibited by treatment of K562 cells with HA for 24 hours, in particular, it was found that cell proliferation 25% decreased in $100 \ \mu g \ m L^{-1}$ of HA (Figure 2).

The Evaluation of Apoptosis and Membrane Potential Assay

When quantifying annexin V/PI staining, the number of apoptotic cells at 100 μ g mL⁻¹ a dosage of HA was found to be 10% of the total cell population. It was reached to 15% at the max concentration of HA (100 μ g mL⁻¹). When analyzed with JC-1 assay, the obtained apoptotic cell values are the same with a 16% decrease in cell proliferation (Figure 3).

Immunoblotting Assay

The bax/bcl-2 ratio is a clear calculation of the permanent apoptosis. Representative images of western blotting experiments used to determine bcl-2/bax ratio and casp-3 and casp-9 expression levels are shown in Figure 4. As the amount of HA added increased, there was a minor upregulation in the bax/ bcl-2 ratio, but this was only evident at 50 and 100 μ g mL⁻¹ (P < .05, and P < .001 for bcl-2; P < .01, and P < .001 for bax, Table I). At high concentration (50 and 100 μg mL $^{-1}) of$ HA, casp-9 level increased significantly (P < .001 for both concentration), whereas at low concentrations such as 10 μ g mL⁻¹ and 20 μ g mL^{-1} , casp-9 level decreased (Table I). Regardless of the low concentration of HA, it was determined that casp-3 was increased only in the highest concentration of HA (100 μ g mL⁻¹) (*P* < .05, Table I).

DISCUSSION

Although there is information in the literature on the pharmacological properties of HA and the inhibition of the growth of certain types of cancer cells, such as A549 and human acute promyelocytic leukemia cell line (HL-60), its effect on the growth of different tumor cells, such as K562, and the underlying mechanisms are not fully elucidated. We examined the effect of HA against the K562 cell line and showed that HA inhibited the increase of K562 cells at concentrations greater than 20 μ g mL⁻¹. After 24 hours of treatment, 100 μ g mL⁻¹ a dosage of HA to K562 cells was 21 μ g mL⁻¹. This result shows

Relative density of	Control	5 μg mL ⁻¹	10 μg mL ⁻¹	20 μg mL ⁻¹	50 μg mL ⁻¹	100 μg mL ⁻¹
BcI-2	0.66 ± 0.02	0.64 ± 0.04	0.6l ± 0.04	0.52 ± 0.09	0.48 ± 0.04*	0.4I ± 0.04**
Bax	0.42 ± 0.03	0.43 ± 0.01	0.48 ± 0.03	0.55 ± 0.04	0.77 ± 0.12***	0.8I ± 0.02***
Bax/bcl2	0.64	0.67	0.79	1.06	1.60	1.98
Casp-3	0.22 ± 0.05	0.23 ± 0.02	0.26 ± 0.03	0.29 ± 0.02	0.34 ± 0.03	0.38 ± 0.0I*
Casp-9	0.28 ± 0.01	0.29 ± 0.02	0.33 ± 0.06	0.35 ± 0.03	0.48 ± 0.07***	0.56 ± 0.03***
*P < .05, **P < .01, and ***P < .001, represents co	mparison with contro	bl group.				

that HA significantly inhibits the proliferation of K562 cells in a dose-dependent manner. Moreover, our study showed that 100 μ g mL⁻¹ HA induces apoptosis in K562 cells by increasing the expressions of proapoptotic proteins at 24 hours. Apoptosis research is important both in explaining cancer development and in developing anticancer therapies. The data obtained from this study suggest that the inhibitory effect of HA on the K562 cell line may be due to the induction of apoptosis.

The molecular structure of HA with the current study was measured apoptosis-related proprotein and antiapoptotic expression levels in HA-treated K562 cells. We determined the expression levels of bax/bcl-2 ratio after HA treatment in K562 cells. Bax/bcl-2 ratios were found 0.64 (control), 0.67 (5 μ g mL⁻¹), 0.79 (10 μ g mL⁻¹), 1.06 (20 μ g mL⁻¹), 1.60 (50 μ g mL⁻¹), 1.98 (100 μ g mL⁻¹), respectively (Table I). BCL-2 gene family proteins play a role in the regulation of apoptosis.¹⁸ BCL-2 proteins can make cancer cells resistant to some chemotherapeutic agents. Therefore, BCL-2 related antiapoptotic proteins are important targets in the development of new anticancer agents.¹⁹ BAX is proapoptotic protein. BAX protein enables the release of apoptogenic factors such as cytochrome *c*, activation of the caspase cascade.²⁰

Bax protein's role in apoptosis is the opposite, while bcl-2 protein levels play a role in apoptosis suppression. Our objective in evaluating the bcl-2/bax ratio and casp-3 and casp-9 levels was to assess whether the apoptotic effect of HA was inducing or inhibiting in various concentrations on the K562 cell line. In our results, it was determined that at the 50 and 100 $\mu g~mL^{-1}$ concentrations, the bcl-2 expression level decreased and the increase in the bax expression at the same high concentrations caused a increase in the bax/bcl-2 ratio. Moreover, the results of our study showed that both casp-3 and casp-9 expressions increased in the treatment of IOO μ g mL⁻¹ HA. Raisova et al.²¹ evaluated the change in bcl-2 and bax ratio and emphasized that the decrease in bcl-2/bax ratio is important for apoptosis. There are a large number of studies showing that a wide diversity of chemotherapeutic agents cause apoptosis, an active cell death pattern.² Although there are many in vitro or in vivo studies of HA related to different cancer cells in the literature, its relation with cancer remains unclear. HL-60 cell line treatment using diverse chemotherapeutics is reported to be accompanied by increased cytosolic translocation of cytochrome-c and activation of casp-3. Incubation of HL-60 cells with HA significantly increased bax protein levels. However, the level of bcl-2 is not changed. This result suggests that reducing the level of bcl-2/bax may cause apoptosis. HA (100 μ g mL⁻¹)) induction into HL-60 cells resulted in an increase in casp-3 activity from 4 hours to 24 hours.² Similar to the results in the literature, our results suggest that HA has an apoptotic effect on K562 cell lines. Additionally, we investigated the activity of caspase-9; HA concentrations of 50 and 100 μ g mL⁻¹ important increases were analyzed.

The in vitro study results of A549 (adenocarcinoma *human* alveolar basal epithelial *cells*) and SiHA cells (human cervical cancer cells) are showed that low-dose HA increases the progression of the lung cancer cells.^{22,23} Another high-dose HA research was documented to induce apoptosis via death receptor activation, mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum stress signaling cascades.²⁴ Also, HA has been shown to produce reactive oxygen species and leads to the depletion of glutathione.²⁵

In the literature, HA has been reported to induce oxidative damage, growth retardation, and cell death in human primary fibroblasts. The administration of a single dose of HA 100 mg kg⁻¹ bw by gastric intubations to mice has been reported to result in abnormalities in the structure of induction in intestinal cells. It is reported that HA induces apoptosis in HL-60 and post-initiated mouse epidermal cells.²⁶ Similarly, our study results showed that a high concentration of HA contributed to apoptosis of the K562 cells via decreased bcl-2/bax ratio and increased casp-3 and casp-9 levels.

These findings showed that HA effectively inhibited the proliferation of the K562 cell line and indicated that apoptosis could be induced by a decrease of the bcl-2/bax ratio and upregulation of casp-3 and casp-9. The results of this study indicate that in the prevention and treatment of CML, HA may be a potential for future drug development.

Including the use of humic substances as homeopathic or nutritional supplements, the use as an anticancer agent can be beneficial in the treatment of patients with leukemia.

Ethics Committee Approval: N/A

Informed Consent: N/A

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - A.A., P.M.T.; Design - A.A., P.M.T.; Supervision - A.A., P.M.T.; Resource - A.A., P.M.T.; Materials - A.A., P.M.T.; Data Collection and/or Processing - A.A., P.M.T.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - A.A., P.M.T., T.B.O., M.K.; Literature Search - A.A., P.M.T., T.B.O.; Writing - A.A., P.M.T., T.B.O., M.K.; Critical Reviews - A.A., P.M.T.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: This study was supported by The Experimental Health Sciences Research Centre [grant number SAG-2016-018].

- I. Hartenstein R. Sludge decomposition and stabilization. *Science*. 1981;212(4496):743-749. [CrossRef]
- Yang HL, Hseu YC, Hseu YT, Lu FJ, Lin E, Lai JS. Humic acid induces apoptosis in human premyelocytic leukemia HL-60 cells. *Life Sci.* 2004;75(15):1817-1831. [CrossRef]
- Klöcking R, Helbig B. Medical Aspect and Applications of Humic Substances. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2005:3-16.
- Kodama H, DENSO. Antitumor effect of humus extract on murine transplantable Ll2I0 leukemia. J Vet Med Sci. 2007;69(10):1069-1071. [CrossRef]
- Jooné GK, van Rensburg CEJ. An in vitro investigation of the antiinflammatory properties of potassium humate. *Inflammation*. 2004;28:169-174. [CrossRef]
- Guan J, Yang H. Medical value of humic acids. *Zhong Yao Cai*. 1999;22:430-431. [CrossRef]
- Vysokogorskii VE, Nozdrunova AA, Plaksin GV, Krivonos Ol, Mkrtchan OZ, Petrosyan LY. Antioxidant activity of liquid products of heat-treated sapropels. *Pharm Chem J.* 2009;43:191-194. [Cross-Ref]
- Klöcking R, Helbig B. Medical aspects and applications of humic substances. In Hofrichter M, Steinbuchel A (eds.): *Biopolymers, Vol. I: Lignin, Humic Substances and Coal.* Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2001:379-392.
- Van Rensburg CEJ, Badenhorst BE, Gandy JJ, Snyman JR. Potassium humate reduces inflammation and clinically improves the outcomes of patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. Conference Proceedings of the International Conference on Drug Discovery and Therapy. Open Conf Proc J. 2010;1:69-74. [CrossRef]
- Van Rensburg CEJ. The antiinflammatory properties of humic substances: A mini review. *Phytother Res.* 2015;29:791-795. [CrossRef]
- II. Leitner A. Current treatment concepts of CML. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*. 2011;11(1):31-43. [CrossRef]
- Shanmuganathan N, Hiwase DK, Ross DM. Treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia: Assessing risk, monitoring response, and optimizing outcome. *Leuk Lymphoma*. 2017;58(12):2799-2810. [CrossRef]

- Zhang G, Li M, Han S, et al. Induction of human chronic myeloid leukemia K562 cell apoptosis by virosecurinine and its molecular mechanism. *Mol Med Rep.* 2014;10(5):2365-2371. [CrossRef]
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, et al. Molecular mechanisms of cell death: Recommendations of the nomenclature committee on cell death 2018. *Cell Death Differ*. 2018;25:486-541. [CrossRef]
- Schnitzers MT. In Page AL (ed.): Part 2. Chemical and Microbiological Properties. New York, NY: Academic Press, 1982:581-594.
- Mega-Tiber P, Kocyigit-Sevinc S, Kilinc O, Orun O. Biological effects of whole Z. officinale extract on chronic myeloid leukemia cell line K562. Gene. 2019;692:217-222. [CrossRef]
- Kim HG, Oh HJ, Ko JH, et al. Lanceoleins A–G, hydroxychalcones, from the flowers of *Coreopsis lanceolata* and their chemopreventive effects against human colon cancer cells. *Bio Org.* 2019;85:274-281. [CrossRef]
- Fulda S. Tumor resistance to apoptosis. Int J Cancer. 2009;124(3):511-515. [CrossRef]
- Azmi AS, Wang Z, Philip PA, Mohammad RM, Sarkar FH. Emerging Bcl-2 inhibitors for the treatment of cancer. *Expert Opin Emerg Drugs*. 2011;16(1):59-70. [CrossRef]
- Tzifi F, Economopoulou C, Gourgiotis D, Ardavanis A, Papageorgiou S, Scorilas A. The role of BCL2 family of apoptosis regulator proteins in acute and chronic leukemias. *Adv Hematol.* 2012;2012:524308. [CrossRef]
- Raisova M, Hossini AM, Eberle J, et al. The Bax/Bcl-2 ratio determines the susceptibility of human melanoma cells to CD95/Fasmediated apoptosis. *Invest Dermatol.* 2001;117(2):333-340. [Cross-Ref]
- Lee WJ, Lu FJ, Wang SF, Chen YR, Tseng TH. In vitro enhancement effect of humic acid on the progression of lung cancer cells. *Chem Biol Interact*. 2009;181(3):463-471. [CrossRef]
- Tsai ML, Yen CC, Lu FJ, Ting HJ, Chang HR. Environmentally relevant concentration of arsenic trioxide and humic acid promoted tumor progression of human cervical cancer cells: in vivo and in vitro studies. *Environ Toxicol.* 2016;31(9):II2I-II32. [CrossRef]
- Yang HL, Huang PJ, Chen SC, et al. Induction of macrophage cellcycle arrest and apoptosis by humic acid. *Environ Mol Mutagen*. 2014;55(9):741-750. [CrossRef]
- Yen CC, Lu FJ, Huang CF, Chen WK, Liu SH, Lin-Shiau SY. The diabetogenic effects of the combination of humic acid and arsenic: In Vitro and in vivo studies. *Toxicol Lett.* 2007;172(3):91e105. [Cross-Ref]
- Lu FJ, Tseng TH, Lee WJ, et al. Promoting neoplastic transformation of humic acid in mouse epidermal JB6 Cl4l cells. *Chem Biol Interact* 2006;162(3):249-258. [CrossRef]

Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity in Pediatric General Duty and Intensive Care Unit Nurses

Deniz Şanlı^I (), Meryem Ünal Çimen² (), Nurseren İşler² (), Nuriye Turgut² ()

¹Department of Surgical Nursing, İzmir Katip Çelebi University Faculty of Health Sciences, İzmir, Turkey ²Pediatric Intensive Care Unit, University of Health Sciences Dr. Behçet Uz Child Disease and Pediatric Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: D.Ş. 0000-000I-6076-0317; M.Ü.Ç. 0000-0003-3375-7651; N.İ. 0000-0002-4506-9373; N.T. 0000-0002-0286-174X.

Cite this article as: Şanlı D, Çimen MÜ, İşler N, Turgut N. Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity in Pediatric General Duty and Intensive Care Unit Nurses. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 162-170.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

The aim of this study is to investigate the role conflict and role ambiguity in pediatric nurses who work outside and in the pediatric intensive care units and whether the situation varies according to some characteristics of the nurses.

MATERIAL and METHODS

The descriptive study was carried out in intensive care units with featured units, other featured units (emergency service, operating room, and burn unit), and inpatient clinics in a pediatric hospital between October I, 2019 and February I, 2020. All nurses were included in the sample using the total count sampling method (N = 210). The data were collected using a Nurse Personal Information Form and the Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity Scale.

RESULTS

The mean role conflict score of the nurses who worked in the hospital was 35.74 ± 9.34 and above the moderate level, while the mean role ambiguity score was 39.90 ± 5.71 and they experienced no role ambiguity. The mean role conflict score of the nurses in the clinic (37.38 ± 9.46) was significantly higher than those in the intensive care unit (33.80 ± 9.15) (F = 3.42, P = .03). The role conflict was higher in nurses who spent more years in the profession, in the hospital, and have not received orientation training in the hospital, whereas the role ambiguity was higher in nurses who have not received orientation training in the hospital (P < .05).

CONCLUSION

The working environments in health institutions create a favorable ground for role conflict and role ambiguity.

Keywords: Pediatric nursing, critical care nursing, intensive care unit, role conflict, role ambiguity

INTRODUCTION

Nursing in our country has experienced a swift transformation in recent years and has turned into an autonomous profession with the developments regarding its qualifications and competence.¹ Nursing is legally defined as a profession that requires an undergraduate degree,² and its duties, authorities, and responsibilities are explained according to the unit worked in.³ The development of medical science and the changes in health needs have also affected the roles in nursing.¹ Different demands are made on the nurses in different working environments. When the tasks in the acute and long-term care institutions are not clearly defined, the working environment can be stressful.⁴ Intensive care unit (ICU) is a complex and challenging environment. When physicians hold the authority, ICU nurses may not work with clear roles and responsibilities.⁵ The development of new roles in ICU nursing is a response to the advances in health technology. Many nurses face problems of role conflict, role ambiguity, excessive workload, ambiguity of role boundaries, and autonomy.⁶

Health institutions are environments that are open to conflict, since they bring together different employees. One of the most commonly defined sources of conflict is role conflict and role ambiguity.⁷ Status-related barriers among healthcare

😰 🛈 😒 Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.
workers are one of the communication barriers.⁸ Hierarchy, interpersonal differences of power, role conflict, and role ambiguity cause erroneous communication between nurse and physician.⁹ According to Weiss et al.⁴ role conflict, lack of a clear job description, and inability to adapt to the job are the causes of stress in the work environment.

Role conflict is incompatible role expectations and may occur among and within roles.^{10,11} Conflicting instructions and demands of physicians, nursing managers, and head nurses cause role conflicts.¹⁰ The literature holds studies with different results showing that nurses do not have any role conflicts¹² or have conflicts at various levels, ranging from middle to high.^{13–22} Intensive care nurses have been reported to have a moderate level of living⁵ and live longer than other nurses.¹⁰ Role ambiguity is a lack of information about the expected role behavior. There is an inadequate understanding of what the job is about because of the unclear job definition.^{10,23} The literature holds studies with different results, showing that nurses do not have any role conflicts¹² or have conflicts at various levels, ranging from middle to high.^{13–22} It has been shown that the level in intensive care nurses is middle⁵ and higher than other nurses.¹⁰

Role conflict and role ambiguity have been shown to increase work-related tension,¹² burnout,^{10,16,20,22} unethical behavior,²³ staff turnover,¹³ and intention to leave work,¹⁸ and decrease self-efficacy,¹⁰ job performance,¹⁹ job satisfaction,^{14,17,19} dedication to work,¹⁵ and organizational commitment.¹⁶ In the study of Roch et al.,²⁴ it was determined that it affected care practices. In qualitative studies, it was stated that it was among the causes of in-team conflict perceived by the nurses,¹¹ resulting in the transfer of care practices to the auxiliary personnel.²⁴

Collaboration, coordination, and compliance and clarity in role expectations are considered necessary for the fulfillment of care practices by nurses.²⁴ Pediatric ICU is a unit where complex treatment plans of critical patients are coordinated with more than one member. Perfection in a pediatric ICU is achieved through a combination of many factors and is dependent on a healthy work environment.²⁵ Given that the role conflict and role ambiguity results in many unfavorable situations for nurses, and that this is reflected in the quality of care; the importance of the studies for determining the level of the conflict and ambiguity becomes apparent. In national and international literature, no study investigating the role conflict

Main Points

- We observed that pediatric nurses had a moderate level of role conflict and no role ambiguity.
- We demonstrated that nurses working in the clinic experienced more role conflicts than nurses working in the ICU.
- We found that nurses working in the intensive care and in the hospital, nurses who spent more years in the hospital and in the profession, and nurses who have not received orientation training from the hospital experienced more role conflicts.
- We also found that pediatric nurses who have not received orientation training in the hospital experienced more role ambiguity.

and role ambiguity in pediatric nurses has been found. We believe that this study may open the way for future studies for the improvement of the working environment by the hospital and healthcare services managers.

Objective

The aim of this study is to investigate the role conflict and role ambiguity in pediatric nurses who work outside and in the pediatric ICU and whether the situation varies according to some characteristics of the nurses.

MATERIALS and METHODS

Type of the Study

This study was conducted in accordance with the descriptive research type. $^{26} \ensuremath{\mathsf{26}}$

Place and Time of the Study

This study was conducted between October I, 2019 and February I, 2020 in in-patient clinics, ICUs with featured units (neonatal, pediatric, pediatric surgery, and cardiovascular surgery ICU), and other featured units (emergency, operating room, and burn unit) of a pediatric hospital.

The Target Population and the Sample of the Research

The target population of the study was composed of nurses working in the hospital (N = 353). The sample consisted of nurses who worked in the hospital and met the sampling criteria. The sampling criteria were as follows: to be working in a featured unit or inpatient clinic, being a bedside nurse, and having worked in the unit for at least I month. Total count sampling method was used. The whole target population of the study was included in the sample of the study²⁶ (N = 295), and this study was completed with 210 nurses.

Data Collection Tools

Nurse Personal Information Form. It was developed based on the literature by researchers to determine the sociodemographic and professional characteristics of nurses.^{5,10,12,14,27} It consists of 17 questions in total.

Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity Scale. The original "Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity Scale" was developed by Rizzo et al.²⁸ Later, it was finalized by Schuler et al.²⁹ It was first adapted to Turkish by Kaygin³⁰ and later by Yildirim,³¹ who provided its face validity. The scale measures the role conflict and role ambiguity that the individuals experience. It consists of I4 items, eight items measure the role conflict and six items measure the role ambiguity.³¹ The last eight items in the scale are about role conflict, and the first six items are about role uncertainty.²⁹ The scale has been prepared according to the sevenpoint Likert scale (I = absolutely wrong and 7 = absolutely correct). Total points for role conflict and role ambiguity are recorded separately. The minimum total point is 8 and maximum is 56 for role conflict, while the minimum total point is 6 and maximum is 42 for role ambiguity. The high score for role conflict indicates that the conflict is experienced more, whereas the lower score for role ambiguity indicates that the ambiguity is experienced more. The test-retest reliability coefficient of the adapted scale was 0.8l for role conflict and 0.72 for role ambiguity, and the internal consistency reliability coefficient was determined as 0.82 for role conflict and 0.63 for role ambiguity.³¹ In our study, it was found 0.83 for role conflict and 0.78 for role ambiguity.

Collection of the Data

Nurses were provided to fill in the data collection tools by providing the necessary information through individual face-toface interviews by the researchers. In order to contact all nurses, the units were visited at different working hours. Filling the tools took 5-10 minutes for each nurse.

Evaluation of the Data

The data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 25.0 (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive statistics (number, percentage, mean, standard deviation, and median) were used to evaluate the data. The reliability of the scale was tested by reliability analysis. In the scale, role conflict was found in accordance with normal distribution, whereas role ambiguity was not. In comparison of the data, for the scale that showed normal distribution, the independent samples t-test was used in analyzing two groups and one-way analysis of variance for more than two groups, and for the non-normally distributed scale, the Mann-Whitney U test was performed analyzing two groups, and the Kruskal–Wallis analysis was performed for more than two groups. The Bonferroni test was used to find the group that created a difference in the analysis of more than two groups. The level of statistical significance was accepted as $P < .05.^{26}$

Ethical Aspect of the Research

Approval for this study was obtained from the University of Health Sciences Dr. Behcet Uz Child Disease and Pediatric Surgery Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval date: September 26, 2019; approval number: 2019/14-II), hospital management, and Mrs. Yildirim, who adapted the scale. Nurses' consent was obtained using an informed consent form.

RESULTS

The mean age of the nurses in the hospital was 34.87 ± 8.30 , 63.8% of them had an undergraduate degree, and the average years in the profession were 12.59 ± 8.37 . It was found that the weekly working time in the hospital was 52.74 ± 9.14 hours, and those who worked most for 57-72 hours were the ICU nurses, with a rate of 42.1%. The average number of nurses during day shift was 2.17 ± 0.38 for ICU and 5.83 ± 1.62 for clinic, while during night shift, it was 2.62 ± 0.80 for ICU and 9.49 ± 2.37 for clinic. The rate of nurses receiving a certificate was the highest among the ICU nurses (30.7%). Most of the nurses in the hospital had received general (85.2%) and unit-specific (79.5%) training in duties, authorities, and responsibilities, and had received orientation training in the hospital (89%) and the unit (91.9%) (Table I).

The mean score for role conflict of the nurses in the hospital was 35.74 ± 9.34 , and the mean score of role ambiguity was 39.90 ± 5.71 . According to the unit worked in, the mean score for role conflict was 37.38 ± 9.46 in the clinic, 36.63 ± 8.93 in other featured unit, and 33.80 ± 9.15 in the ICU, and the mean score for role ambiguity was 30.05 ± 5.96 in other featured unit, 30.48 ± 5.36 in the clinic, and 31.68 ± 5.90 in the ICU (Table 2). The mean score for role conflict of nurses in the clinic was significantly higher than those in the ICU (F = 3.42, P = .03) (Table 3).

In the analysis of the mean score for role conflict, it was found that the nurses in the hospital with a period of more than 10

years spent in the profession (37.06 \pm 8.82) had significantly higher scores than those who spent less than 5 years (32.21 \pm 10.66) (F = 3, 87, P = .02). Similarly, for the nurses in the ICU, those who had 5-10 years (35.02 \pm 8.22) and more than 10 years in the profession (35.38 \pm 8.26) had significantly higher scores compared with those with less than 5 years (27.94 \pm 10.81) (F = 4.70, P = .01). For the nurses in other featured units, those who spent more than 10 years in the profession (40.75 \pm 6.91) also had significantly higher scores than those who spent less than 5 years (34.11 \pm 11.77) (F = 3.33, P = .04). It was observed that the nurses in other featured units who worked for 40 hours weekly (44.50 \pm 6.89) had higher scores compared with those who worked for 4I-56 hours weekly (33.94 \pm 9.2I) (F = 3.58, P = .03). The mean score for role conflict was significantly higher in the clinic nurses who received certificates (45.66 \pm 6.74) when compared with those who did not (36.74 \pm 9.37) (t = 2.28, P = .02). The distribution of the mean role conflict scores varied according to orientation, in such a way that in hospital nurses, those who did not receive a certificate (39.43 \pm 10.75) had significantly higher scores when compared with those who did (35.29 ± 9.08) (t = -2.01, P = .04). Similarly in ICU nurses, those who did not receive a certificate (41.00 \pm 7.41) had significantly higher scores than those who did (33.18 \pm 9.06) (t = -2.21, P = .02) (Table 4).

In evaluation of the median scores for role ambiguity, it was seen that there was a statistically significant difference only the nurses in other special units had a significant difference in terms of working time spent in the profession, the hospital, and the unit. Those who had more than 10 years of work experience in the profession (26.00) had highly significantly lower scores than those who spent less than 5 years (34.00) and 5-10 years (36.00) (KW = 9.65, P = .008); those who had more than 10 years of work experience in the hospital (26.00) had significantly lower scores than those who had less than 5 years (34.00) (KW = 8.64, P = .01); and those who had more than 10 years of work experience in the unit (26.00) had highly significantly lower scores than those who had less than 5 years (34.00) (KW = 10.30, P = .006). The median score for role ambiguity was significantly lower in clinic nurses who received a certificate (27.00) when compared with those who did not receive a certificate (31.00) (U = 121.50, P = .05). The median score for role ambiguity in nurses in other featured units who received unit-specific training in duties, authorities, and responsibilities (25.50) was significantly lower than those who did not (29.50) (U = 43.00, P = .03). The median score for role ambiguity in hospital nurses who did not receive orientation (30.00) was significantly lower when compared with those who did (32.00) (U = 1500.50, P = .01) (Table 5).

DISCUSSION

The ability of pediatric nurses to provide quality care to the child and the family depends on their ability to perform their roles.³² The working environment is dynamic and complex since it requires the performance more than one role at a time.^{II} Factors such as job-oriented work, inadequate employment, and lack of information about the role negatively affect the nurses in performing their roles.³²

In this study, it was seen that the role conflict in nurses in the hospital was above the moderate level. Similar results to our study have been achieved in other national studies.^{14,19,22} On the other hand, some studies suggest that the conflict was not

TABLE I. Mean and Percentage Values of	of the Socioc	demographic	and Profes	sional Cha	racteristics of Nur	ses			
	Hospital	(N = 210)	ICU (n	= 88)	Other feature	d unit (n = 38)	Clinic (n = 84)		
Characteristic	М	SD	м	SD	м	SD	м	SD	
Age	34.87	8.30	33.44	7.70	32.89	8.39	37.26	8.39	
Number of patients during day shift	5.28	4.38	2.17	0.38	10.84	6.81	5.83	1.62	
Number of patients during night shift	7.05	5.45	2.62	0.80	12.86	7.43	9.49	2.37	
Characteristic	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Gender									
Female	189	90.0	76	86.4	31	81.6	82	97.6	
Male	21	10.0	12	13.6	7	18.4	2	2.4	
Level of education									
High school	12	5.7	4	4.5	2	5.3	6	7.1	
Associate	48	22.9	18	20.5	7	18.4	23	27.4	
Undergraduate	134	63.8	59	67.0	29	76.3	46	54.8	
Graduate	16	7.6	7	8.0	0	.0	9	10.7	
Years in profession									
<5 years	38	18.1	17	19.3	9	23.7	12	14.3	
5-10 years	67	31.9	35	39.8	13	34.2	19	22.6	
>10 years	105	50.0	36	40.9	16	42.1	53	63.I	
Years at hospital									
<5 years	83	39.5	37	42.0	21	55.2	25	29.8	
5-10 years	62	29.5	31	35.3	8	21.1	23	27.4	
>10 years	65	31.0	20	22.7	9	23.7	36	42.8	
Period of service in the unit									
<5 years	129	61.4	47	53.4	23	60.5	59	70.2	
5-10 years	61	29.0	29	33.0	9	23.7	23	27.4	
>10 years	20	9.6	12	13.6	6	15.8	2	2.4	
Type of service									
Day and night shifts	179	85.2	77	87.5	34	89.5	68	80.0	
Day shift only	22	10.5	4	4.5	3	7.9	15	17.8	
Night shift only	9	4.3	7	8.0	I.	2.6	I.	1.2	
Weekly working time									
40 hours	46	21.9	20	22.7	6	15.8	20	23.8	
4I-56 hours	99	47.1	31	35.2	18	47.4	50	59.5	
57-72 hours	65	31.0	37	42.1	4	36.8	14	16.7	
Received a certificate?									
Yes	37	17.6	27	30.7	4	10.5	6	7.1	
No	173	82.4	61	69.3	34	89.5	78	92.9	
Received training in general duties, author	orities, and re	sponsibilities	?						
Yes	179	85.2	75	85.2	32	84.2	72	85.7	
No	31	14.8	13	14.8	6	15.8	12	14.3	
Received training in unit-specific duties, a	authorities, a	nd responsibi	lities?						
Yes	167	79.5	70	79.5	32	84.2	65	77.4	
No	43	20.5	18	20.5	6	15.8	19	22.6	
Received orientation at the hospital?									
Yes	187	89.0	81	92.0	36	94.7	70	83.3	
No	23	11.0	7	8.0	2	5.3	14	16.7	
Received orientation at the unit worked i	in?								
Yes	193	91.9	82	93.2	37	97.4	74	88.1	
No	17	8.1	6	6.8		2.6	10	11.9	

ICU, intensive care unit.

TABLE 2. Mean and Median Scores of the Nurses' Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity									
		Ro	Role ambiguity						
Unit worked in	м	SD	Mdn	Min-max*	м	SD	Mdn	Min-max*	
Hospital	35.74	9.34	37.00	8.00-55.00	39.90	5.71	32.00	10.00-42.00	
ICU	33.80	9.15	35.00	8.00-54.00	31.68	5.90	33.00	10.00-42.00	
Other featured unit	36.63	8.93	37.00	20.00-53.00	30.05	5.96	29.00	16.00-42.00	
Clinic	37.38	9.46	39.00	14.00-55.00	30.48	5.36	30.50	17.00-42.00	

ICU, intensi∨e care unit. *Min-max: minimum-maximum.

	Role conflict									
Unit worked in	N	м	SD	F	Р					
ICUª	88	33.80	9.15	3.42	.03*					
Other featured unit ^b	38	36.63	8.93		c > a					
Clinic ^c	84	37.38	9.46							
			Role ambiguity							
Unit worked in	n	Mdn	Min-max [†]	KW	Р					
ICU	88	33.00	10.00-42.00	4.10	.12					
Other featured unit	38	29.00	16.00-42.00							
Clinic	84	30.50	17.00-42.00							

[†]Min-max: minimum-maximum.

TABLE 4. Compar	rison of [.]	the Mec	in Score	s for Role (Conflict	Accordi	ng to th	e Socioc	lemograp	phic and	Professio	onal Cha	racterist	tics of N	Nurses	
		Hospit	tal (N = 2	210)		ICU ((n = 88)		Othe	r feature	d unit (n	= 38)	C	linic (n	= 84)	
Characteristic	м	SD	F	Р	М	SD	F	Ρ	М	SD	F	Р	м	SD	F	Ρ
Level of education	on															
High school	31.08	10.80	1.21	.30	28.00	9.12	0.97	.40	40.00	11.31	0.19	.82	30.16	II.87	2.31	.08
Associate	36.12	8.19			35.72	6.64			37.42	5.68			36.04	9.98		
Undergraduate	35.82	9.47			33.91	9.52			36.20	9.63			38.02	9.00		
Graduate	37.50	10.19			31.28	II.45			36.63	8.93			42.33	6.04		
Years in professi	ion															
<5 years ^a	32.21	10.66	3.87	.02*	27.94	10.81	4.70	.01*	34.11	9.77	3.33	.04*	36.83	9.40	0.18	.83
5-10 years ^b	35.68	8.96		c > a	35.02	8.22		b > a	33.30	9.12		c > b	38.52	9.89		
>10 years ^c	37.06	8.82			35.38	8.26		c > a	40.75	6.91			37.09	9.47		
Years at hospita	I															
<5 years ^a	33.65	10.18	3.65	.02*	30.91	9.78	3.34	.04*	35.04	9.37	1.78	.18	36.52	10.75	0.20	.81
5-10 years ^b	36.72	7.82		c > a	35.90	8.03		b > a	35.37	9.10			38.30	7.13		
>10 years ^c	37.49	9.18			35.90	8.50		c > a	41.44	6.52			37.38	9.99		
Period of service	in the u	nit														
<5 years	35.19	9.72	0.89	.41	32.78	9.75	0.73	.48	35.78	9.29	1.97	.15	36.88	9.63	1.37	.26
5-10 years	36.16	8.60			35.4I	8.21			34.55	9.05			37.73	9.04		
>10 years	38.05	9.02			33.91	9.04			43.00	4.38			48.00	0.00		
Weekly working	time															
40 hours ^a	36.95	10.36	0.49	.61	33.00	10.84	0.38	.68	44.50	6.89	3.58	.03*	38.65	9.32	1.28	.28
4I-56 hours ^b	35.34	8.96			34.96	8.81			33.94	9.21		a > b	36.08	9.07		
57-72 hours ^c	35.50	9.24			33.72	8.60			36.71	7.70			40.21	10.80		
Characteristic	м	SD	t	Р	м	SD	t	Р	м	SD	t	Р	м	SD	t	Р
Received a certif	icate?															
Yes	37.18	9.21	1.03	.30	34.74	8.58	0.63	.53	41.00	9.34	1.03	.30	45.66	6.74	2.28	.02*
No	35.43	9.37			33.39	9.43			36.11	8.88			36.74	9.37		
Received training	g in gene	eral dutie	es, autho	rities, and ı	responsi	bilities?										
Yes	35.73	9.15	-0.03	.97	33.89	8.76	0.21	.83	36.21	8.70	-0.65	.51	37.44	9.50	0.15	.88
No	35.80	10.55			33.30	II.54			38.83	10.66			37.00	9.63		
Received training	g in unit-	specific	duties, a	uthorities, o	and resp	onsibiliti	es?									
Yes	35.80	9.22	0.18	.85	34.08	9.19	0.56	.57	35.96	8.71	-l.05	.29	37.58	9.28	0.35	.71
No	35.51	9.92			32.72	9.17			40.16	10.10			36.68	10.27		
Received orienta	ition at t	he hospi	tal?													
Yes	35.29	9.08	-2.01	.04*	33.18	9.06	-2.21	.02*	35.97	8.67	-2.00	.06	37.38	8.91	0.01	.99
No	39.43	10.75			41.00	7.41			48.50	4.94			37.35	12.24		
Received orienta	ition at t	he unit v	vorked ir	n?												
Yes	35.76	9.29	0.07	.94	33.73	9.36	-0.28	.77	36.81	8.98	0.74	.45	37.48	9.04	0.27	.78
No	35.58	10.27			34.83	6.11			30.00	-			36.00	12.72		
						_			_							

ICU, intensi∨e care unit. *P < .05.

TABLE 5. Compa	rison o	f the Median	Scores fo	or Ro	le Aml	oiguity Acco	rding to	the	Socio	demographic	c and F	Profess	ional C	Characteristic	cs of Nu	irses
		Hospital (N	= 210)			ICU (n = 8	8)		Oth	er featured u	nit (n =	= 38)		Clinic ($n =$	84)	
Characteristic	Mdn	Min-max*	кw	Р	Mdn	Min-max*	KW	Ρ	Mdn	Min-max*	KW	Р	Mdn	Min-max*	ĸw	Ρ
Level of educati	on															
High school	34.00	21.00-36.00	1.95	.58	33.50	32.00-36.00	0.98	.80	30.50	26.00-35.00	2.54	.28	34.50	21.00-36.00	1.32	.72
Associate	31.50	10.00-41.00			32.50	10.00-41.00			26.00	21.00-34.00			31.00	22.00-39.00		
Undergraduate	32.00	16.00-42.00			34.00	16.00-42.00			29.00	16.00-42.00			30.50	17.00-42.00		
Graduate	29.50	16.00-37.00			32.00	16.00-35.00			-	-			27.00	23.00-37.00		
Years in profess	ion															
<5 years ^a	33.00	22.00-39.00	1.21	.54	27.00	38.00-34.00	2.15	.34	34.00	24.00-39.00	9.65	.008†	30.00	22.00-35.00	2.65	.26
5-10 years ^b	32.00	10.00-42.00			10.00	42.00-32.00			36.00	25.00-42.00		$\boldsymbol{\alpha} < \boldsymbol{c}$	28.00	17.00-40.00		
>10 years ^c	31.00	16.00-42.00			16.00	41.00-34.00			26.00	16.00-34.00		b < c	32.00	20.00-42.00		
Years at hospita	ıl															
<5 years ^a	33.00	16.00-42.00	1.31	.51	33.00	16.00-42.00	1.11	.57	34.00	16.00-39.00	8.64	.01†	30.00	17.00-40.00	0.69	.70
5-10 years ^b	31.50	10.00-42.00			32.00	10.00-42.00			28.00	25.00-42.00		$\boldsymbol{\alpha} < \boldsymbol{c}$	32.00	24.00-42.00		
>10 years ^c	31.00	20.00-40.00			34.00	21.00-40.00			26.00	21.00-33.00			31.00	20.00-40.00		
Period of service	e in the	unit														
<5 years ^a	32.00	16.00-42.00	0.28	.86	33.00	16.00-42.00	1.83	.39	34.00	16.00-42.00	10.30	.006†	30.00	17.00-42.00	0.03	.98
5-10 years ^b	32.00	10.00-42.00			34.00	10.00-42.00			28.00	22.00-36.00		a < c	31.00	23.00-37.00		
>10 years ^c	30.50	20.00-40.00			35.00	22.00-40.00			26.00	21.00-26.00			29.50	20.00-39.00		
Weekly working	time															
40 hours	32.00	16.00-42.00	1.32	.51	33.50	16.00-42.00	3.25	.19	26.00	21.00-38.00	2.09	.35	32.00	23.00-42.00	3.09	.21
4I-56 hours	32.00	10.00-42.00			34.00	10.00-41.00			31.00	16.00-42.00			30.00	21.00-40.00		
57-72 hours	32.00	17.00-42.00			33.00	20.00-42.00			29.00	22.00-38.00			31.00	17.00-37.00		
Characteristic	Mdn	Min-max*	U	Ρ	Mdn	Min-max*	U	Ρ	Mdn	Min-max*	U	Р	Mdn	Min-max*	U	Р
Received a certi	ficate?															
Yes	32.00	16.00-42.00	2881.50	.34	34.00	16.00-42.00	818.00	.96	24.00	16.00-30.00	27.50	.06	27.00	22.00-32.00	121.50	.05†
No	32.00	10.00-42.00			33.00	10.00-42.00			29.00	21.00-42.00			31.00	17.00-42.00		
Received trainin	g in ge	neral duties, a	uthorities	and	respon	sibilities?										
Yes	32.00	10.00-42.00	2490.50	.36	33.00	10.00-42.00	436.50	.54	29.00	21.00-42.00	68.50	.27	31.50	17.00-42.00	313.50	.12
No	30.00	16.00-39.00			34.00	25.00-39.00			26.50	16.00-36.00			28.50	22.00-35.00		
Received trainin	g in uni	t-specific duti	es, author	ities,	and re	sponsibilities	?									
Yes	32.00	16.00-42.00	3016.50	.10	33.50	16.00-42.00	601.00	.76	29.50	21.00-42.00	43.00	.03⊤	31.00	19.00-42.00	527.00	.33
No	31.00	10.00-39.00			33.00	10.00-39.00			25.50	16.00-33.00			30.00	17.00-36.00		
Received oriento	ation at	the hospital?														
Yes	32.00	10.00-42.00	1500.50	.0I [†]	34.00	10.00-42.00	193.50	.16	29.00	21.00-42.00	15.00	.20	31.50	17.00-42.00	372.00	.15
No	30.00	16.00-35.00			32.00	24.00-34.00			22.00	16.00-28.00			30.00	20.00-35.00		
Received oriento	ation at	the unit work	ed in?													
Yes	32.00	16.00-42.00	1440.50	.40	33.50	16.00-42.00	140.00	.07	29.00	16.00-42.00	7.50	.42	30.00	17.00-42.00	357.50	.86
No	33.00	10.00-36.00			28.00	10.00-34.00			36.00	36.00-36.00			32.50	20.00-35.00		
ICU, intensi∨e care *Min-max: minimu	e unit. m-max	timum.														

[†]P < .05.

experienced,¹² was experienced below the moderate level (I5.20), or was experienced at the moderate level.¹³ The results from international studies are also compatible with those of this study.^{16,17} In two studies, it is seen that the conflict is experienced at a moderate level.^{18,21} It is common to experience a role conflict in a profession that plays many roles simultaneously, such as nursing. Within the healthcare team, each member may consider his/her own demand to be more important. Responding to the family's demands while performing the roles of pediatric nurses may have an impact on their role conflict.

It can be stated that the nurses in the hospital have not experienced any role ambiguity. In a study conducted in our country, similar results were reported,¹² while in other studies, the ambiguity was reported to be below the moderate level,²⁰ at the moderate level,¹³ or above the moderate level.^{14,15,19,22} In other countries, findings supporting this study have been reported.^{17,21} However, some other studies showed that it was experienced at a moderate level.^{16,18} This difference between the results of the pediatric nurses and adult nurses may be due to the nature of the pediatric patient. Working in child clinics, the team carries out many initiatives, within or outside its role, taking the best interests of the child into account. Role ambiguity may also result from differences in the institutional structure. It can be said that job descriptions in the hospital are very clear. Considering that most of the nurses in the hospital hold at least an undergraduate degree (71.4%), it can be stated that nurses with higher education levels are more aware of their roles.

It is seen that the nurses in the clinic experienced more role conflicts than those in the ICU. In another study, it was found that the nurses in surgical clinics lived longer than those in the ICU, operating room, and emergency room.²⁷ In contrast, other studies reported that those in the ICU experienced more conflict¹⁰ at a moderate level.⁵ Pediatric intensive care nurse is the person who coordinates the team for the care of critically ill and highly vulnerable children.²⁵ In this study, it can be said that a team work was adopted in ICU, expectations from the intensive care nurse were compatible, and that the nurse did not have to choose between the roles despite the stressful

environment. The fact that the lowest percentage of holding an undergraduate degree was among the clinic nurses (54.8%) can be considered as a cause. A stable, permanent, and competent nursing workforce in the ICU improves patient outcomes.²⁵ The fact that the ICU nurses had the highest percentage in having a certificate and the clinic nurses had the lowest may have caused this result. The average number of patients in the ICU during day shift (2.17) and night shift (2.62) is considered to be standard, which indicates that their workloads are normal. On the other hand, it can be asserted that the difference in the number of patients between day and night shifts in the clinic caused this result.

We found that the role ambiguity score of the nurses did not change according to the unit they worked in. The findings of other studies are not in line with ours; the scores were higher¹⁰ and above the moderate level.⁵ The result of this study can be explained by the institutional arrangements and pediatric nurses' full comprehension of their duties, authorities, and responsibilities depending on their professional characteristics. Accountability, responsibility, and autonomy are required to improve patient outcomes in the intensive care environment.⁵ We also observed that the nurses working in the ICU experienced the least role ambiguity. Relocation of the interrelated personnel in the institution is among the causes of role ambiguity.¹⁴ Half of the nurses in the ICU have been working here for at least 5 years.

Role conflict and role ambiguity results of the nurses were different based on some of their characteristics. We found that this difference was not based on the nurses' educational background. The same result was obtained for role conflict²⁷ in one study and for role ambiguity in another.¹⁵ In another study, those with an undergraduate degree experienced more role conflict than high school graduate.¹⁴ While it is expected that the nurses with a higher level of educational would experience it less, the actual result can be explained by the average period of 12.59 years spent in the profession. In addition, it seems that this may be caused by the fact that the majority of the nurses have received training in duties, authorities, and responsibilities and orientation.

The process of gaining professional competence has been defined by Benner in five stages, namely, the "Novice to Expert" model: novice, advanced beginner, competent, proficient, and expert. The expert stage requires graduate and certified training with at least 5 years of experience and includes intuitive decision making based on knowledge and experience that does not require rules.³³ The role conflict in the nurses in hospitals, ICUs, and other featured units increases as the working time increases. In two studies, the exact opposite results of this study were obtained,^{12,27} while in another study, there was no difference.¹⁴ Role ambiguity in nurses in other featured units increases as the time spent in the profession increases. In other studies, however, it did not change.^{12,14} This unexpected finding may be attributed to the fact that the graduate education (7.6%) and the certified education (17.6%) required by the expert stage are not sufficient. It is stated that nurses spend 30-40% of their time on jobs other than care, which are their main roles.¹⁰ In comparison to the clinic, the weekly working time was higher and working in the night shifts was more in the hospital, ICU, and other featured units, which shows that the workload was also higher. From another point of view, this result can be explained by the decision-making feature of the expert stage that is not limited by the rules. Also, the concept of autonomy

can be mentioned. Professional autonomy is to make its own decisions about own practices, and it emphasizes independent nursing roles.¹ It can be said that pediatric nurses possess professional autonomy.

Clinic nurses who own a certificate experience more role conflicts and role ambiguities than those who do not. This unexpected result can be explained by the fact that, in this group, the percentage of high school graduates (7.1%) and the percentage of those who worked in the unit for a period of less than 5 years (70.2%) was the highest, whereas the percentages of those who received orientation training from the hospital and from the unit worked were the lowest.

Role ambiguity was higher in nurses in other featured units who were not trained in unit-specific duties, authorities, and responsibilities. This result emphasizes the importance of clearly defining the responsibilities and limits of the nurse in featured units such as emergency, operating room, and burn unit, which are special branches of nursing that have its own special structure and functioning.

Newly started nurses have difficulty in integrating their professional roles with the institution's expectations regarding their roles.³⁴ At this point, orientation training helps these nurses acquire the necessary knowledge and skills.³⁵ Role conflict in the hospital and ICU nurses, and role ambiguity in the hospital nurses are more commonly observed in those who have not received orientation training from the hospital. It can be thought that an orientation training given on the hospital basis clarifies nursing roles.

Conclusion and Suggestions

We demonstrated that nurses in the hospital experienced role conflict above the moderate level; however, they experienced no role ambiguity. We found that nurses in the clinic experienced more role conflicts than those in the ICU. Hospital, ICU, or other featured unit nurses who spent more years in the profession; hospital and ICU nurses who spent more years in the hospital; nurses in other featured units who had a low total of weekly working time; clinic nurses who received a certificate; and hospital and ICU nurses who have not received orientation training from the hospital experienced more role conflicts. Other featured unit nurses who spent more years in the profession, the hospital, and the unit; clinic nurses who received a certificate; other featured unit nurses who have not received unitspecific training in duties, authorities, and responsibilities; and hospital nurses who have not received orientation training from the hospital experienced more role ambiguity.

The working environments in health institutions create a favorable ground for role conflict and role ambiguity. Developing strategies suitable for the institution in order to reduce role conflict and role ambiguity by executive nurses is recommended. For this purpose, a system where nurses can communicate their problems can be used to determine the root causes. Encouraging graduate and certificate education can yield results. This issue can be addressed in in-service training and orientation training programs organized at the institution or unit level for the newcomers. During the adaptation period, counselor nurses can be used. It is important to address this issue during nursing education before graduation in order to train nurses who are capable of responding to incompatible role expectations and are aware of what their job is about. Conducting studies comparing pediatric and adult nurses, and revealing the nurses' perceptions and experiences about their roles with qualitative studies are recommended.

Limitations of the Research

This study had some limitations. The first one concerns the measuring tool. Scale scorings were performed differently in different studies. In this study, the study about the adapted scale was taken as the basis. It is important to take this situation into account when interpreting the findings and planning researches in the future.

The generalizability of the findings is limited due to the fact that our study was a single-center study. This study was conducted in a training and research hospital of a public university. Therefore, the results may not be generalized to all hospitals. Since the sample consisted of pediatric nurses, the results may not represent all nurses.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the University of Health Sciences Dr. Behcet Uz Child Disease and Pediatric Surgery Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval date: September 26, 2019; approval number: 2019/14-11).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from nurses who participated in this study.

Author Contributions: Concept - D.Ş., M.Ü.Ç.; Design - D.Ş., M.Ü.Ç.; Supervision - D.Ş.; Resource - D.Ş., M.Ü.Ç., N.İ., N.Y.; Materials - D.Ş., M.Ü.Ç.; Data Collection and/or Processing - M.Ü.Ç., N.İ., N.T.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - D.Ş., M.Ü.Ç., N.İ., N.T.; Literature Search - D.Ş., M.Ü.Ç., N.İ., N.T.; Writing - D.Ş., M.Ü.Ç., N.İ., N.T.; Critical Review - D.Ş.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- I. Taylan S, Alan S, Kadioglu S. Roles of nursing and autonomy. J Res Dev Nurs. 2012;2:66-74.
- R.T. Official Gazette. Law amending the nursing law. May 2, 2007. Number: 26510.
- R.T. Official Gazette. Regulation amending the nursing regulation. April 19, 2011. Number: 27910.
- Weiss SA, Tappen RM, Grimley KA (eds.). Work-related stress and burnout. In *Essentials of Nursing Leadership and Management*. 7th ed. Philadelphia: F.A. Davis, 2019:121-138.
- Iliopoulou KK, While AE. Professional autonomy and job satisfaction: Survey of critical care nurses in mainland Greece. J Adv Nurs. 2010;66(11):2520-2531. [CrossRef]
- 6. Scholes J (ed.). New roles in critical care practice. *Developing Expertise in Critical Care Nursing*. Oxford: Blackwell, 2006:179-206.
- Almost J, Wolff AC, Stewart-Pyne A, Mccormick LG, Strachan D, D'Souza C. Managing and mitigating conflict in healthcare teams: An integrative review. J Adv Nurs. 2016;72(7):1490-1505. [CrossRef]
- Uyer G, Abaan S. Organizational communication. In Uyer G, Kocaman G (eds.): Nursing Services Management Handbook. Istanbul: Koc University, 2016:327-348.
- Manojlovich M. Nurse/physician communication through a sensemaking lens, shifting the paradigm to improve patient safety. *Med Care.* 2010;48(11):941–946. [CrossRef]

- Dasgupta P. Effect of role ambiguity, conflict and overload in private hospitals' nurses' burnout and mediation through self efficacy. J Health Manag. 2012;14(4):513-534. [CrossRef]
- II. Kim WS, Nicotera AM, McNulty J. Nurses' perceptions of conflict as constructive or destructive. J Adv Nurs. 2015;71(9):2073-2083. [CrossRef]
- Akbulut Basci AB, Ozyurda F, Yilmazel G. The level of work related tension and role conflict-role ambiguity status of nurses working in Ankara University Hospitals. J Acad Res Nurs. 2016;2(2):51-58.
 [CrossRef]
- Adiguzel O. The impact of work related stress, role clash and role ambiguity on employee turnover: An application on nurses. Int J Alanya Fac Busi. 2012;4(3):163-169.
- Akbolat M, Isik O, Ugurluoglu O. Comparison of locus of control, job satisfaction, role ambiguity and role conflict of health employees. *Hacettepe Univ J Econ Adm Sci.* 2011;29(2):23-48. [CrossRef]
- 15. Bal Tastan S. The theoretical implications of job demandsresources model: A research study on the relations of job demands, supervisor support and job autonomy with work engagement. *Atatürk Univ J Econ Adm Sci.* 2014;28(4):I49-I92. [CrossRef]
- Han SS, Han JW, An YS, Lim SH. Effects of role stress on nurses' turnover intentions: The mediating effects of organizational commitment and burnout. *Jpn J Nurs Sci.* 2015;12:287-296. [CrossRef]
- Iyer RD, Deshmukh M. Moderating effect of workplace spirituality on role stressor and job satisfaction among Indian nurses. J Manag Public Policy. 2018;9(2):15-30. [CrossRef]
- Kaihlanen AM, Elovainio M, Haavisto E, Salminen L, Sinervo T. Final clinical practicum, transition experience and turnover intentions among newly graduated nurses: A cross sectional study. *Nurs Educ Today*. 2020;84:1-9.
- Ozbozkurt OB, Ozbozkurt N. The mediating role of job satisfaction within the impact of role ambiguity and role conflict on job performance: A research on operating private hospitals in Mersin. *Anemon J Soc Sci Mus Alparslan Univ.* 2019;7(4):307-314.
- 20. Polatci S, Ozyer K. A research about the effect of role stressors on burnout. *J Acad Soc Sci Stud.* 2015;33:29-40.
- Roelen CAM, Van Hoffen MFA, Waage S, et al. Psychosocial work environment and mental health-related long-term sickness absence among nurses. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health.* 2018;91:195-203. [CrossRef]
- 22. Tunc T, Kutanis RO. Role conflict, role ambiguity, and burnout in nurses and physicians at a university hospital in Turkey. *Nurs Health Sci.* 2009;11(4):410-416. [CrossRef]
- Dare Azeez F. Role ambiguity and organizational justice as the predictors of unethical behavior among nurses. J Client-Centered Nurs Care. 2019;5(2):81-86. [CrossRef]
- 24. Roch G, Dubois CA, Clarke SP. Organizational climate and hospital nurses' caring practices: A mixed-methods study. *Res Nurs Health.* 2014;37(3):229-240. [CrossRef]
- Moloney Harmon PA, Curley MAQ. The nurse in pediatric critical care. In Fuhrman BP, Zimmerman JJ (eds.): *Pediatric Critical Care*. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Mosby, 2011:23-30.
- 26. Erdogan S, Nahcivan N, Esin N (eds.). *Research in Nursing: Process, Implementation and Critical.* Ist ed. Istanbul: Nobel Medicine, 2014.
- 27. Kara Sivuk D, Kibris S. Role conflict and role ambiguity in health institutions: A research on nurses. *J Prod.* 2016;4:33-50.
- 28. Rizzo JR, House RJ, Lirtzman SI. Role conflict and ambiguity in complex organizations. *Adm Sci Q.* 1970;15(2):150-163. [CrossRef]
- Schuler RS, Aldag RJ, Brief AP. Role conflict and ambiguity: A scale analysis. Organ Behav Hum Perform. 1977;20(1):111-128. [CrossRef]
- Kaygin EG. Work-Related Attitudes of Staff in Hospitals, Staff Turnover, Ankara Province Example [dissertation]. Hacettepe University, Graduate School of Health Sciences, 1994.

Şanll et al. Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity in Nurses

- Yildirim F. Relationship Between Job Satisfaction and Perceived Role Conflict and Burnout in Bank Employees [master's thesis]. Hacettepe University, Graduate School of Social Sciences, 1996.
- Hizel Bahceci M, Celebioglu A. Impact of a refresher training on pediatric nurses' realization of their roles and functions. *J Pediatr Res.* 2017;4(3):130-136. [CrossRef]
- Karahan A, Kav S. Professional competency in nursing. J Hacettepe Univ Fac Nurs. 2018;5(2):76-84. [CrossRef]
- 34. Sabanciogullari S, Dogan S. Professional identity development and nursing. *J Anatolia Nurs Health Sci.* 2012;15(4):275-282.
- 35. Ulupinar Alici S, Cakir A. Nurses' opinions about clinical orientation period practiced in a private hospital. *Maltepe Univ J Nurs Sci Art.* 2009;2(1):1-12.

Original Article

Systemic Inflammatory Markers as a Prognostic Factor in Parotid **Gland Tumors**

Orhan Tunç 🕞, Burhanettin Gönüldaş 🕞, Muzaffer Kanlıkama 🝺

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Gaziantep University, Gaziantep, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: O.T. 0000-0001-7764-II38; B.G. 0000-0003-0I33-453I; M.K. 0000-0002-3537-7778.

Cite this article as: Tunç O, Gönüldaş B, Kanlıkama M. Systemic Inflammatory Markers as a Prognostic Factor in Parotid Gland Tumors. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 171-176.

BACKGROUND/AIMS

In this study, it was aimed to evaluate systemic inflammatory markers as prognostic factors in patients with parotid gland tumors.

MATERIAL and METHODS

Between 2014and2019, retrospective analysis of 181 patients who applied to Otorhinolaryngology Clinic and operated due to parotid gland tumor was performed. Additionally, 63 patients without tumor were included in the study as a control group. According to the post-operative histopathological diagnosis, it was divided into two groups as patients with benign and malignant tumors. The patients' age, gender, pre-operative blood tests, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio(NLR), platelet-lymphocyte ratio(PLR), MPV-platelet ratio(MPVPR), MPV-lymphocyte ratio(MPVLR) and Systemic inflammatory index(SII) parameters calculated.

RESULTS

RBC, hemoglobin, hematocrit and lymphocyte levels were statistically significantly lower in patients with malign tumor compared to other groups. In addition, compared to benign tumor group, NLR, PLR and SII levels significantly increased and MPVLR level significantly decreased in patients with malign tumor. Consequently, according to ROC analysis for malign tumor, RDW, lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, MPVLR and SII were significant prognostic factors (P = .036, P = .002, P = .033, P = .004, P = .001, P = .049, respectively).

CONCLUSION

RDW, lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, MPVLR and SII parameters, which are fast, cheap and easy to use, can be used in the differential diagnosis of benign and malignant masses in patients with parotid gland tumors.

Keywords: Parotid gland tumors, red cell distribution width, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, platelet-lymphocyte ratio, systemic inflammatory index

INTRODUCTION

Salivary gland tumors (SGTs) constitute about 5–10% of all head and neck tumors, and approximately 80–85% of these tumors originate from the parotid gland.^{1,2} Treatment of parotid tumors is primarily surgery. However, the planning of surgery varies depending on the histopathology and local spread of the tumor. Therefore, it is vital to distinguish whether the lesions are benign or malignant in the preoperative period. Fine needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) is the most commonly used diagnostic method today. FNAB has over 95% sensitivity in the separation of tumor and nontumor pathologies, while 90% in the benign/malignant distinction.¹ Parotid tumors contain a large group of tumors with similar clinical and histopathological features. In these tumors, cystic degeneration is also frequently encountered. It is very difficult to make a definitive diagnosis in aspirates containing cystic rash.¹ An experienced cytopathologist is required for a definitive diagnosis.

In recent years, the number of studies evaluating the relationship between cancer and immune system has increased considerably. Epithelial inflammation is an important and diffuse pathological event that occurs alone or as a result of neoplasia.³ First, inflammatory cells acts as a defense mechanism to prevent the formation of tumors task; however, preventing apoptosis may facilitate tumor proliferation and metastasis secondary to angiogenesis and DNA damage as a result of chronic inflammation.⁴⁵ Many researchers have reported that systemic inflammatory markers are important

Corresponding Author: Orhan Tunç E-mail: orhantip@hotmail.com, orhantunc@gantep.edu.tr



😰 🛈 🕭 Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.

independent predictive markers in the diagnosis and prognosis of head and neck cancers, based on the idea that inflammation contributes to cancer onset and progression.^{6–12} We aimed to evaluate the importance of preoperative systemic inflammatory markers (red cell distribution width [RDW], platelet, mean platelet volume [MPV], neutrophil–lymphocyte ratio [NLR], platelet–lymphocyte ratio [PLR], MPV–platelet ratio [MPVPR], MPV–lymphocyte ratio [MPVLR], and systemic inflammatory index [SII]) as a prognostic factor in the differential diagnosis of benign and malignant parotid masses in our clinic.

MATERIALS and METHODS

In our study, between 2014 and 2019, retrospective analysis of I8I patients who applied to University Research Hospital Otorhinolaryngology Clinic and operated on for parotid tumor was performed. In addition, as a control group, 63 patients without cancer were included in the study. Patients with active infection, hematological diseases, second primary cancer, and chronic inflammatory diseases, such as systemic lupus erythematosus and missing data, were excluded from the study. The study was approved by Gaziantep University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (2020/134). Written informed consent was obtained from the patients who participated in this study.

The patients' ages, genders, and preoperative blood tests (one day before surgery), and pathology results (tumor type, benign or malign) were obtained from the patients' files. In addition, NLR, PLR, MPVPR, MPVLR, the systematic inflammatory index (SII) values were calculated and recorded. The following parameters were calculated from the hemogram results performed at the preoperative stage.

The NLR was calculated by dividing the neutrophil count by the lymphocyte count. PLR was found by dividing platelet count by lymphocyte count. MPVPR was found by dividing the number of MPV by the number of platelets. MPVLR was found by dividing the number of MPV by lymphocyte count. The SII was found by multiplying neutrophil count and PLR value.

The tumor classification of the patients was made according to the TNM classification determined by The American Joint Committee on Cancer, which was modified in 2017. The stage of the tumor and lymph node involvement were evaluated based

Main Points

- Compared to benign tumor group, NLR, PLR, and SII levels significantly increased and MPVLR level significantly decreased in patients with malign tumor.
- According to the results of ROC analysis in patients with malign tumor, sensitivity 60.7% and specificity 54.2% for RDW (P = .036), sensitivity 41.0% and specificity 40.8% for lymphocyte (P = .002), sensitivity 59.0% and specificity 56.7% for NLR (P = .033), sensitivity 59.0% and specificity 56.7% for PLR (P = .004), sensitivity 37.7% and specificity 35.0% for MPVLR (P = .001) were found.
- The risk factors found to be significantly related to differentiation in the regression analysis involved lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, and MPVLR, while the effect of age for differentiating malign tumor from benign tumor in multiple regression analysis was not statistically significant.

on histopathological evaluation. Analyses of all samples were performed on Sysmex XN-9100TM (Kobe, Japan) hematological auto-analyzer devices.

Statistical Analysis

All analyzes were done using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 25 (IBM SPSS Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA). P values less than .05 were considered significant. The normality control of the data was done with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Student's t test was used for comparing the means of normally distributed parameters, and Mann-Whitney U test was used for the comparison of parameters that did not conform to normal distribution. In multiple comparisons, Kruskal–Wallis variance analysis was used. Descriptive statistics were expressed with odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals. ROC analysis was used to determine the cut-off point, the area under the curve (AUC), the sensitivity (sensitivity), and the specificity (specificity) of the data. Multivariate logistic regression analysis performed to distinguish benign from malignant tumor in terms of factors age, MPV, platelet, RDW, lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, MPVPR, MPVLR, and SII.

RESULTS

Comparison of laboratory and socio-demographic findings between the groups of patient and control is shown in Table I. The mean age of the patients was 49.59 ± 15.7 . In the control group, the mean age was 42.76 ± 13.1 . There was a statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of age (P =.002). Compared to the control group, WBC, MCV, MCH, RDW, and neutrophil levels were statistically significantly higher in the patient group (P = .027, P = .007, P = .004, P = .032, P =.033, respectively). Hemoglobin and hematocrit levels were statistically significantly lower in the patient group compared to the control group (P = .020, P = .003, respectively). There was not any statistical significance between the groups in terms of other parameters (Table I).

Comparison of laboratory results according to tumor status is shown in Table 2. There was a statistically significant difference between groups in terms of WBC, RBC, hemoglobin, hematocrit, MCV, MCH, RDW, platelet, and lymphocyte levels (P = .040, P < .001, P = .002, P < .001, P = .028, P = .017, P = .012, P = .002, P = .001, P = .002, P = .012, P = .002, P =and P = .004, respectively). WBC, MCV, MCH, and lymphocyte levels were statistically significantly higher in patients with benign tumor compared to control. RBC, hemoglobin, hematocrit, and lymphocyte levels were statistically significantly lower in patients with malign tumor compared to other groups. However, there was statistical significance between the groups in terms of NLR, PLR, MPVLR, and SII parameters (P = .022, P =.010, P = .003, and P = .049, respectively). In addition, compared to benign tumor group, NLR, PLR, and SII levels significantly increased and MPVLR level significantly decreased in patients with malign tumor (Table 2).

ROC analysis results in patients with malign tumor are shown in Table 3. According to the results of ROC analysis in patients with malign tumor, sensitivity 47.5% and specificity 48.3% for MPV (P = .448). sensitivity 47.5% and specificity 50.8% for platelet (P = .638), sensitivity 60.7% and specificity 54.2% for RDW (P = .036), sensitivity 41.0% and specificity 40.8% for lymphocyte (P = .002), sensitivity 59.0% and specificity 56.7% for NLR (P = .033), sensitivity 59.0% and specificity 56.7% for PLR (P = .004), sensitivity 54.1% and specificity 50.0% for MPVPR (P =

TABLE I. Comparison of Laboratory and Sociodemographic Findings								
	Patient (n $=$ 181)	Control (n = 63)	<i>P</i> value					
Age (years)	49.59 ± 15.7	42.76 ± 13.1	.002*					
Gender (n, %)			.658					
Male	107 (59.1%)	35 (55.6%)						
Female	74 (40.9%)	28 (44.4%)						
WBC (mm ⁻³)	8.20 (3.7-13.7)	7.64 (3.9-13.8)	.027**					
RBC (µL)	5.02 ± 0.5	5.I9 ± 0.4	.016*					
Hemoglobin (g dL ^{-I})	14.61 ± 1.8	14.67 ± 1.4	.020*					
Hematocrit (%)	43.65 ± 4.9	44.24 ± 3.7	.003*					
MC∨ (fL)	87.40 (61.2-98.3)	85.20 (69.6-94.9)	.007**					
MCH (pg)	29.20 (18.6-33.2)	28.60 (21.9-31.3)	.004**					
MCHC (g dL ⁻¹)	33.44 ± I.2	33.I4 ± I.3	.561*					
RDW (%)	13.30 (11.5-22.7)	12.90 (11.8-17.2)	.032*					
Platelet (mm ⁻³)	270.7I ± 58.3	268.79 ± 59.4	.501*					
MPV (fL)	10.20 (6.8-12.3)	10.40 (9.1-13.8)	.049**					
Neutrophil (mm ⁻³)	4.89 (2.0-11.1)	4.17 (1.4-8.9)	.033**					
Lymphocyte (mm ⁻³)	2.47 (0.7-5.7)	2.34 (1.3-4.7)	.274**					
NLR	I.92 (0.8I-I4.75)	1.89 (0.67-5.00)	.503**					
PLR	105.94 (38.1-374.1)	112.06 (39.3-217.7)	.417**					
MPVPR	0.038 (0.01-0.10)	0.037 (0.02-0.08)	.647**					
MPVLR	4.08 (1.2-15.5)	4.48 (2.2-9.9)	.150**					
SII	498.62 (125.9-2714.0)	490.82 (163.9-1395.7)	.423**					

WBC, white blood cell; RBC, red blood cell; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; MCH, mean corpuscular hemoglobin; RDW, red cell distribution width; MPV, mean platelet volume; NLR, neutrophil–lymphocyte ratio; PLR, platelet–lymphocyte ratio; MPVPR, MPV–platelet ratio; MPVLR, MPV–lymphocyte ratio; SII, systemic inflammatory index.

*Student t test.

**Mann–Whitney U test.

TABLE 2. Comparison of	f Laboratory Result	s According to 1	umor Status

	Control (n = 63)	Benign (n = I20)	Malign (n = 6l)	<i>P</i> value
WBC (mm ⁻³)	7.64 (3.9–13.8)	8.46 (3.7–13.7)*	7.98 (3.9–13.5)	.040
RBC (µL)	5.I9 ± 0.4	5.I4 ± 0.5	$4.82 \pm 0.5^{+}$	<.001
Hemoglobin (g dL ^{-I})	14.67 ± 1.4	14.92 ± 1.7	$13.99 \pm 1.7^{+}$.002
Hematocrit (%)	44.2 ± 3.7	44.6 ± 4.5	$41.6 \pm 5.0^{+}$	<.001
MC∨ (fL)	85.20 (69.6–94.9)	87.50 (65.7–97.5) [*]	86.90 (61.2–98.3)*	.028
MCH (pg)	28.60 (21.9–31.3)	29.25 (20.4–33.2) [*]	29.00 (I8.6–32.9) [*]	.017
MCHC ($g dL^{-1}$)	33.I4 ± I.3	33.38 ± I.3	33.55 ± I.I	.216
RDW (%)	12.90 (11.8–17.2)	13.20 (11.5–19.8)	I3.50 (II.9–22.7) [*]	.012
Platelet (mm ⁻³)	268.79 ± 59.4	271.44 ± 51.7	269.28 ± 69.9	.949
MPV (fL)	10.40 (9.1–13.8)	10.20 (7.7–12.3)	10.10 (6.8–12.3)	.305
Neutrophil (mm ⁻³)	4.17 (1.4–8.9)	4.95 (2.1–10.9)	4.83 (2.0–11.1)	.103
Lymphocyte (mm ⁻³)	2.34 (1.3–4.7)	2.62 (0.7–5.7)*	2.31 (0.7–5.5) [†]	.004
NLR	1.89 (0.6–5.0)	1.82 (0.8–8.6)	2.00 (0.9–14.7) ⁺	.022
PLR	112.06 (39.3–217.7)	101.71 (46.8–374.1)	120.58 (38.I–318.6) [‡]	.010
MPVPR	0.037 (0.02–0.08)	0.038 (0.02–0.06)	0.038 (0.01–0.10)	.876
MPVLR	4.48 (2.2–9.9)	4.33 (1.2–15.6)	3.72 (1.6–9.5)*	.003
SII	490.82 (163.9–1395.7)	481.96 (222.6–2192.1)	511.12 (125.9–2714.0)‡	.049

WBC, white blood cell; RBC, red blood cell; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; MCH, mean corpuscular hemoglobin; RDW, red cell distribution width; MPV, mean platelet volume; NLR, neutrophil–lymphocyte ratio; PLR, platelet–lymphocyte ratio; MPVPR, MPV–platelet ratio; MPVLR, MPV–lymphocyte ratio; SII, systemic inflammatory index.

*Statistically significant compared to control.

[†]Statistically significant compared to other groups.

[‡]Statistically significant compared to benign.

.888), sensitivity 37.7% and specificity 35.0% for MPVLR (P = .001), sensitivity 55.7% and specificity 56.7% for SII were found. The cut-off point for these values were <10.15, >263.5, >13.25, <2.40, >1.92, >106.9, >0.037, <3.91, and >505.8, respectively. As a result, according to ROC analysis for malign tumor, MPV, platelet, and MPVPR were not found to be a prognostic factor, although the RDW, lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, MPVLR, and SII were significant prognostic factors (Table 3 and Figure I).

Multivariate logistic regression analysis performed to distinguish benign from malignant tumor is shown in Table 4. The risk factors found to be significantly related to differentiation in the



Figure I. ROC analysis of RDW, lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, MPVLR, and SII (RDW, red cell distribution width; NLR, neutrophil–lymphocyte ratio; PLR, platelet–lymphocyte ratio; MPVLR, mean platelet volume–lymphocyte_ratio; SII, systemic inflammatory index)

regression analysis involved lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, and MPVLR while the effect of age for differentiating malign tumor from benign tumor in multivariate logistic regression analysis was not statistically significant (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

In our study, WBC, hemoglobin, RBC, hematocrit, MPV, RDW, MCV, MCH, and neutrophil levels were statistically significant in parotid tumor patients compared to healthy individuals. However, compared to benign tumor group, NLR, PLR, and SII levels significantly increased and MPVLR level significantly decreased in patients with malign tumor. As a result, according to ROC analysis for malign tumor, MPV, platelet, and MPVPR were not found to be a prognostic factor, even though the RDW, lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, MPVLR, and SII were significant prognostic factors. In addition, the risk factors found to be significantly related to differentiating malign tumor from benign tumor in the regression analysis included lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, and MPVLR.

MPV was an early marker of activated platelets. Greater platelet reactivity has more than smaller ones.¹³ The relationship between MPV and cancer has been researched in different cancer types.^{14,15} It has been shown that thyroid papillary carcinomas have higher MPV levels than benign goiter patients and the control group, and MPV levels decrease after surgical treatment.¹⁵ In a study by Fu et al.¹⁶ in 216 laryngeal cancer patients, they showed that MPV was significantly lower in laryngeal cancer patients compared with control. It is also stated that MPV is one of the independent risk factors for distinguishing malignant laryngeal tumor from benign laryngeal tumor.¹⁶ Eryilmaz et al.¹⁷ reported that MPV levels of the patients were significantly high in their study on 96 head and neck cancer patients. In contrast to, MPV levels were statistically significantly lower in the parotid tumor group compared to the control group in our study.

RDW is a parameter that shows the degree of heterogeneity of erythrocyte volume. Its level increases in diseases, such as

venous thromboembolism, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer.¹⁸ It is stated that RDW is a prognostic factor in various types of cancer, such as lung, breast, esophagus, brain, kidney, stomach, colon, pancreas, prostate, multiple myeloma, and lymphoma.^{19,20} Kara et al.⁸ showed that the RDW prognostic effects in 103 larynx carcinoma patients. In our study, RDW levels were statistically significantly higher in the patient with malign tumor group compared to control group. As a result, according to ROC analysis for malign tumor, it was determined that RDW is one of the prognostic factors.

Lymphocytes have a potent antitumor response of cellular immune and are important immune system components.²¹ Compared to neutrophils, lymphocytes supply host defense against tumors; hence, lymphocyte increase is related to a better prognosis.²² On the contrary, lymphopenia shows impaired cellular immunity against tumors and is related to poor prognosis.²³ In our study, lymphocyte levels were statistically significantly lower in patients with malign tumor compared to control and benign tumor group. In addition, as a result according to ROC analysis for malign tumor, it was determined that lymphocyte is one of the important prognostic factors.

In the study of Damar et al.² on I82 patients covering all SGTs, they reported that high NLR and low lymphocyte count can be used to distinguish malignant tumors from benign tumors. The PLR was also presented as prognostic value in various different tumor types (tongue cancer, oral cancer, etc.).^{24,25} In the study of Ekici and Kuran²⁶ on I34 patients, they stated that NLR and PLR can be used in the differential diagnosis of benign and malignant masses in parotid gland tumors patients. In the study of Kuzucu et al.¹⁰ in 145 patients with parotid tumors, they stated that preoperative PLR and NLR values are higher malignant parotid tumors patients than benign parotid tumor patients. In our study, there was statistical significance between the groups in terms of PLR and NLR parameters. In addition, compared to benign tumor group, NLR and PLR levels significantly increased in patients with malign tumor. However, according to the results of ROC analysis in patients with malign tumor, the RDW, PLR, and NLR were significant prognostic factors.

Deveci and Sürmeli⁷ reported that high SII values were associated with increased perineural/lymphovascular invasion and extranodal involvement. Ekici and Kuran²⁶ did not find a statistically significant difference in their study on I34 patients with parotid gland tumors, although the SII value was higher in the malignant tumor group. In our study, compared to benign tumor group, SII levels significantly increased in patients with malign tumor. However, as a result according to ROC analysis for malign tumor, it was determined that SII is one of the important prognostic factors.

Recently, the MPVLR was shown as one of the complete blood count parameters. It was first shown by Kuzucu et al.¹⁰ in patients with myocardial infarction and diabetes as a potential prognostic marker in 2016. In the study of Sut et al.²⁷ in 78 patients with breast cancer, compared to control, they reported that MPVLR, NLR, and PLR levels were significantly higher in patients with breast cancer. In addition, a significant association was found between NLR, PLR but not MPVLR and low dietary polyphenol intake in breast cancer patients.²⁷ In our study, NLR, PLR, and SII levels significantly increased and MPVLR

TABLE 3. ROC Analysis Results in Patients with Malign Tumor							
	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUC (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value		
MPV (fL)	<10.15	47.5%	48.3%	0.465 (0.371–0.560)	.448		
Platelet (mm ⁻³)	>263.5	47.5%	50.8%	0.479 (0.381–0.576)	.638		
RDW (%)	>13.25	60.7%	54.2%	0.596 (0.507-0.684)	.036		
Lymphocyte (mm ⁻³)	<2.40	41.0%	40.8%	0.358 (0.274–0.442)	.002		
NLR	>1.92	59.0%	56.7%	0.597 (0.508–0.686)	.033		
PLR	>106.9	59.0%	56.7%	0.631 (0.545–0.717)	.004		
MPVPR	>0.037	54.1%	50.0%	0.494 (0.394–0.593)	.888.		
MPVLR	<3.91	37.7%	35.0%	0.351 (0.263–0.439)	.001		
SII	>505.8	55.7%	56.7%	0.589 (0.499–0.678)	.051		

AUC, area under the curve; MPV, mean platelet volume; RDW, red cell distribution width; NLR, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio; PLR, platelet-lymphocyte ratio; MPVPR, MPV-platelet ratio; MPVLR, MPV-lymphocyte ratio; SII, systemic inflammatory index.

TABLE 4. Multivariate Logistic Regression Analysis of Factors Used for Differentiating Malign Tumor from Benign Tumor

	β	OR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value
Age (year)	0.018	1.018 (0.997–1.039)	.091
MPV (fL)	-0.267	0.766 (0.534–1.097)	.145
Platelet (mm ⁻³)	-0.002	0.998 (0.992-1.004)	.589
RDW (%)	0.049	1.050 (0.776–1.422)	.176
Lymphocyte (mm ⁻³)	-0.566	0.568 (0.369–0.873)	.010
NLR	1.239	1.239 (1.007–1.525)	.043
PLR	0.007	1.007 (1.001–1.013)	.028
MPVPR	0.001	0.011 (0.008–0.014)	.398
MPVLR	-0.279	0.757 (0.597–0.959)	.021
SII	0.001	1.001 (1.000–1.002)	.079

MPV, mean platelet volume; RDW, red cell distribution width; NLR, neutrophil–lymphocyte ratio; PLR, platelet–lymphocyte ratio; MPVPR, MPV–platelet ratio; MPVLR: MPV–lymphocyte ratio; SII, systemic inflammatory index.

level significantly decreased in patients with malign tumor. As a result according to ROC analysis for malign tumor, RDW, lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, MPVLR, and SII were significant prognostic factors. However, as a result of multivariate logistic regression analysis, the risk factors found to be significantly related to differentiation in the regression analysis, including lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, and MPVLR used for differentiating malign tumor from benign tumor. According to the literature knowledge, this is the first research to examine the relation between MPVLR and in patients with parotid cancer. We consider that reduced MPVLR may reflect an impaired interaction between tumor cells, blood platelets, and lymphocyte dependent immune response.

Studies in the literature report that most of the systemic inflammatory markers change with age (e.g., RDW decreases, MCV, NLR increase) in a healthy population.^{28–32} In our study, although there was a significant difference between the patient group and the healthy group in terms of age, the effect of age for differentiating malign tumor from benign tumor in multivariate logistic regression analysis was not statistically significant.

As limitations in our study, our study is a single center and retrospective study. The small sample size and age differences were other limitations. Moreover, multicenter and prospective studies could be planned to backup these preliminary results. Compared to other studies in the literature,^{28,17,26} the strengths of our study, our sample was larger and our results were supported by a logistic regression analysis.

In conclusion, as far as we know, this study is the first study to evaluate different numbers and rates of leukocytes (especially MPVLR) together before surgery in patients with benign and malign parotid gland tumors. These parameters which are cheap and easy can be used as a potential prognosis factor in patients with parotid tumors. Our results propound that the combination of RDW, lymphocyte, NLR, PLR, and MPVLR could be utilized as a potential inflammatory marker in patients to differentiate benign from malignant parotid gland tumors. We think that these values should be defined in laboratory devices and added to blood results in order to facilitate the clinician's work. However, new prospective researches with a larger group of patients are needed to determine the reference intervals of these values and to use them as prognostic factors.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical committee approval was received from the Gaziantep University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (2020/134).

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from all participants who participated in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - O.T., B.G.; Design - O.T., B.G., M.K.; Supervision - O.T., M.K.; Resource - O.T., B.G.; Materials - O.T., M.K.; Data Collection and/or Processing - O.T., B.G.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - O.T., M.K.; Literature Search - O.T., B.G., M.K.; Writing - O.T., B.G., M.K.; Critical Reviews - O.T., M.K.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Garrett SL, Trott K, Sebastiano C, et al. Sensitivity of fine-needle aspiration and imaging modalities in the diagnosis of low-grade mucoepidermoid carcinoma of the parotid gland. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol.* 2019;128(8):755-759. [CrossRef]
- Damar M, Dinc AE, Erdem D, et al. Pretreatment neutrophillymphocyte ratio in salivary gland tumors is associated with malignancy. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* 2016;155(6):988-996. [Cross-Ref]
- Tsai YD, Wang CP, Chen CY, et al. Pretreatment circulating monocyte count associated with poor prognosis in patients with oral cavity cancer. *Head Neck*. 2014;36(7):947-953. [CrossRef]
- Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature. 2002;420(6917):860-867. [CrossRef]
- Jaiswal M, LaRusso NF, Burgart LJ, Gores GJ. Inflammatory cytokines induce DNA damage and inhibit DNA repair in cholangiocarcinoma cells by a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism. *Cancer Res.* 2000;60(1):184-190.
- Chen L, Zeng H, Yang J, et al. Survival and prognostic analysis of preoperative inflammatory markers in patients undergoing surgical resection for laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *BMC Cancer*. 2018;18(1):816. [CrossRef]
- Deveci İ, Sürmeli M. Correlation of systemic immune-inflammation index and neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio with histopathological findings in patients with tongue cancer. *Med J Haydarpaşa Numune Train Res Hosp.* 2018;58(3):122-127.
- Kara M, Uysal S, Altinisik U, Cevizci S, Guclu O, Derekoy FS. The pre-treatment neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio, and red cell distribution width predict prognosis in patients with laryngeal carcinoma. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol.* 2017;274(1):535-542. [CrossRef]
- Kum RO, Ozcan M, Baklaci D, et al. Elevated neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in squamous cell carcinoma of larynx compared to benign and precancerous laryngeal lesions. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* 2014;15(17):7351-7355. [CrossRef]
- Kuzucu I, Guler I, Kum RO, Baklaci D, Ozcan M. Increased neutrophil lymphocyte ratio and platelet lymphocyte ratio in malignant parotid tumors. *Braz J Otorhinolaryngol.* 2020;86(1):105-110. [Cross-Ref]
- II. Rachidi S, Wallace K, Wrangle JM, Day TA, Alberg AJ, Li Z. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and overall survival in all sites of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Head Neck.* 2015;38(Suppl. I):E1068-E1074. [CrossRef]
- Sefil F, Ulutas KT, Dokuyucu R, et al. Investigation of neutrophil lymphocyte ratio and blood glucose regulation in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Int Med Res.* 2014;42(2):581-588. [Cross-Ref]
- Mangalpally KK, Siqueiros-Garcia A, Vaduganathan M, Dong JF, Kleiman NS, Guthikonda S. Platelet activation patterns in platelet size sub-populations: Differential responses to aspirin in vitro. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2010;30(3):251-262. [CrossRef]
- Afsar CU, Gunaldi M, Kum P, et al. Pancreatic carcinoma, thrombosis and mean platelet volume: Single center experience from the southeast region of Turkey. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2014;15(21):9143-9146. [CrossRef]

- Baldane S, Ipekci SH, Sozen M, Kebapcilar L. Mean platelet volume could be a possible biomarker for papillary thyroid carcinomas. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* 2015;16(7):2671-2674. [CrossRef]
- Fu S, Liu L, Zhang X, Liu ZP, Wang RT. Platelet indices in laryngeal cancer. *Cancer Biomark*. 2018;21(3):675-680. [CrossRef]
- Eryilmaz A, Basal Y, Omurlu IK. Can head and neck cancers be detected with mean platelet volume? *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* 2015;16(16):7045-7047. [CrossRef]
- Salvagno GL, Sanchis-Gomar F, Picanza A, Lippi G. Red blood cell distribution width: A simple parameter with multiple clinical applications. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci.* 2015;52(2):86-105. [CrossRef]
- Chen GP, Huang Y, Yang X, Feng JF. A nomogram to predict prognostic value of red cell distribution width in patients with esophageal cancer. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2015:854670. [CrossRef]
- 20. Riedl J, Posch F, Konigsbrugge O, et al. Red cell distribution width and other red blood cell parameters in patients with cancer: Association with risk of venous thromboembolism and mortality. *PLoS One.* 2014;9(10):ell1440. [CrossRef]
- Liu H, Liu G, Bao Q, et al. The baseline ratio of neutrophils to lymphocytes is associated with patient prognosis in rectal carcinoma. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2010;41(2):116-120. [CrossRef]
- Yamanaka T, Matsumoto S, Teramukai S, Ishiwata R, Nagai Y, Fukushima M. The baseline ratio of neutrophils to lymphocytes is associated with patient prognosis in advanced gastric cancer. Oncology. 2007;73(3-4):215-220. [CrossRef]
- Liu CL, Lee JJ, Liu TP, Chang YC, Hsu YC, Cheng SP. Blood neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio correlates with tumor size in patients with differentiated thyroid cancer. *J Surg Oncol.* 2013;107(5):493-497. [CrossRef]
- Ozturk K, Akyildiz NS, Uslu M, Gode S, Uluoz U. The effect of preoperative neutrophil, platelet and lymphocyte counts on local recurrence and survival in early-stage tongue cancer. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol.* 2016;273(12):4425-4429. [CrossRef]
- Chen S, Guo J, Feng C, Ke Z, Chen L, Pan Y. The preoperative platelet-lymphocyte ratio versus neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio: Which is better as a prognostic factor in oral squamous cell carcinoma? *Ther Adv Med Oncol.* 2016;8(3):160-167. [CrossRef]
- Ekici NY, Kuran G. Parotis Bezi Tümörü Olan Hastalarda Benign Ve Malign Kitlelerin Ayırıcı Tanısında Sistemik İnflamatuar Belirteçlerin Önemi. *KBB-Forum*. 2019;18(2):101-106.
- Sut A, Pytel M, Zadrozny M, Golanski J, Rozalski M. Polyphenolrich diet is associated with decreased level of inflammatory biomarkers in breast cancer patients. *Rocz Panstw Zakl Hig.* 2019;70(2):177-184.
- Valiathan R, Ashman M, Asthana D. Effects of ageing on the immune system: Infants to elderly. *Scand J Immunol.* 2016;83(4):255-266. [CrossRef]
- Valiathan R, Deeb K, Diamante M, Ashman M, Sachdeva N, Asthana D. Reference ranges of lymphocyte subsets in healthy adults and adolescents with special mention of T cell maturation subsets in adults of South Florida. *Immunobiology*. 2014;219(7):487-496. [CrossRef]
- Yaman A, Cetiner S, Kibar F, Tasova Y, Seydaoglu G, Dundar IH. Reference ranges of lymphocyte subsets of healthy adults in Turkey. *Med Princ Pract*. 2005;14(3):189-193. [CrossRef]
- Hoffmann JJ, Nabbe KC, van den Broek NM. Effect of age and gender on reference intervals of red blood cell distribution width (RDW) and mean red cell volume (MCV). *Clin Chem Lab Med.* 2015;53(12):2015-2019.
- Li J, Chen Q, Luo X, et al. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio positively correlates to age in healthy population. *J Clin Lab Anal.* 2015;29(6):437-443. [CrossRef]

Case Report

An Uncommon Cause of Hypernatremia in Very Low Birth Weight Premature Infants: Idiopathic Central Diabetes Insipidus

Selma Aktas¹ (b), Ebru Kazancı¹ (b), Serap Semiz² (b), Ayşe Korkmaz¹ (b)

Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey ²Division of Pediatric Endocrinology, Department of Pediatrics, Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: S.A. 0000-000I-7858-7292; E.K. 0000-0002-7920-852X; S.S. 0000-0002-I97I-40I7; A.K. 0000-0003-4934-II24.

Cite this article as: Aktas S, Kazancı E, Semiz S, Korkmaz A. An Uncommon Cause of Hypernatremia in Very Low Birth Weight Premature Infants: Idiopathic Central Diabetes Insipidus. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 177-179.

Central diabetes insipidus (CDI) is a water homeostasis disorder characterized by an inability to concentrate urine because of insufficient production of antidiuretic hormone. Dehydration with hypernatremia can occur during the neonatal period in preterm neonates in association with insensible water loss, high urine output, and reduced sodium excretion. A high index of suspicion is required to diagnose CDI in preterm neonates. We report two cases, who presented persistent hypernatremia with polyuria despite increased fluid supply and low sodium intake. CDI diagnosis was confirmed by the therapeutic test with oral vasopressin analog. Investigations were all normal; CDI was considered idiopathic. Persistent hypernatremia despite increased fluid intake with polyuria, hyposthenuria, low urine output, and high plasma osmolality is the key point for the diagnosis.

Keywords: Central diabetes insipidus, premature infants

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes insipidus (DI) is a water homeostasis disorder characterized by an inability to concentrate urine because of insufficient production of antidiuretic hormone (ADH) (central diabetes insipidus, CDI) or due to impaired kidney response to ADH (nephrogenic diabetes insipidus).^{1,2} CDI in a neonate is usually associated with congenital abnormalities of the central nervous system, hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy, meningitis, encephalitis, or severe intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH) in preterm neonates.³ During neonatal period, dehydration with hypernatremia can occur due to insensible water loss, high urine output, and reduced sodium excretion in preterm neonates. Therefore, a high index of suspicion is required to diagnose CDI in very low birth weight infants.^{2–4}

To alert for CDI diagnosis and early treatment in the neonatal period, two cases of very low birth infants with idiopathic CDI, who were successfully controlled through lyophilized sublingual desmopressin, were reported.

CASE PRESENTATION Case I

A male preterm neonate with a gestational age of 31 weeks and a birth weight of 1215 g was born by cesarean section (C/S) with Apgar scores of 4 and 7 at 1st and 5th minutes, respectively. He was on nasal intermittent positive-pressure ventilation and did not require surfactant therapy. Antibiotic therapy was begun because of high CRP level. On the 5th day of life due to increase in CRP, oxygen requirement ($FiO_2 > 40\%$), and respiratory acidosis, he was intubated, surfactant was given, and antibiotic treatment was changed. He was extubated the next day followed by noninvasive ventilation for 2 weeks. On the I3th day of life, although the daily Na intake was I.2 meq kg⁻¹ d⁻¹ and the daily fluid supply was 180 mL kg⁻¹ d⁻¹, the serum Na level and urine output were 152 mmol L⁻¹ and 8 mL kg⁻¹ h⁻¹, respectively. The urinary and plasma osmolalities were 98 and 302 mOsm kg⁻¹, respectively. The density of urine was around 1005. The ADH level was 2.30 pmol L^{-I}. Thus, DI was diagnosed and desmopressin treatment was begun (2 imes I.5 mcg per oral). The urine output decreased to 4-5 mL kg⁻¹ h⁻¹, and the plasma Na level decreased to 140 mmol L⁻¹. Transfontanelle sonography did not demonstrate IVH. The evaluation of the pituitary axes revealed normal thyroid, adrenal, and gonadal functions. Serological tests for syphilis, toxoplasmosis, cytomegalovirüs, herpes simplex, and rubella (TORCHS) ruled out

Corresponding Author: Selma Aktas E-mail: selmaktas@gmail.com



these congenital infections. No abnormalities were observed in serum urea nitrogen, creatinine, potassium, calcium, and bicarbonate levels. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain was planned to evaluate pituitary gland and the other structures of the brain, but parents did not approve it because of sedation. The etiology remains unknown. He was discharged on postnatal on 52nd day of life, at 38/4 corrected age, weighing 2285 g, with a prescription of 2×1.5 mcg of oral desmopressin per day.

Case 2

A male preterm neonate with a gestational age of 3I weeks and a birth weight of 1015 g was born by C/S with Apgar scores of 4 and 7 at 1st and 5th minutes, respectively. He was intubated in the delivery room, surfactant was given for the diagnosis of respiratory distress syndrome, and then extubated followed by noninvasive ventilation for 10 days. On the 12th day of life, respiratory distress reappeared and oxygen requirement increased (FiO₂ 40%). He was thought to develop pneumonia and re-intubated. He was extubated on the next day followed by noninvasive ventilation for 2 weeks. On the 24th day of life, we noticed that the urine output (7.78 mL kg^{-1} h^{-1}) and plasma Na level were high, while he was receiving Na supply at a maintenance dose of 3 meq $kg^{-1} d^{-1}$. The urine osmolality was low (I53 mOsm kg⁻¹), serum osmolality (292 mOsm kg⁻¹), and plasma Na level (146 mmol L⁻¹) were high. DI was thought and lyophilized sublingual desmopressin $(2 \times 3 \text{ mcg})$ was begun. After treatment, the serum Na level was between 139 and 142 mmol L^{-1} , and the urine output decreased to 4-5 mL kg⁻¹ d⁻¹. Due to desmopressin response, CDI diagnose was made. Transfontanelle sonography did not demonstrate IVH. The evaluation of pituitary axes revealed normal thyroid, adrenal, and gonadal functions. Serological tests for TORCHS were normal. No abnormalities were observed in serum urea nitrogen, creatinine, potassium, calcium, and bicarbonate levels. Desmopressin was used for 23 days. Before discharge, we stopped desmopressin treatment. After 2 days without desmopressin treatment, the urine density was 1015, and plasma and urine osmolalities were 281 and 123 mOsm kg⁻¹, respectively; the plasma Na and plasma ADH levels were I42 mmol L^{-1} and 3.41 pmol L^{-1} . Therefore, the patient was discharged without treatment. Ten days after discharge, the serum Na level and urine density were 141 mmol L⁻¹ and 1010, respectively. CDI disappeared, but the etiology remained unknown.

DISCUSSION

In very-low-birth weight infants, fluid-electrolyte homeostasis in the first week of life is generally characterized by low urine

Main Point

- Central diapedes insipidus is rare and diagnosis is difficult in preterm infants.
- Persistent hypernatremia, dehydration and polyuria beyond first week of life should alert neonatologists.
- Oral desmopressin should be started as soon as the diagnosis is suspected.
- This treatment should be begun with low dosage and be closely monitored.

output in the first few days and polyuria thereafter. This causes physiological weight loss and an increase in the serum N concentration, which is aggravated by transepidermal water loss. Generally, this diuretic phase gets over by the end of the first week of life, and hypernatremia is rare thereafter.⁵ Persistent hypernatremia despite increased fluid intake with polyuria, hyposthenuria, low urinary osmolality, and high plasma osmolality should alert the clinician for the diagnosis of DI.⁶ In present cases, despite the increase in the total fluid intake, patients' serum Na and urine outputs remained elevated. The detection of low urine osmolality with high serum osmolality and good response to desmopressin confirmed the CDI diagnosis. Until now, underlying causes of CDI reported are intraventricular hemorrhage, meningitis, septo-optic dysplasia, Listeria monocytogenes sepsis, congenital cytomegalovirus infection, midline intracranial defects, and following surgical resection of a suprasellar mass.^{7–9} Idiopathic CDI accounts for 12-24% of the cases,⁸⁻¹⁰ but idiopathic CDI prevalence in premature infants is higher.¹⁰ Diagnostic work-up, including the level of hypothalamic-pituitary axis hormones, infectious causes such as serological tests for TORCHS of present cases, were all normal. Transfontanelle sonography revealed no intraventricular hemorrhage.

ADH analog-desmopressin, which is available in three different forms, namely, oral, parenteral, and intranasal preparations, is used to reduce urine output and to decrease serum Na levels to normal range.^{II} Many studies recommended oral desmopressin lyophilisate because of its efficiency, ease of use, and better tolerance.^{10,12,13} Regardless of the route, treatment requires careful adjustment of dose as neonates rely on liquid diet and desmopressin may cause fluid overload with wide fluctuations in serum Na levels. Thus, beginning with low dosage twice a day and then increasing according to serum Na levels and urine output should be better.^{II,12} Both the cases were treated with sublingual lyophilized desmopressin twice a day. Similarly, Ozaydin et al.¹⁴ and Atasay et al.¹⁵ used sublingual desmopressin lyophilisate at a dosage of 2.5 μ g kg⁻¹ d⁻¹ to manage CDI in very low birth weight premature infants.

Karthikeyan et al.¹⁰ reported the first case series of CDI. The most common cause was septo-optic dysplasia but of note idiopathic isolated CDI was diagnosed in three of every premature infants. None of the preterm infants had significant intracranial hemorrhage. The median serum Na and serum and urine osmolalities at diagnosis were 156 mmol L⁻¹ (range: 145-175), 320 (range: 300-345) and II2 mOsm kg⁻¹ (range: 66-322), respectively, as reported cases.

In conclusion, polyuria despite increased fluid intake, hyposthenuria, low urinary, and high plasma osmolality and persistent hypernatremia are the key points for the diagnosis.

Ethics Committee Approval: N/A

Informed Consent: A written informed consent was obtained from the parents of the neonates.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - A.S.; Supervision - A.K.; Resource - E.K.; Materials - E.K., A.S.; Data Collection and/or Processing - A.S., E.K.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - A.S., E.K., A.K.; Literature Search - A.S., E.K.; Writing - A.S.; Critical Reviews - A.K., E.K. Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- I. Majzoub JA, Srivatsa A. Diabetes insipidus: Clinical and basic aspects. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev.* 2006;4 Suppl I:60-65.
- Ferlin MLS, Sales DS, Celini FPM, Martinell Jr CE. Central diabetes insipidus: Alert for dehydration in very low birth weight infants during the neonatal period. *Sao Paulo Med J.* 2015;133:60-63.
- Thakore P, Dunbar AE, Lindsay EB. Central diabetes insipidus: A rare complication of IVH in a very low birth weight preterm infant. *J Neonatal Perinatal Med.* 2019;12:103-107. [CrossRef]
- Hanta D, Torer B, Temiz F, Kilicdag H, Gokce M, Erdogan O. Idiopathic central diabetes insipidus presenting in a very low birth weight infant successfully manage with lyophilized sublingual desmopressin. *Turk J Pediatr.* 2015;57:90-93.
- Lorenz JM. Fluid and electrolyte therapy in the very lowbirthweight neonate. *NeoReviews*. 2008;9(3):102–108. [CrossRef]
- Molnar Z, Sotiridou E, Dixon H, Ogilvy-Stuart A. Transient diabetes insipidus in a very-low-birthweight preterm infant with intraventricular haemorrhage. *Acta Paediatr.* 2012;101:389-390.
- Greger NG, Kirkland RT, Clayton GW, Kirkland JL. Central diabetes insipidus. 22 years' experience. *Am J Dis Child.* 1986;140:551-554. [CrossRef]

- Djermane A, Elmaleh M, Simon D, Poidvin A, Carel JC, Léger J. Central diabetes insipidus in infancy with or without hypothalamic adipsic hypernatremia syndrome: Early identification and outcome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2016;101(2):635-643. [CrossRef]
- Werny D, Elfers C, Perez FA, Pihoker C, Roth CL. Pediatric central diabetes insipidus: Brain malformations are common and few patients have idiopathic disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(8):3074-3080. [CrossRef]
- Karthikeyan A, Abid N, Sundaram PC, et al. Clinical characteristics and management of cranial diabetes insipidus in infants. J *Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* 2013;26:1041-1046.
- II. Dabrowski E, Kadakia R, Zimmerman D. Diabetes insipidus in infant and children. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2016;30(2):317-328. [CrossRef]
- Korkmaz HA, Demir K, Kılıç FK, et al. Management of central diabetes insipidus with oral desmopressin lyophilisate in infants. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2014;27:923-927.
- De Waele K, Cools M, De Guchtenaere A, et al. Desmopressin lyophilisate for the treatment of central diabetes insipidus: First experience in very young infants. *Int J Endocrinol Metab.* 2014;12:e16120.
- Ozaydin E, Aycan Z, Yusufoğlu AM, et al. Management of central diabetes insipidus with oral desmopressin in a patient with ectrodactyly and cleft lip/palate (ECP) syndrome. *Turk J Pediatr.* 2009;51:89-93.
- Atasay B, Berberoğlu M, Günlemez A, et al. Management of central diabetes insipidus with oral desmopressin in a premature neonate. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2004;17:227-230.

Case Report

A Rare Complication of Central Venous Catheter: Innominant Vein Perforation and Endovascular Treatment

Mehmet Korkmaz^I (b), Furkan Ertürk Urfali^I (b), Ali İhsan Parlar² (b), Sermin Tok Umay^I (b), Sinan Erkul² (b), Gülen Sezer Alptekin Erkul² (b)

¹Department of Radiology, Kütahya Evliya Çelebi Education and Research Hospital, Kütahya, Turkey ²Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Kütahya Evliya Çelebi Education and Research Hospital, Kütahya, Turkey

ORCID iDs of the authors: M.K. 0000-0001-6234-9484; F.E.U. 0000-0002-4875-7761; A.İ.P. 0000-0001-5289-602X; S.T.U. 0000-0002-7161-016X; S.E. 0000-0002-7990-914X; G.S.A.E. 0000-0003-2838-7828

Cite this article as: Korkmaz M, Urfali FE, Parlar Aİ, Umay ST, Erkul S, Erkul GSA. A Rare Complication of Central Venous Catheter: Innominant Vein Perforation and Endovascular Treatment. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 180-182.

The incidence of central venous catheterization is increasing worldwide. It is important to consult an experienced physician after a failed procedure or in the case of complications. The use of ultrasound during the procedure will increase its success. Left internal jugular vein catheterization is at high risk for vascular injury due to its anatomical position. A 65-year-old female patient with chronic renal failure was referred to our interventional radiology unit with suspected innominant vein perforation. We aimed to present our successful endovascular treatment method in the patient.

Keywords: Central venous catheter, venous perforation, coiling

INTRODUCTION

Central venous catheters are used for different reasons such as hemodialysis, fluid infusion, apheresis, and central venous pressure measurements. Secondary to the advances in medical technologies, prolongation of life expectancy leads to the increase of hypertension and diabetic diseases, and the prevalence of chronic renal failure also causes an increase. Hemodialysis (HD) is the most common renal replacement therapy in patients with chronic renal failure. Due to the low risk of thrombosis and infection, 50% of patients are treated with mature AV fistula hemodialysis. Temporary catheters are preferred in patients requiring emergency HD treatment and in patients whose catheter is expected to remain for less than 3-4 weeks. Permanent catheters are used in patients with heart failure, peripheral arterial disease, short life expectancy, and severe uremia, which cannot be expected for the maturation of the fistula. The use of a permanent catheter in chronic HD patients is reported as 32%.¹ Internal jugular vein and subclavian vein are the first options for central venous catheterization, and femoral vein with a higher risk of mechanical complications is preferred if these veins cannot be accessed. The risk of mechanical complications in central venous catheterization varies between 5 and 19%, where infectious complications occur in 5-26% and thromboembolic complications occur in 2-26%.²

CASE PRESENTATION

A 65-year-old female patient who had been followed-up with a diagnosis of chronic renal failure for 15 years underwent left internal jugular vein catheterization for hemodialysis at the outer center. After the procedure because of the absence of blood from the hemodialysis catheter, PA-chest direct radiography was performed. In the radiograph, it is observed that the catheter tip extends to the mediastinum. The patient was evaluated together by our hospital's cardiovascular surgeons and interventional radiologists. It was decided that mediastinal access might be required during the operation and, considering the possible risks, endovascular treatment would be appropriate. The patient's coagulation parameters were within normal limits. The patient was admitted to the angiography unit. A 6F sheath was inserted into the axillary vein, and then a 10 cc 50% dilated contrast medium was taken from the sheath. We shoved that the hemodialysis catheter was perforated in the innominate vein at the junction of the left internal jugular vein and subclavian vein.

The 5F vertebral catheter passed through the lumen of the hemodialysis catheter, and when the tip extended to the mediastinum, the hemodialysis catheter was slowly removed from the vertebral catheter (Figure I). Then, the coiling was

Corresponding Author: Furkan Urfali E-mail: drfurkanurfali@hotmail.com



Figure 1. 5F vertebral catheter (red curved arrow) extending from the innominant vein to the mediastinum is seen with the contrast material given from the 6F sheath in the axillary vein



Figure 2. Coil materials (red arrow) extending to the posterior wall of the innominant vein are observed

quickly performed from the distal of the 5F vertebral catheter to the vessel lumen. Coiling was terminated when the distal end of the 5F vertebral catheter leaned against the inferior wall of the innominate vein. Afterward, I0 cc 50% dilated iodin-

Main Points

- Experience and multidisciplinary approach are important in interventional procedures.
- The risk of complications is lower in procedures performed with imaging.
- Smart decisions can be life-saving in case of complications.



Figure 3. After coiling, the contrast agent given from the 6F sheath in the axillary vein showed no extravasation

ated contrast agent injection was performed from the 6F sheath in the axillary vein. Angiographic evaluation showed that no contrast agent extravasation and the procedure were terminated by withdrawing the 6F sheath and the 5F vertebral catheter (Figures 2 and 3). Then, a hemodialysis catheter was placed with femoral venous access.

DISCUSSION

Early complications of central venous catheterization are catheter malposition, catheter fracture, arterial puncture, air embolism, large vessel perforation, pneumothorax-hemothoraxchylothorax, and cardiac arrhythmia, and late complications include central vein thrombosis, development of infection leading to sepsis, and arteriovenous fistula and pseudoaneurysm at the site of intervention. fibrin sheath formation and catheter break (pinch-off syndrome). The risk of complications varies depending on the experience of the person performing the procedure, the weight of the patient, history of radiotherapy or surgical procedures at the site of intervention, and the number of interventions. The ultrasound-guided procedure significantly reduces the risk of complications.^{3–5} Left subclavian and internal jugular vein catheterization are high risk procedures of venous perforation because the innominate vein forms a vertical angle to the SVC. Vascular perforation due to catheter can be seen between days I and 60 after catheter insertion, whereas 50% occurs on day 2.⁶ Catheter malposition should be suspected in the absence of blood or any other thing such as air, chylous fluid, and nonpulsatile blood.⁷ Previous case reports have reported that vascular injury/perforation due to catheter malposition is corrected by surgical intervention.^{8,9} In the case report of Singh, it was reported that the patient with innominant vein perforation underwent successful stent graft application with femoral vein access.¹⁰ In our case, this method was not suitable for our patient because the stent application would prevent the internal jugular vein flow. Central venous

catheterization should be performed under the control of an experienced physician. Catheter location must be checked by chest X-ray after the procedure. In order to reduce the possibility of complications, it is useful to perform the procedure with ultrasonography.

In conclusion, central venous catheters will continue to be applied with the increasing frequency. Imaging-guided procedures reduce the risk of complications. We believe that this smart method will guide physicians interested in central venous catheterization.

Informed Consent: N/A

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - M.K., F.E.U.; Design - S.T.U., A.İ.P., S.E.; Supervision - M.K., F.E.U., S.T.U.; Resource - M.K, F.E.U., G.S.A.E.; Materials -M.K., F.E.U.; Data Collection and/or Processing - M.K., F.E.U.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - M.K., F.E.U., A.İ.P.; Literature Search - M.K., F.E.U.; Writing - M.K., F.E.U.; Critical Reviews - M.K., F.E.U., S.T.U.

Conflict of Interest: Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

 Noordzij M, Jager KJ, Van der Veer SN, et al. Use of vascular access for hemodialysis in Europe: A report from the ERA-EDTA Registry. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014;29(10):1956–1964. [CrossRef]

- Eisen LA, Narasimhan M, Berger JS, et al. Mechanical complications of central venous catheters. *J Intensive Care Med.* 2006;21(1):40-46. [CrossRef]
- Dariushnia SR, Wallace MJ, Siddiqi NH, et al. Quality improvement guidelines for central venous access. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2010;21(7):976-981. [CrossRef]
- Rabindranath KS, Kumar E, Shail R, et al. Use of real-time ultrasound guidance for the placement of hemodialysis catheters: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2011;58(6):964-970. [CrossRef]
- Wang CY, Liu K, Chia YY, et al. Bedside ultrasonic detection of massive hemothorax due to superior vena cava perforation after hemodialysis catheter insertion. *Acta Anaesthesiol Taiwan*. 2009;47(2):95–98. [CrossRef]
- Duntley P, Siever J, Korwes ML, et al. Vascular erosion by central venous catheters. Clinical features and outcome. *Chest.* 1992;101(6):1633-1638. [CrossRef]
- Stephen M. Rupp MD. Central venous access guideline development and recommendations. *IARS*. 2011 Review Course Lectures. Available at http://www.iars.org/assets/1/7/11_RCL_Rupp.pdf. Accessed 15 December 2020.
- 8. Tong MK, Siu YP, Ng YY, et al. Misplacement of a right internal jugular vein hemodialysis catheter into the mediastinum. *Hong Kong Med J.* 2004;10:135-138.
- Kaupke CJ, Ahdout J, Vaziri ND, et al. Perforation of the superior vena cava by a subclavian hemodialysis catheter: Early detection by an angiography. *Int J Artif Organs*. 1992;15(11):666-668.
 [CrossRef]
- Singh V. latrogenic central vein perforation: A nonsurgical therapeutic approach. *Indian J Nephrol.* 2019;29(1):42-45.

Letter to the Editor

Overweight and Obesity among School Children

Vitorino Modesto dos Santos¹ (), Laura Campos Modesto² ()

¹Department of Medicine, Armed Forces Hospital and Catholic University of Brasília-DF, Brasília-DF, Brazil ²Medical Course at the University Center of Brasília (Uniceub), Brasília-DF, Brazil

ORCID iDs of the authors: V.M.S. 0000-0002-7033-6074; L.C.M. 0000-0002-940I-2277.

Cite this article as: dos Santos, VM, Modesto LC. Overweight and Obesity among School Children. Cyprus J Med Sci 2021; 6(2): 183-184.

Dear Editor,

Despite the significant ethnic differences, the prevalence of overweight and obesity in primary school students is a serious public health problem in Cyprus, Turkey, and Brazil.¹⁻⁴ Excess of body weight has been a global burden associated with metabolic and cardiovascular disorders with a significant reflex in both the quality and expectancy of life in adulthood.¹⁻⁴ Health policies must control and reduce the "overweight and obesity pandemic" across the world. Comparisons among data of some studies developed in school children of Cyprian and Brazilian populations between 2004 and 2019 seem useful to know about the modified parameters.

Lazarou et al.² evaluated II40 children aged between 9 and I3 years with a mean age of I0.7 years, in which I77 boys and 231 girls were obese [p: .004], whereas 187 boys and 259 girls had overweight [p: .177]. The authors found a correlation of obesity with screen viewing time, mainly among girls, and emphasized interventions to avoid sedentary behaviors in this young Cyprian population.² More recently, Arikan et al.¹ studied the body mass index of 10,781 students from 16 primary schools of Konya city center in Turkey. They were aged between 6 and 15 years, in which 52% were boys. Also, they found that 5.8% of overall prevalence of obesity were among boys and 5.3% among girls, while 7.4% of overall prevalence of overweight occurred in individuals of both genders.¹ The authors suggested new studies to define the best strategies for weight control in childhood. Xavier et al.⁴ evaluated 229 Brazilian students aged between 5 and 15 years with a mean age of 8.0 years, in which 51.5% were girls, and found that the prevalence of overweight and obesity was II.8% and I3.5%, respectively. There was no significant difference in the data between the gender and age groups of students. Weight gain showed a nonstatistical association with television viewing time for more than two hours daily; however, there was no relation between physical inactivity or screen viewing time and obesity. The authors commented on the role of parents and healthcare workers in preventive tasks.⁴ Pereira et al.³ investigated weight gain and high blood pressure (HBP) in 888 Brazilian students aged between 6 and 10 years with a mean age of 7.7 years, in which 51.7% were girls, and found that the prevalence of overweight and obesity were 17.7% and 16.2%, respectively. Obesity was associated with HBP, even after adjusting gender, ie, 43.6% in the 6-7 years old group and 62.9% in the 8-9 years-old group. There was no significant difference in the variables between the gender and age groups of students.4

The commented manuscripts highlighted the requirement of preventive programs including weight excess and arterial hypertension among school children.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author contributions: Concept - V.M.S., L.C.M.; Design - V.M.S., L.C.M.; Data Collection and/or Processing - V.M.S., L.C.M.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - V.M.S., L.C.M.; Writing - V.M.S., L.C.M.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Arıkan Ş, Kamuk YU, Revan S. The prevalence of overweight and obesity among students between the ages of 6 and 15 years in Konya. *Cyprus J Med Sci.* 2020;5(3):234-238. [CrossRef]
- Lazarou C, Soteriades ES. Children's physical activity, TV watching and obesity in Cyprus: The CYKIDS study. *Eur J Public Health.* 2010;20(1):70-77. [CrossRef]
- Pereira FEF, Teixeira FDC, Kac G, Soares EA, Ribeiro BG. Overweight and obesity associated with high blood pressure: A crosssectional study in Brazilian students. *Rev Esc Enferm USP*. 2020;54:e03654. [CrossRef]
- Xavier MM, Xavier RM, Magalhães FO, Nunes AA, Santos VM. Factors associated with the prevalence of overweight in school children. *Pediatr Mod.* 2009;45(3):105-108.